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CHAPTER 1
X213 thought she would feel better in the morning, but the jittery feeling and the nausea continued. Unsteady, and somewhat sick to her stomach, she rolled out of bed and proceeded to sterilize herself. She began to feel cleaner already when the feeds began: today’s news, communications from friends, some feeds from work, studies about new uses for technology. This part of the day was easy. Her chip would catch all the pertinent info, process it and store the most valuable data that would apply to her.
After she was done, she went to the medicine cabinet and pulled out her meds. Even as she did so, her hands shook. She wished she could get rid of that, but it didn't seem to be getting any better. There were so many pills to take these days. At the medicine cabinet, a tingle announced that more feeds were coming in. More information. Her chip, which had been receiving information all along, started flashing important notices for work. Summaries from the day before, new product announcements, due dates for new products. She saw these lists as though they were right in front of her eyes, yet her surroundings were still clearly visible. 
This was one of the many improvements newer technology could afford, but she remembered after the surgery, several months back, being told the feeds would take some getting used to.  Not everyone had the new chip, but it was getting more common all the time. Current statistics were that 93% now had the feed technology. This was expected to reach nearly 100% by the end of the month as the old chips were being phased out. Of course the datachip had been implanted for everyone, but this one was more interactive, a clear upgrade, and could receive new information via the airwaves. Something the old datachips couldn't do.
Sitting down to eat her breakfast, she received a notice from Techcorp that they were doing some much needed upgrades to the security system and she should come in fifteen minutes later to work. Fifteen more minutes, maybe now she would have time to catch up on some of the requests she had been behind in processing. She finished her breakfast and began to focus on work in earnest. 
Her job was to process requests to use the facilities of the company to create new technology that someone else had invented, then to schedule facility usage and help them with broadcasting that data of newly available technology to others. There were many requests, but only about .018 percent of those she received were ever approved. Techcorp was extremely expensive and elite, created by the government originally for research and practical applicability of new technologies. It had only recently started opening its doors to the general public.
Another notice: She was now to report to work immediately. By the time stamp, she would be at least eight minutes late. She should have expected this. The first message was for all employees, but she was at a higher level of responsibility than most. She had to move out now.
Putting on a sweater, she stepped into her pod, set the destination for work, and continued to process new requests as the automated pod raced down the road. Two minutes thirty-two seconds later she arrived. Techcorp stood looming as the largest structure in the city. It should be, much of society was built on its technology. 
She took three lifts and one tube before arriving at floor 398, section D. She walked up to her desk. So much for the passive work, now it was time for full immersion. Still receiving feeds through the airwaves, she plugged the chip imbedded in the side of her head, behind one ear, into a thin cable. Once the connection was made, images and data began to flow at a tremendous rate. Each submitted document by individuals was processed and a summary of only the most important aspects was shown to her. Her job was to make the decisions for whether each request was to be denied, or sent to her superior. She had to make four such decisions per second in order to make her quota. Before the chip, it would take seconds to make a decision. The progress of technology certainly was amazing. Now her mind’s raw input and output was accessed directly.
While doing this, she was also sending out notices to those individuals or companies that had applied, letting them know the status of their request. This was an outgoing feed which could be sent with little input from her. Just tweak a form letter here or there as needed. At times quick notices from her superiors would prompt her for her attention and she would pay extra attention to these.
A tone rang over the feed signaling that it was time for a break. Now she could rest. When she got up to get a cup of coffee, she switched on the newsfeeds again.
She stood with a cup of coffee in her hand next to several other employees, but no one talked to each other. She was busy sending messages to friends through the feed link, while she caught up on news developments. This all occurred faster than anyone could ever talk, at the speed of thought.
“Y578, are you there?” she sent.
“Hi, X213,” Y sent back. 
“On coffee break yet?” said X.
“Sure, I'm walking to the restroom. Hey, I had the best gathering last night. Some guys from Australia crashed the party, I think they hacked in. It was loud but a blast. I am so glad I got the upgrade. My virtual gatherings are so much more real now. I could even smell the cologne one guy wore.”
“Great, Y,” X213 sent back. Just then she heard the familiar tone indicating the end of break. “Gotta go, talk to you later?”
“Sure.”
 





CHAPTER 2
He didn't know where he was. The last he remembered, he was doing his job, but now here he was, but where was that? He looked around at his surroundings. It looked and smelled like it must be a refuse dump. All kinds of loud banging, and the sound of heavy machines all around him. No one seemed to notice he was lying there. He looked down at his hands and saw blood. Where was that coming from? He touched the side of his head, but there was no chip. No chip! How then could he keep the flow of information? A panic started to rise up in him. Then as if a switch had been flipped, he began to shake. This was what happened last time. He could feel more blood, but from somewhere else. It was coming from his eyes now. He couldn’t see. The shaking got worse and then he again blacked out. His body relaxed.
A couple of minutes later, two men took his body and carried it a little ways away so that he was not in the way of their dump truck. They left him there, another Burned Out. This used to be extremely rare, but they had noticed it occurring with more regularity lately. They thought this to themselves, but not out loud. Never out loud. Meanwhile, they received more notices of work to be done.





CHAPTER 3
At night a small family, a husband, wife, two sons, and one daughter were hiding in their own house. The father knew it was just a matter of time before they were caught, but they were still living in hope. The father, a small man with dark brown hair and a pair of glasses, sat in a snug corner of the house in a wooden chair with the rest of the family gathered around him. The glasses could have gotten him into trouble if anyone saw him using them. Glasses were low tech and there were far better solutions, not only to nearsightedness, but now even to sight as a means of navigation at all. He handed his oldest son a book.
The son took the book with solemnity, opened it to the bookmark, and began to read. “If I could speak all the languages of earth and of angels, but didn’t love others, I would only be a noisy gong or a clanging cymbal. If I had the gift of prophecy, and if I understood all of God’s secret plans and possessed all knowledge, and if I had such faith that I could move mountains, but didn’t love others, I would be nothing. If I gave everything I have to the poor and even sacrificed my body. . .” Bang!
They turned immediately toward the door, but the small personalized tank came through the wall. The man rode atop with guns trained on them. “You must be detained temporarily, please come with me,” the man said. 
The father turned to grab a hidden stunner he kept behind the chair. He knew this was foolish, but he was desperate. Before he had even raised the stunner, the tank fired its own stunning blast. The whole family fell limp.
The man in the small tank started sending, “Let the record show that the man was reaching for a stunner when we shot back in self-defense. They will be brought back for realignment.” Two robotic arms reached out of the tank to pick up the limp bodies and carry them back. Before the last body was loaded up, there was another explosion and a loud screeching sound. The man in the tank turned around. 
As he began turning the turret to aim his stunner, he heard a voice yell out, “Not today, you won't.” There was a blinding flash. He tried to get the tank to move, but that last shot must have been a disabling device. It wouldn’t budge. There was another blast and the man in the tank fell limp.
Six or seven people, dressed in dark loose clothing, disengaged the bodies from the arms of the tank and personally carried them away into the night. 
 





CHAPTER 4
As she was delivered to her door by the pod, X213 felt physically tired, but her mind was still racing. She called her friends and they chatted while she was getting dinner ready. At the same time she read the personalized messages that had accumulated while she had been working. She was used to doing all of these things simultaneously. When she got run down due to the mental stress, she took one of the pills she had been prescribed and she started to feel a lift. That was what that particular medicine was for. “This is just the brain adjusting to the extra sensory input. It will get easier over time,” her doctor had said. Her doctor was not flesh and blood, but a computer interface accessed through the feed. This way she did not need to go anywhere to get a diagnosis. Time wasted was a waste to society.
“What if I do not get used to it?” she asked him.
“There have been no significant studies showing the interface to cause permanent damage to normal brain functions,” the doctor had stated. She heard the same exact phrase the day she had the interface installed.
She called Y5728 back. “What are you up to?”
“Not much,” Y replied. “I am having a virtual get together with a few friends in an hour though. Hey, want to watch a quick vid before they get here?”
“No thanks,” X213 said, “I think I'll stay in tonight.” 
“Oh, come on. It'll be fun. I have one I've been wanting to watch since yesterday, but it expires tomorrow.”
“Well, alright,” said X to Y5728. Soon she joined her friend virtually in her living room and they put in the vid. They both watched this while receiving other feeds and messages from friends. The vid, using direct input, took a little over 10 minutes, however it seems like at least three hours, much the way a dream that is only a few seconds long may seem like hours. 
Just as the credits were rolling, they both received a message from T42-18. “Hey guys, how are you doing? I isolated your signals and discovered you were both hanging together. What's up?” An image of him appeared, but instead of his actual image, he chose a hairy gorilla. They both laughed.
“Want something to eat?” said Y.
“Please,” T said. “These bananas are getting old.” He held up a banana, half squashed. “I know I can't actually get any nutrition out of this food, being sent over the feed, but I can taste it, smell it, and sometimes that actually fools my mind into thinking I'm not hungry for hours.”
“That can't be good,” said X.
“Yeah,” Y chimed in, “You need to take better care of yourself. What do you have to eat in the house?”
“Eat? Is that what people do when they go home at night?”
“I recommend it,” said X, “it makes you feel so much better. I mean sim food is great for what it is, but it's not really the same thing.”
“Is that why every couple of days I just fall down and quit functioning unless I eat a case of spam? I thought I just needed more coffee.” At this, his virtual self changed into a Chihuahua, shaking like a leaf with a cup of coffee in each paw.
Y turned to X and said, “I'd better go, my party is scheduled to arrive in 57 seconds. I still need to make sure they all have seats, even if they will all be virtual.”
“I’d better go too,” said T42-18, “I have other people to pester. See ya!”
From the moment X213 walked into her apartment to now, about 12 minutes had gone by, and 10 of that was just the sim. The rest of the night was very similar, different people, different events. Messages, feeds, news, entertainment. She barely had time to eat with it all. Into the night she bounced from one feed to another until she couldn’t focus anymore. 
As she headed for bed, she put on the subliminal programming feed which assured her that her life would be more fulfilled if she would live in the new, better world of technological advances and savor all of the progress being made. After all, technology is the highest achievement of man.





CHAPTER 5
 Morning light began to fill up the valley. There were no trees and no grass. The landscape was filled with recycling and refuse dumps in profusion, mostly piled high with electronics that had either gone bad or been outdated. Everything was a mixture of dull gray and shiny gray with some reflective surfaces. The skyline had a brilliant red hue coming from the waste gasses escaping old products. Red reflected in buildings and machines busy at work, and there were many busy machines. For one tenant this society held fast to was that if a task can be done by a machine, it ought to be. So robotic units outnumbered humans.
On the outskirts of one of the garbage heaps, some dark shapes began to move. One coughed, “Where are we?”
“At Refuse station 216,” said a voice that had just awoken as well. It was a man with dark skin, wearing what looked like a scarf wrapped around his head and face. He also wore loose fitting clothes, dark gray or brown. It was hard to tell in the early morning. 
“What happened back there?” asked the first man. “I feel like I was beat up pretty badly.”
“You were stunned. They planned to have you refitted. That means they would have put a chip in your head that would limit your possible responses. You would have essentially lost free will.”
“I didn't know they could do that yet.”
“It's experimental at this point, but that wouldn't stop them from making you part of their new program. You're sore because of the stunning and also because we had to carry you for quite some time while trying to avoid them. I don't think we were always gentle with you or your family. We were trying to save you back there.” The man looked a little embarrassed for a second, “You did want saving, didn't you? I mean, they wouldn't have killed you, but—”
“Yes, absolutely,” he said. “We have been living in fear of discovery for a long time. We have not always held to the tenets laid down by the leaders of the city.” He coughed again, “What are you called?”
“Samuel,” he said. 
“You use a name, like in the old days, rather than an ID signature?”
“As do you,” said Samuel.
“How did you know that?”
Samuel stood up and scanned the valley. “You may have been hiding from the authorities, who keep a general eye on things, but we have been seeking specifically for people like you for some time. We're pretty good at reading the signs, and we've been watching you ever since we were suspicious.”
“My name then, is Odysseus,” he said, still laying down on one side. “It's from an old story.”
“Yes,” Samuel said. “The master mariner and hero of the Trojan war. A good choice.”
“And your name,” said Odysseus, “comes from the Bible, doesn't it?”
“That's right,” Samuel said. “That would make us both readers, rather than only consumers of information. And that makes us prime targets for realignment. Or as I said, perfect candidates for their new refitting program.” Samuel squatted down beside Odysseus and his gaze fell near his right ear. “So what did you do to your chip? It looks like you still have it.”
“Ah, yes. If I had taken it out completely I’m sure I would have been captured. The whole city is slated for the new equipment by the end of the year. With the new system, they would be able to monitor us directly through the new feed technology. We wouldn't be able to hide anything. So I just filed down the connectors so they would not even get an 'urgent update' signal from my chip.”
“Good idea,” said Samuel. “Why did you do it though?” 
Odysseus scratched his chin, “It wasn't that it was a bad thing having access to the database. I mean, it made some things more convenient, but it was what it did to my mind that bothered me.”
“Yes,” said Samuel. “As you can see, I've removed mine entirely. Did you get effects of having the chip, like memory dulling?”
“That's right. I remember once trying to recall my times tables so that I could figure the area of my floor and realizing that unless I got it from the chip, I couldn't do it. I had relied on the chip to the point that my own memory grew almost useless.”
Another voice from one of the sleepers said, “Are you kidding? I couldn't even add single digit numbers the other day.” Other people were beginning to shift their places and raise their heads.
“Samuel,” said Odysseus, “this is my son, Hamlet.”
“The Dane, excellent choice in names,” said Samuel. “I do hope you don't meet his tragic end. And beware of poisoned blades.”
“Odysseus, what you figured out,” said Samuel, “is that when we rely on technology too much, it causes our minds to grow dull. Me and my men wanted a different life, apart from all that.”
“Does that exist?”
“Come see,” said Samuel.
 
There was a groan, and a woman, probably in her early forties, with long dark brown hair sat up. Seeing Odysseus, she stood up, carefully walking over to him. “I feel like I hit my head on something,” she said. She bent down and put her arm behind Odysseus, “How do you feel, dear?”
“Fine,” Odysseus said, “Samuel, I want you to meet my wife, Jane.”
“Nice to meet you,” said Samuel. He extended his rough hand.
Odysseus, stood up with her and they held each other, Jane just a little shorter than Odysseus. For a moment, Samuel and the other men seemed a bit embarrassed.
“I'm sorry,” said Odysseus. “I know that such a show of affection is not common anymore.”
“Well, maybe not here, but where you're going I think you'll fit right in,” said Samuel.
They soon woke up their son Sam, who evidently was a sound sleeper. “Sam definitely likes his sleep,” said Jane as she called him out from his dream. 
Once their other two children, Sam and Lucy, were awake, they began rummaging through the machine parts. They were the youngest. “This stuff is cool!” whispered Lucy.
“I think we'd better get moving,” Samuel said. “We will be easier to see by day, even for machines.”
That was when they heard the sound of something shifting in the garbage heap. 
 





CHAPTER 6
The feed woke her up. It was like a stimulant the way a rush of news brought the mind to life. She had slept for three and a half hours--not bad, she thought to herself. She wondered how people ever slept for such long periods in the past. Technology had made it easier to require less and less sleep, even during her lifetime the time had shortened. 
She cleaned herself, and got ready for work. Today there were some promising prospects to consider. She might be able to approve one almost immediately. She was actually looking forward to getting back to work.
Looking in the mirror she noticed the pallor of her skin looked washed out with a tinge of gray. She was glad that the old ideas of beauty had changed in recent years. People were no longer going with the old values. Now, in the modern era, utility and innovation far out-trumped the ideals of beauty and relationship. After all, work gives you purpose, and without purpose you are a waste of resources.
X213, even with her excitement about work, felt a sinking feeling that seemed to be dragging her down. It was the same one she felt every morning. Nothing my morning pills won't solve, she thought to herself. She took her allotment of pills with some coffee. She had one for the sinking feeling, one to make sure her body didn't reject the chip. Another one was a way of tricking the body into needing less sleep. Another one increased work performance. Every occupation had at least one prescribed drug that would increase performance for you for that job. It was just amazing what a simple pill could do. Without her pills, she would be a mess and probably wouldn't even be able to keep her job. Well, got to take 'em, she thought as she swallowed the last one.
When she was dropped off at work, she walked through the wide white doors with the inscription above: “Technology is the highest achievement of man.” The national motto. No wonder they were ahead of every other country in innovation. 
She had always had a kind of a childlike faith in what an authority figure told her. When a doctor said she needed another pill, she had no response other than acceptance and obedience. When society seemed to espouse that less sleep and more work, even when at home, made her more valuable, she believed it as any good citizen would.
Sitting down at her desk, she began receiving multiple streams and approved and rejected proposals as quickly as her mind would run. They said that when she did this she was really in an altered state. It was as though she was dreaming so that time went by much slower than it felt to her. A work day might feel like weeks and weeks, but only be fourteen hours long. 
One of the proposals caught her attention. As the packet came, she realized it was a protected and encrypted file. One that she was not given access to open. It had the seal of not just her boss, but the vice president of operations. It was to bypass her completely, pre-approved. She had never seen one of these before. But if the VP approved it, it must be good. It would be interesting to see what kind of project this could be. It certainly must be exciting and innovative. 
The next one she opened was for a kind of device that improved hearing tenfold. This would be both due to digital audio refinement software as well as physical modifications made to the inner ear with the use of special plastics and chip integration. The proposal was well put together, but not as practical as brain interfaces, and not as quick to implement. Having a set of super ears, however, would be useful for certain professions. She designated this for the occupational enhancement division and sent it their way. 
After that she had another come in which was a brain chip that modified the triage system in the brain, making it easier to prioritize according to company protocol. That could be useful, even for her. She sent that to her supervisor. 
Next there were a couple of dozen which were advances either already implemented through different means or where similar concepts were already in development. One modification suggestion had already been made on the newer beta chip currently being tested.
In her mind, she saw documents, read them, looked at graphs and data and mentally sent them to other individuals. Hundreds might be processed in a few minutes. When she read them, it was really a more direct input than actual reading, but since she was in an altered state, kind of like a dream, she imagined she was actually reading. 
To the outside observer, she was sitting in a chair staring at the inside of her cubicle. She had to take special eye drops before starting work in order to keep her eyes from drying out. She sat there almost in a trance, her eyes rapidly moving back and forth. The only thing that could call her out of this state was either a high priority feed arriving through the airwaves to her chip, and thus, into her awareness, or if someone physically shook her. Otherwise, she saw nothing, she heard nothing.
She would do this for another thirteen and a-half hours, then go home.
 





CHAPTER 7
The man awakes. His first thought is that he knows he is one of the unmentionables. The Burned Out. His second thought is a question: Why can't I see? He feels instinctively for his chip and it is gone. He can't believe this could have happened to him. Then comes a third realization. He is covered in something. It smells like burned out silicon, feels like plastic and has some sharp parts to it. He tries to uncover himself.
He hears someone coming toward him; sounds like several someones. They are trying to uncover him. One man says, “Are you okay?”
The man who is laying down can't really feel anything. “I'm not sure,” he says in a raspy voice, “I think so. Where am I?”
The rescuer says, “It's the city dump. Can you stand?”
“Let me try,” says the man. The rescuer helps him up, but his legs won't cooperate. He can't make them move, and after his rescuer lets him go, he falls back down. “I guess I can't,” he says. “They left me. Left me to rot. I'm Burned Out.”
“I understand,” says the rescuer. “We have come for people like you. Here, we can carry you.” Two guys take him by the arms, two by the legs and another holds up his midsection and they lift him into the air. It feels like he is flying, but he is also afraid of falling because he cannot see where he is going. He can still feel the blood around his eyes.
After they place him on a pad of cement, a rescuer says, “What is your ID?”
“I am X4287,” he says. “I used to have one of the newest chips. I could receive a dozen streams simultaneously, and my database was double the average user. I had one of the fastest seek times for information ever recorded. I worked for the government and I was a model of productivity and utility.” He felt his eyes. “Then I started having problems. It started with the shaking.”
“Yes, that's pretty common,” says another man’s voice. “I used to get those.”
“But then,” he continues, “my sleep dropped in half. Rather than the usual three, or four if you are an older model, I would be getting one and one-half. Sometimes I could not tell the difference between a feed and a dream. It was getting harder to tell the difference between being awake and asleep.”
“That's when I knew there was a problem. Things got worse. One day I was sitting down, receiving feeds while working on a project at work and checking my messages. The project I was working on required some powerful parallel computing. Anyway, I can't say more than that. When I needed to get up to use the restroom, I couldn't. My legs wouldn't work. I don't mean they were asleep, I mean I could no longer operate my legs. I panicked and yelled for help. A robotic assistant picked me up and took me to the doctor on site. After the AI examined me, he never gave me my results. He just summoned the carrier to pick me up and dump me off.”
“It sounds like it must have been serious,” says a woman's voice.
“Nervous system paralysis or shut down,” says the man who first spoke to him. He figures it must have been their leader. His voice is clear and commanding.
“What does that mean?” says a younger sounding man.
“It means, maybe the effect is temporary, maybe it is permanent.”
“So what do I do?” 
“X4287? You’re why we’re here. My name is Samuel, and we’ve come to help.”
 





CHAPTER 8
Ghuhu was enjoying the sunshine, playing in the dirt. Dirt was great stuff. You could add water and it was mud. Then the mud could be shaped into just about anything. If you took mud and put it in a bucket and added more water, it looked like chocolate. Mama wouldn't let him do that anymore because she said water was precious and could not be wasted.
His brother, Moses, and he were making mud balls. That was okay because they found the mud already made. If they made enough of them they could have a war. They could invite other kids and they could pretend they were the Technophiles and the Waldenese, fighting an epic battle. Of course, the Waldenese would have to win because they were the good guys and because they had brains that were all their own. Technophiles hated the way they were made, so they changed whatever they could. Then if someone had a problem, they would throw them away like trash. 
“How do you know the Techno's kill people just because their 'speriment didn't work?” said Moses. Moses was three so he didn't know how to say everything right yet.
“Because sometimes they are brought here to get better,” said Ghuhu.
“Have you seen them?” 
“No, but Mama told me.” That settled any argument. 
“Do you think Ahab really fought them?” asked Moses.
“He says he did,” said Ghuhu. “But you know what? I heard he used to be one of them and that's why he's so mad at them.”
There was a sound of coughing and when the boys turned around, they saw a group of men carrying a stranger who looked hurt. There was blood on his face and something was wrong with his eyes. There were some others who followed too, and they looked big and tough, like they’d seen a lot of hard days. 
“Mama!” the boys yelled as they ran into the mud dwelling. 
In the next house over from the boys, a woman with sun-darkened skin and an expression that showed that she had seen a lot in this life stepped out of the dwelling and looked at the strangers. Immediately she ran back into the house and brought out a bowl of hot water and a towel. Then running back in, she grabbed a pillow and a blanket. She laid them all out near the entrance to the dwelling and said, “Lay him here. Is this more of their handiwork?”
“Looks like it,” said Samuel. She took the towel and wet the corner and began to wipe the blood off of his face. “What is your ID, or do you have a name?” she asked.
“X4287,” he said. “I've already told my story once and would just like to rest if that's okay. I know they carried me, but it was not restful. “
“Sure,” she said. “We have a place already prepared for you. Who are these others?”
Samuel introduced Odysseus, Jane, Hamlet, Lucy and Sam. “They were attacked in the city,” he said. “They had already begun to turn and we were already watching them. It was fortunate we were close by when we saw the commotion.”
“My name is Pocahontas,” said the woman. “But I'm usually called Poke. My husband will not be able to come just yet, but I will tell him that our family just got bigger for a while.”
-----
That night they all ate vegetable soup with bread. X4287 ate and quickly asked to be excused. He said he needed more rest. Having been given a blanket and a place in another room, he was taken to a room to sleep. A couple of Samuel's men went with him, also ready to sleep for the night.
After they had gone, Samuel said, “Thank you so much for the soup, I have been living off of the fare of the Technos. They don't seem to find pleasure in food so much. To them, food is a function of necessity rather than something to enjoy. Do you remember?” he asked Jane, who was sitting near him.
“Oh, yes,” said Jane. “It hampers productivity. If we didn't have to eat, we could get more done and progress would be quicker. This is why there are experiments always being done to try to make food quicker to eat, yet give more nutrients. There is also talk that someday, maybe they won't need to eat at all. Their bodies will be free of the need for food and rest.”
“That's right,” said Odysseus, standing up from his place near the door, “rest has already been cut way down by many people. There is a prescribed drug that most people use, cutting down the requirement of sleep to three hours. We don't take it because we don't think it healthy, but then again, we are rebels in many ways. Just before you rescued us, we were thinking about what to do with our children's programming.”
“Programming?” said Poke. “I guess it’s been too long. What does that mean?”
Jane explained, “They used to call it school. All children have to go through a certain number of hours of programming per week. But lately it’s been getting more invasive. When they are young, they are taught basic morals such as . . .” Here she looked to her son, Hamlet.
“Technology is the highest achievement of man,” he finished. Then he added, “Working gives you purpose. Without purpose, you are a waste of resources.”
“Those are some of the things they teach when you’re young,” said his mother. “It’s different than how we grew up. And now as they get older, they are beginning to take their chips and program them directly so that students need less convincing, having their mind coerced through the chips influence. The feeds make it even worse.”
One of the men with Samuel, Gary, said, “I thought the chips could not make you do anything you don’t want to. You still have free will, right?”
“Well that's the way it is now,” she said, “but they are trying to take away free will altogether. Even now the chip does not control you directly, but it can influence you immensely. The chip now includes subliminal messages barraging you all the time, even when you sleep. Because the chip never does sleep, it can transmit data to your brain all the time. After you are told something is true a few times you may doubt it. After a hundred times, you may think it might not be true. A thousand times, you start to wonder. And after a million times, it must be true.”
“That's why we started looking at alternatives,” said Odysseus. “It took over a year for me to learn how to read. Then I taught Jane and Hamlet. Soon we began reading books at night. They are illegal because the government can’t control or change what’s been written in them. Some are kept for archive or display purposes in museums, and they are not easy to get. We started learning as a family through reading about other views of life.”
Jane said, “That's when it started to get dangerous. We knew this “re-programming” of ourselves and our children might be risky, but we felt compelled. Once we started finding out about the world through other eyes, we started to have a hunger for more. We read stories, and histories, and the Bible. We read about sciences not related to technology such as zoology and sociology.”
“But when it really got dangerous,” whispered Lucy, “was when we disabled our chips. Then, even though no one could tell just by looking at us, we started to act differently. And we couldn't go to programming anymore.”
“We knew we would eventually get caught at that point,” said Jane, “but we didn't know what we could do.”
Jane asked Poke, “Tell me, are there a lot of you?”
“Oh, yes,” she said, “hundreds.”
 
Sydney sat by the fire across from his wife and turned toward the new family. “We call ourselves the Waldenese. It's from an old book called Walden about a man who goes into the wilderness to find himself. Originally, that's what most of us were. People from the Technophiles who wanted out. So, you see, we can identify with many of you. That was some time ago when this colony started, and some are from the next generation that never knew the ways of your world. We are thankful for that.”
“Technophiles?” said Hamlet. “Why did you call us that?”
“Because, “said Sydney, “Techno has to do with technology--what that society praises above all things. And philiacs means to have a love for something that is insatiable.”
“You know, we call ourselves the Solpaths,” said Hamlet. “It means we are on one path, the path of improvement through technology.”
“And do you believe it?” asked Odysseus. 
“I used to, when I was younger. Now I'm not so sure.”
 
Samuel smiled. “Asking the questions is half of the battle.” Then turning to Poke and Sydney he said, “Thank you for letting us stay the night yet again. We will be going back tomorrow when it first gets light.” His face took on a somber expression. “There are others, you know.”
The rest of his men, not wanting to impose, left the room to sleep. Poke put a hand on his shoulder, “Do you still think she might change her mind?”
“No, not anymore,” said Samuel. “U1472 is strong. And. . .” His voice sounded weak, “she is with someone else now.”
“I'm sorry,” said Sydney, “I'm sure your wife—”
“Ex-wife,” said Samuel.
“Your ex-wife will someday regret her decision to stay.” Sydney sounded almost as sad as Samuel. “You gave her every opportunity to come with you, but she just wouldn't, even knowing what that society carries with it.”
“Death and separation,” said Samuel with certainty. “Death and separation. Separation from themselves and others. Even when we were married and together, we were apart. The technology was always in the way. Receiving feeds gets in the way of other communication, no matter what they say.”
“I know,” said Poke; her voice low, “I know.”
“I need to go,” said Samuel.
“One thing,” said Odysseus. He had been quiet all through their conversation. He stood up with Samuel. “Your name. Do you know what it means?”
“Heard of God,” said Samuel.
“That's right,” said Odysseus. “God heard our affliction, and he sent you. Thanks for listening.”
Samuel smiled just a little at that. “Thanks.”
 





CHAPTER 9
Two men were standing over him. He was strapped into a chair. “Just a precaution,” they said. “This will not hurt, but we can never be sure of a body's response.” His chip was taken out from behind his ear. A new chip, silver and green, was inserted instead. As they slid it into place, he felt a jolt of information, a new awareness of his abilities. He had more in his mind to access, more information. He also had new speed. 
He found that he could think of several things at once. They said they were working on multi-threading for the human brain and he was the first experimental recipient. The human brain, by default could really only concentrate on one cognitive task at a time. People thought they could multi-task, but this was only an illusion. They could start one task, and then quickly start another. Then their brains could move back and forth between the two so quickly that people thought they were really doing two things at once but that was just not the case.
For instance, a man could be actively listening to his wife and reading (an old fashioned feed) at the same time. But each time he read a piece of text, he would not process what his wife was saying at that time. Since his brain records it subconsciously, however, once he returned back to listening, he could play back what his short term memory recorded in order to process it. But of course, at that time, he is not reading. Because he can really only do one cognitive thing at a time.
He felt privileged that he had been the first asked to get this modification due to his reputation and his past performance. He was already quite successful in his career. This would give him even more of a boost. His brain would literally be able to do more than one thing at a time, doubling or even tripling his efficiency and speed.
That night at home he had his first seizure. He was sitting at his couch receiving and processing three streams and having a conversation with a friend at the same time. He was loving it. He felt so much more productive. He could feel his increase in worth. At that moment he noticed his arm had been shaking. How long had that been going on? he wondered. As he sat there the rest of him started to shake. He finished his conversation, but continued the three feeds. The shaking became uncontrollable. He lost bladder control. A few minutes later, he blacked out. 
He awoke in the morning and everything seemed to be okay. Everything was again operational. But that was only the first time. This happened several times with other side effects. Loss of sight for a day, he had to call in sick that time. Passing out due to a forgetfulness to breathe, that had happened at home and another time at work. 
With these signs, he started to worry. He had heard that sometimes people have breakdowns. He wondered, Is that what's going on? But I have so much potential now.
When he was unable to move-now that was scary. That's when they took him to the physician and that's when they terminated him.
Lying there, X4287 thought about all this. The memories played through his mind like a vid feed. He thought of his rescue from the dump. He was so fortunate. He didn't know they just dumped burned out people. They didn't even let him keep the chip. He felt again behind his ear for what he knew was missing.
Someone entered the room. He opened his eyes, but of course he still couldn't see. “Hello,” said Poke. “How are you feeling today?” 
“It was good to get some rest,” he said, “but I still feel pretty bad. How long have I been sleeping?”
“All night and half of today,” she said. It was then that he felt the sun on his legs. There must have been an open window.
“Does anything hurt?” she asked.
“Everything,” he said.
“But that's not the worst thing, is it?” she said in a factual tone.
“No, it's the lack of feeds.”
“Hmm,” she said. “I thought you were one of those—who received feeds that is. It is always harder for them. Over time it will get better.”
“I feel so lonely. Empty. Useless.”
“That will take a little longer to heal,” she said. “The first issue is more physical. You were used to the feeds. They were a sort of stimulant. Now you miss that.”
It sounded like she was cleaning up in the room. “The second issue takes more time, because it is emotional and requires a different kind of healing. One you cannot do alone.”
“Will it hurt?” he asked. 
“Some, yes,” she said. “And it will be slow.”
“What will I need to do?” he asked.
“You will need to trust others and accept warmth and acceptance from them. You will need to find new purpose in who you were made to be, and not what you can do. You will have to believe what others say when they say they care about you.” When she said this last bit it sounded like there was a sob behind the words.
“You okay?” he asked. 
“Yes,” she said. “I guess I'm not really done with the process either.”
“You mean you were one of us?” 
“Yes,” she said. “The wounds take time. And they take love. My family loves me, and so do others.” Tears. It sounded like she was crying. “I must go now. I have more work to do,” she said as she neared the door. Then she stopped. He could hear her slowly say to herself aloud, “But the work is not who I am.” She shuffled out of the room.
X4287 thought about this conversation for a long time and then slowly eased back into comfortable sleep.
 





CHAPTER 10
She was surprised to see a group of three men and one woman walk into her office. They were dressed in suits rather than lab coats. That was unusual. And they were headed for the door that would lead them to an elevator going directly to the operations manager. That was unusual as well. They must have been scanned and searched by the bots before getting this far. They also must have had an appointment or else they would not have been allowed. 
One was carrying a briefcase and all walked in quietly, without speech. They were probably receiving feeds, but had a look of purpose and did not seem distracted by them. 
The one in front with the briefcase had a white face and stared straight ahead. His hold on the briefcase was tight, as if he did not wish it to get away. 
X213 was not sure what it was all about, but then she thought about the packet she could not open earlier that morning. Maybe this was part of the same thing.
As the feeds began to pile up, getting logged and recorded, she knew she had better hurry up or she would get behind. And that would affect her performance rating, which would in turn affect her salary. She dove back into her work--only six hours to go.
 





CHAPTER 11
Six men and two women met in a white office around a large conference table. There were built-in screens in the table so that computer access was available to them all. That allowed them access to databases and other documents that were too sensitive for the feeds.
“Units of distinction,” the man at the head of the table said. “We have before us a proposition that is of such a nature, that I felt I must call you in to discuss it.” Around the room each face looked focused, without feeling.
Continuing, he said, “We have been developing a new chip in collaboration with some of the best contributors from abroad.” One of the men stood up and walked over to a device on the other end of the table. It was a small gray box, fastened to the table itself. “You will all receive a secure feed that cannot be received outside this room. The walls are a secure barrier, and the range is very short. Please turn off all other feeds at this moment.” They did so.
What they received in return was the presentation of a new product. One that was unlike anything they had ever seen before. There were projections as to its abilities, its value to society and its overall cost. The presentation was thorough and lengthy, not wanting to overlook any important fact; but it had in fact only taken a few seconds to view. Wasting time was wasting money and utility, after all. Feeds were faster than words.
After the presentation feed was finished, the Operations Manager said, “I brought you here because of your input on its effects on society and business. The scientific evaluations have already been done, but your expertise lies in societal and sociological influence projections. So now I open up the discussion.”
One of the men, almost robotically said, “I see it as a boon to capital. Production in all areas of industry could only increase.”
“Yes, H2816,” said the Operations Manager.
A woman then said with a little more inflection in her voice, “People will be scared at first and must be taught the benefits before they will adopt unilaterally. That is, if the product works according to projections.”
“A very good observation. It will be noted and acted upon,” said the Operations Manager.
“Do you have a test subject willing at this time?” said another, older woman.
The Operations Manager nodded. “We are narrowing down the choices right now. We believe many will desire to volunteer. The advantages in productivity could be great.”
“Have there been simulated tests already?” said a man with a dark complexion.
“There have,” said the Operations Manager, “and they all tested with a positive outcome. But we cannot tell, even with these test results, how it would interact with live flesh. Flesh is so. . .” he made a face of disgust, “undependable.”
“Yes,” they all agreed.
“But then again,” said the Operations Manager, “that is why we are here, and that is why the company exists.”
“Yes,” they agreed again.
“Technology is the highest achievement of man,” he began, and they all said together with utmost conviction, “and it will lead us to the brightest possible future.”
 





CHAPTER 12
Samuel got up early the next morning. There were too many thoughts and feelings pressing in on him and sleep had already been difficult that night. Today, he had a new assignment that might prove to be the most dangerous he had ever taken. Though, truth be told, he was his own boss.
Staring at the sunrise, he thought about why he did all of this. Why risk his life, again? He could have a good life here. The Waldenese led a much better life than anything he had known with the Technos. No place was perfect, but at least here there was peace. He could rest from old wounds. This was a place where he could begin again to rebuild the dreams of his youth. Because the dreams he had made while he was young with the Technos were lies and smoke. Here, he could build a future. Maybe he could even settle down, get married again.
But there was always this thing compelling him to move forward. Ever since he left the Technos, he felt that it was his duty to serve as a gate for others. There were other people trapped in the Techno lifestyle, not knowing a better life was available to them. They needed someone they could turn to show them the way out. 
He could see the “progress” the Technophiles were making in their advances. He had rejected the upgraded chip that received feeds, but he knew they were making advances all the time. He felt humans were never made for the kinds of demands that the new technology would put on them. At some point, people would rebel against the technology or else their bodies would reject it. He had seen enough examples to know that this rejection occurred in many forms, but it was always devastating and, as in the case of X4287, these people would be discarded, ignored, or in even worse cases, used for more extreme experiments when they thought there was nothing to lose.
Yes, he had to go back, these Technos may be smart, but wisdom was far from them. They did not know the true value and purpose of a life. 
Samuel heard his men stirring. As they awoke, he gave instructions for them to pack up and get ready to leave. They did so quietly, so as not to wake the family or others who had taken refuge there. The mud dwelling was dark, but there was enough light to get ready. 
Poke woke up on her own, and coming to where Samuel was standing outside the house, she asked, “Would you and your men like a good breakfast? I know you do not get much when you go out there.”
Almost with an ache, Samuel said, “I would love that more than just about anything, but not this morning. I have a new mission this morning, and I need to be somewhere with my men before the sun gets too far up. Coffee might be helpful though. I didn't sleep well.”
“Certainly,” she said, and was off to make it.
Samuel stared at the fire for a couple of minutes. Soon a burly man with a wide neck who was dressed in black came and sat beside him quietly. Then he said, “Samuel, are you going out again?”
“Yes,” he said with a sigh.
“Well,” said the other man, “I just wanted to say you are an inspiration to a lot of us. Be safe.” He put a hand on Samuel’s shoulder.
“Thanks,” said Samuel. He looked up to identify the man, but he had already stood up and was walking away. Who was that? thought Samuel. Do I know him?
He continued to sit by the fire and think. Since the Waldenese had rejected most technology, they had no electric appliances, no stoves. Poke added some wood to the fire from last night, just outside of the house, and took a metal pot, adding the coffee grounds directly into the pot with the water. Later, she strained the grounds out as she poured it for the men.
After Poke had given the men some coffee, Samuel said to her, “You know, each time I go out it is dangerous, sometimes very dangerous. I do not know what they would do to me if they caught me. Probably kill me as an impediment to progress. I suppose the one fear I have each time I leave is not that I will die, but that I might die away from this place and your family. You and Sydney and even the kids have become family to me. And as a man who has not had a real family in a long time, that has great worth. More than anything the Technos might value, family has worth. If I die, I would want to die here, not out there without family.”
“I understand,” she said. “Family is worth more than everything else, and you are a part of our family. You remember that. No matter where you are, we are still your family.”
“Thanks,” he said.
After that, Samuel and his men put on their gear, which included weapons (stunners mostly and some batons for hand combat), whatever loose clothing they could wear in layers, some technology that would help them in the Techno's environment, and one book to read on the road. That latter meant more to them than might be expected. They had all come from the Techno's world, and books were not read to them, being barely even accessible. The Technos wanted all new information to be accessed through the use of technology, believing that eventually unlimited information would be available faster this way. Now, these men having escaped that world, savored what had been denied them: The relaxing experience of reading a book that they loved at their own leisure. Most of the men would read the book they chose over and over, savoring it, chewing it slowly, digesting every part and then quoting their favorite passages when they came to mind. Then, after a month or a few months they might have a chance to get a new book. So they chose carefully, if there was a choice, wearing each book out until it would begin to lose pages and then binding it together with string.
They were ready, each of them ready to give their lives for the mission, though they did not always know the objective until they got there. They trusted Samuel's leading, knowing he was always thinking about them, calculating safety into everything, but still having a goal worth dying for. If the goal was not worth that, then there was no reason to leave this place. People were worth dying for, not machines. That was one value they all kept dear. They had seen what machines did to people, now that their understanding of the world had changed, and they wanted to offer people what had been offered once to them. 
“Let's go,” Samuel said.
 





CHAPTER 13
“Class, today I want to talk to you about utility.” The students were quietly, paying attention. “Utility is the idea that everyone has something worth giving. Each one of you can give worth to yourselves by being of worth to society. Let me give you an example.” 
The teacher walked around the room. “E5528?”
“Yes?” she said.
“What are you good at?”
The child thought for a moment. “I like to draw.”
“Drawing,” the teacher said, “has no utility. People who draw are among the Castaways, those who do not want to be productive. The Castaways are not interested in making society better, they only care for themselves. They are selfish. Do you want to be a Castaway?”
The student got embarrassed. “No,” she said quietly as she looked at the ground.
“As I was saying,” the teacher went on, “utility is what give us value. Now, in the case of E5528, she may be good at drawing, but that is not a usable utility. Later, when she is older, she may be good at using her imagination to help engineers design innovative products. She might even help design new and useful chips.”
A hand shot up in the front row, “Yes?” the teacher said.
“When will we get our chips?” He was a new student. Still quite young. 
“When you go on to Phase 2 of your schooling. For you that will be five more years.”
The same student, “But if the chips make us know things, why do we have to learn here?”
“Because,” said the teacher, a little frustrated, “if you do not know how to be useful, you will not know what to do with a chip when you have it. You have to know what is important and what your place is in society.”
Another student put up a hand. 
“Yes.”
“I heard that the Castaways called themselves something different.”
“That's right,” said the teacher. “They call themselves the Waldenese, which they think is a good thing. Walden was a story about a lazy man who wanted to leave society in order not to contribute to it any longer. Then he could do whatever he wanted, not thinking about the needs of anyone else. He could have even died out there and it would have made no difference to society, for he had done nothing to improve it.”
“But we are all one people and we work toward the common good,” one of the older and brightest students said.
“Very well said,” the teacher smiled.
 





CHAPTER 14
“I see you have decided to join us,” said John, the leader of the group.
“I wanted to give it a try.” The group looked friendly toward him. They were seated outside on wooden chairs in a circle. 
“And what are you called?” asked John.
“X4287,” he said.
“I've heard you are getting your sight back, X4287,” said the leader.
“Just barely. At least I can walk now though.”
“Excellent,” said the leader.
The leader addressed the group: “We have all been among the Technophiles for a long time, long enough to receive in our bodies and souls the destruction that can occur there. This is a place where we can end all that. And begin something new.”
“So what do you do here?” asked X4287. 
“Mostly talk, and get mad, and sometimes even cry. It depends. But most of all we are healed. You are now our twelfth member. Now I want you to think about what it was like being among the Technos, or if you like to call them the Solpaths, you may. Try to remember how you felt. If you were not busy, if you did not have something that needed to be done, how did you feel? Put yourself in that place again and try to feel it.”
“You want to know how I felt?” said a big man. “I felt like crap. I wanted to kill or be killed. I didn't think it at the time, you know, but I worked just to escape the feeling. And I knew it too. It took a while though before I knew there was anything to escape to.”
“Hmmm,” said the leader. “I can identify with that. Who’s next?”
“I felt very lonely,” said a middle aged woman. “I was surrounded by people, but I was always lonely.”
“I'm sure a lot of us have felt that,” said the leader.
X4287 spoke up, “I'm not even sure. I didn't really think about it before. I was always so busy.”
“I'm sure a lot of us could identify with that too,” said the leader. “It often takes time to learn again to feel, and remember.”
A thin wiry man said, “One thing is for sure, I sure feel better now.”
“Yes,” said the leader.
A few of the others shook their heads, lost in the feelings of a previous time. One lady had tears streaming down her face, but remained silent.
“Here's what I want you to do,” said the leader. “I want you all to think about this further this week and write down what you come up with.” 
“And X4287, I have an additional assignment for you. I want you to start thinking about a name, rather than an ID. An ID is like a serial number given to machines, but has no personality to it. You were meant for more than that. Think carefully about it, ask your new friends, read some of your favorite books, if you have any, and see what you come up with.”
“I will do my best,” said X4287. “But can I ask you a question?”
“Sure.”
“Where did you get your name?”
“My name is John,” the teacher said, “The man I got my name from was a writer who could write the times and lives of men so that you felt you knew them, and you understood their circumstances. His name was John Steinbeck.”
“Hmm,” said X4287. “I'll do my best to come up with a name.”
“Take as long as you like. It's an important decision.”
“I will,” said X4287.
 





CHAPTER 15
The old man with short brown hair sat in a chair on the other side of the office from X213. She had seen him every day, but never talked with him, but now he came over to her.
“X213?” he said.
Over the buzz of incoming messages and feeds she barely had a sense that anyone was there next to her. She put a pause on most of her work for a moment. “Yes?” she said.
“I see you every day,” he said, “and just wanted to say hi.”
“Oh,” she said. “Why would you do that?”
“I guess it's just my old ways,” he said. 
“Huh?”
“I grew up with the Wald—with the Castaways,” he said. “I sometimes get into old habits.” He looked down at the ground as if studying something.
“Oh, things are so much more convenient here, aren't they?” she said. “I can't believe anyone would want to live so rough and with no sense of purpose.”
“That's what I thought,” he said.
She continued, as though not hearing him. “And those people do not know about community. I mean community where we can call each other so easily and stay in constant contact. It's really great and it doesn't even interrupt the other things we do all the time.”
“Community,” he said. “Time.”
As though he wasn't there she continued, “And time is so precious we can't go around wasting it. We only have so much of it, so now we can work and learn and communicate all at the same time and not a moment is wasted.”
“Wasted,” he said. He was still looking at the ground.
“In fact we don't even need to sleep very much because of course that would be more of a waste of our precious time. And anyway, as long as I take my pills I feel fine with only three hours of rest.”
“Rest,” he said.
“Well,” she said, “I really have to get back to work, things are really piling up now. Thanks for coming over here to say hi. It's nice to be here and really feel like I know somebody.” At this, she turned from facing him and faced forward again, staring blankly at the wall, her mind racing with approvals and denials, correspondences, notices and messages that raced across her mind. For a second a peripheral thought hung there, what was his name? But then she got drawn away by the endless tasks in front of her and she dismissed the question.
He turned away toward his own seat and with a tear in his eye he whispered, “to know somebody.”
 





CHAPTER 16
As they approached the city, Samuel huddled with his men, “Okay, as I have told you before, the best way to fight an enemy is to know how it thinks. And the best way to know how the Technos think is to know their technology—at the top.”
“So what's the plan?” said Adam. His voice had a whispery kind of roughness to it. Like a man who had smoked something too much. 
“Plan?” said Samuel. “Do I need a plan?”
“Come on chief, you've always got some plan,” said Chavez. His light skin and red hair had to be covered more than the rest since he was so easy to spot.
“Yeah, I got a plan,” said Samuel. “We're going to infiltrate Techcorp.”
The men were silent, but the increased tension could be felt. They looked at each other wondering who was going to speak up. Finally Ray said, “We will do whatever you say, chief. “
The one man who hadn't spoken was the one who probably had the most to say. “Wallace,” said Samuel. “What’s your take?”
Wallace was slow with his words, like running through a tide of molasses, but he was sharp. It was as though he hand chose each word carefully before speaking, so that when he did speak, you could trust every word. “You know, Captain, I've been there. For seven years before getting out. I know,” he paused searching through his memories, “about the place. There is one possible problem. One man who might recognize me. It could be dangerous.”
“I've been counting on your knowledge,” said Samuel, “and we will be careful to keep you hidden from this person. You will be very valuable to this operation though.”
Wallace said with a hard stare of concentration, “I'll do my best, sir.”
Each of the men were solid. Good soldiers with good hearts. They wanted to serve with Samuel because they believed in him. They believed there were people still to be freed and that many of them just didn't know there was a different way to live. People trapped in a society that burned them out and threw them away. 
“Men,” said Samuel.
“Yes, sir,” said the men.
“Tonight we spend the night in the heart of the enemy's camp.”
“Yes, sir,” they all responded.
 
They had traveled for a couple of hours when Adam caught up to Samuel. “So I was just wondering,” he said in his raspy voice.
“Yes,” said Samuel.
“We have been able to rescue people mostly by contacting Little Brother. Why go this route? Why take the chance?” Little Brother was a network of Waldenese whose purpose was to be eyes and ears in the society of the Technos case violence was planned against the Waldenese. Their second function was to watch for people who looked like they might be ready to cross over to join with the Waldenese.
“It's because of Little Brother that we're doing this,” said Samuel. “There have been signs that something big is about to happen in the technology of the Technos. If it's something that will be used against us I want to know about it. If it's just another brain experiment I want to know how it will affect survivors who come to us in the future.”
The skyscrapers were clearly visible now, and the sun was starting to get warm. “So this is not a rescue mission, but information retrieval?” asked Adam.
“That's right,” said Samuel.
Adam thought for a moment, but then hesitantly asked, “So if I die, it will not be for a person, but an idea?”
“Both,” said Samuel. “If we know what they are going to do to people in the future, we may determine how to help them. If it is a weapon or something that may be used as a weapon, we can prepare our people to flee. And that would be saving lives. Either way, it is for the sake of people.”
Adam looked relieved. “Good,” he said. “If I die, I want it to be for people, not for things or ideas.”
Samuel smiled. “You have a good head on your shoulders, Adam, and a good heart. I would have thought less of you if you hadn't brought this up. It is always for people. I believe that as much as you do.”
 





CHAPTER 17
Going through the city, they hid under baggy clothing and tried to cover their faces so that cameras would not pick up on their identities. It was only the cameras they needed to avoid. People were so busy receiving feeds and doing other activities related to work, that their presence among the city folk was undetected. But cameras record everything, and there were even programs that analyzed camera feeds to look for suspicious behavior or to match with known Outcasts or criminals.
Buildings were lighter in frame than in the past. New construction materials made it possible to have thinner supports, thinner walls, even thinner windows. Windows were more like a bubble material that never broke rather than the heavy and dangerous glass of the past. Cement was not used at all in construction due to its weight and how brittle it was. High density plastics made up the walls and ceilings.
On the outside, the city looked very clean. Vandals and other no good citizens were executed on sight. If you were not productive, and even worse, if you were destructive, you were eliminated. That was the law, and if cameras picked up any such activity, robotic units would be sent out to your location in order to enact swift justice. Needless to say, the streets were very clean, public property unmarred.
Though the city had crowds of people walking past each other, no one spoke. All that was heard was the sound of shuffling feet, everyone busy in their own world. Likely there were occasionally people without this newest feed technology, but they felt so uncouth that they kept silent hoping no one else noticed their social ineptitude. They still exchanged information with the chip they did have which was encyclopedic and offered information as well as distractions such as games or learning puzzles. They were constantly looking up useful facts for the day or their job or just to know.
Samuel and the four men watched for the cameras and occasional robots who paroled the streets. They were unable to move through the alleys, because that was where cameras were most likely to be stationed. They moved among the people without talking because others did not talk and such an activity would bring about clear suspicion. This part was not extremely risky. But then they came to the building. 
Techcorp was a jet black skyscraper of 435 floors, taking up a city block. It housed many different companies and many divisions of those companies. But every company had one thing in common: The advancing of technology. And all of the companies had one head: The government of the Solpaths. Since the government and the advancement of technology was so integral to each other, the government heads worked inside this building as well. Entry was bound to be difficult.
They put on their disguises, which amounted to putting a dummy chip in the slot behind their right ears which each of them still had because they had each lived here at some point. This chip was the only real disguise they needed. Everyone in this building had feed technology. This technology not only increased productivity, and therefore value in their eyes, but it was the best of security systems. 
Only one thing kept this security from being foolproof. No one figured on Wallace. Not only had Wallace worked in that building, but he had worked on that project. His rejection of what the Feed Brain Interface (FBI) would do to society was the reason for him leaving it. Initially, however, he was in charge of the translation process between digital information and neural information transmission. He made sure the brain could understand what the feed was transmitting.
Having Wallace gave them a huge advantage. He had spent the last few months working on creating “dummy transmitters.” These chips appeared to receive feeds because they transmitted back usage data, but they did not connect to the brain. Usage data told the company what feeds were being used, as there were thousands to utilize for every purpose, some secure, used only for companies that did not want their info available to others, and some for the general public. Receiving usage data let the system know who was there, who was missing, and who didn’t belong. Wallace had modified the chips to at first “listen” to the chips around them and mimic the chip ID of another worker.
As employees received their feeds about work or entertainment, they also received another, more hidden feed. This feed did not consist of facts, but was a massaging of their minds into acceptance of ideals such as, “without technology, we would go back to the stone age. It is what distinguishes us from animals. It is what makes us human. Technology is the key to the future. If you contribute to the progress of technology, you contribute to the future of mankind. You are useful. You are worth-ful.”
This was dangerous because Wallace said it really worked. People, even those violently opposed to such a way of life, often times could be turned because of this mind-altering process. It was at once subconscious and superconscious. For this reason, it was getting less common for people to turn to the Waldenese.
Having these chips firmly in place and having peeled off their original garb to reveal the simple utilitarian clothes that others wore, they entered the building knowing they may never come back out.
 





CHAPTER 18
X4287 wanted to explore. He had heard so many terrible stories about these Waldenese, or “Castaways,” as they had been called where he was from. But by the feeling he got from them, they could not all be true. For example, he heard that the Waldenese were all lazy, since they did not have a work ethic that told them work was what gave them purpose. Growing up he had never doubted that without such a strong motivation to work hard and succeed there would be little motivation to work at all. But approaching a house on his right, he saw a man making repairs to his walls with fresh clay, while his two boys helped him. Meanwhile, the man’s wife was cleaning some clothes in a wash basin and hanging them on a rope stretched between two trees out front.
A couple of minutes later, he saw a whole family planting seed in a freshly furrowed garden. Each family member took a row at a time and were careful, putting the seeds in the ground one at a time and pressing them down in the soft soil a couple of inches below. 
At another house, there was a group of children who were sitting on benches while an adult was teaching them the sounds of reading and the letters of writing. Most of the children were quite small, but they had one girl who was probably twelve, and a boy who was maybe sixteen. As he passed, the teacher called to him.
“Sir,” the teacher said. “Would you mind helping me with this lesson?”
Hesitant and a little nervous, X4287 said, “Okay, what can I do?”
“I was just telling the students that our society is made of all kinds of people, some of whom did not even grow up here, but might have come from the Technophiliac lands. I can see by your mannerisms that this is the case for you. Could you tell the students about where you grew up?”
“Okay,” said X4287, “I'll try.” Coming to the front of the class and standing next to the teacher, a man who looked to be about fifty, X4287 began. “First of all, the Technos do not use names, they use ID's. Mine is X4287. Names are personal and an ID just identifies people more as part of a whole group. We were like parts in a big machine. To a Techno, there is no individual that has meaning apart from what he or she contributed to the society.”
Here the teacher interpreted, “So kids, he is saying that each person is not very important by themselves, just all of them as a group.”
X4287 had never thought of it like that before. He went on, “The reason you call us Technos is because of a common saying they have: ‘Technology is the highest achievement of man’. So most strive to work for a company that makes, repairs, modifies, or invents technology.”
The teacher spoke up again. “He says that they believe that machines make people important, so the better the machines, the more important they will be.”
This explanation was like cold water in his face. X4287 had never imagined it that way before. He didn't know whether to hit the man, or to cry, because although he couldn't put his finger on it completely, he knew there was something important in what the man said. Not knowing how to continue, he said, “I’ll answer questions if you have any.”
A small blonde haired girl raised her hand. “Did you play catch the dog when you were growing up?”
“W-We didn't play games growing up,” he stammered. “We learned and we worked. When we weren't doing one, we were doing the other. There was some entertainment, but mostly we worked.” The children murmured among themselves in shock. A couple of them laughed.
Another girl said, “Did your mommy and daddy read to you before you went to bed?”
“Well, no,” said X4287. “We did not learn to read because the chip we received told us what we needed to know once we were old enough. Signs either spoke when a button was pressed, or our chip informed us as to information we would need to know. At night, we just went to bed. The newer chips now continue to teach us even as we sleep.”
An older boy raised his hand. “We learned that in some past cultures people married because it was arranged by the parents. In our culture we marry for love and friendship. In the Techno culture, what makes someone marry?”
X4287 knew this one would be a bit more tricky. He paused for a second thinking about how to respond and then said, “It may not seem to make sense to all of you, but in our culture a marriage is a calculated thing. We do not decide to marry, nor do parents decide. Our work background, financial status, personality traits and other statistics are all put into a computer and a match is made. Both the man and woman are given their assignment when they turn twenty. That very day, they move out of their family house and go to an assigned house designated by the computer.”
The boy said, “Wow, that would take the wind out of my sails. Don't even meet her until you are living together. Doesn't anyone rebel against this system?”
“Not really,” said X4287, “because we were all raised with the idea that the computer is always right. In order to be a good citizen we must do what the most logical and most capable in our society dictates. And that is the computer.”
One last time the boy said, “Do you really think that is the best way to choose a wife?”
“I-I don't know anymore,” said X4287. He was feeling frustrated. “That's just what we were taught and there are lots of things like that I am beginning to wonder about. Like your teacher said, different places do things differently. But don't believe that they are all just as good as the other. I mean, a culture that believes in and cares for people, I believe, is better than one that prizes none of those things. At least I think that's true.”
The teacher looked up in surprise, “You've come a long way, X4287. We're glad you’re with us.” Then turning to the class, “Let's all thank X4287.”
After an applause, X4287 left the outdoor school with a desire to go home. Home. What a funny thing that the first time he had such warm feelings for a place was many miles from his family.
 





CHAPTER 19
The Operations Manager, T1482, took a handful of pills. Amazing, he thought, how these pills can take him from feelings of despair to a sharpened sense of purpose. The purpose was real, he knew. The future of the world was in his hands. That should be purpose enough for anyone. He sometimes laughed at his own lack of focus, but now he was back on track. 
He had just received a feed that a candidate had been found for the experiment. A surge of excitement went through him and a feeling of accomplishment that now what he had hoped for so long might soon come to pass. It was a slow realization in the progress of technology, that in order to make technology that could change the world it would be necessary to change its makers. Otherwise the technology might improve, but the creators would be left behind.
The Operations Manager, sitting at his large white desk, pressed a button on a panel on the right side of the desk. “Please send the candidate to briefing.”
The machine made voice on the other side said, “Yes, sir.” At that moment a feed was being sent to both the candidate as well as those he would soon be in a conference with.
In another wing of the massive Techcorp building, a man had just finished a grueling and extensive set of tests. Among these were tests for biocompatibility, upper data throughput limits, mental stability testing, emotional suppression boundaries, DNA analysis, and disease likelihood. The process had taken seven days, with some tests running into the night even while sleeping. He was not allowed to leave the testing center, which was fine with him. He did not have an assigned wife. This was denied him due to his remarkable abilities and usefulness for work. His systems of triage, speed of computational analyses, and multitasking limits were unmatched by his peers. He had been assured by employers from early on that he was destined for the most advanced technology; perhaps for experimentation in breakthroughs that would further the whole society.
It was no surprise to him that he was the best candidate, and he was excited to find out what new technology might be available to him that no one else would have--at least for a while. Meanwhile, he would become a household name as the man who helped bring about a revolution in furthering the future of the Solpaths! 
He suddenly received a feed, summoning him to meet for a briefing. This was what he had been waiting for. He was certainly tired though and wanted to sleep before the surgery began. 
He took six elevators and three transit ducts, where a bullet shaped car moved through a large hollow tube in a lateral fashion, making movement from one part of the building to another much faster. This was a very large building, but that was not why such transportation was available to him. It would have only taken him twenty minutes to move from one end of the building to the other. The reason for this transport was because of one of the primary edicts of society: Do not do yourself what a machine can do better or faster. Rather than the walk taking twenty minutes, he was at the entrance door within three. They were certainly very efficient in this building.
Entering through the conference door, he saw six people, all men, around a large table made of thick white plastic. The walls were white, like most of the building. The men were dressed in white, making them either look like doctors or scientists. He knew that they were probably a mixture. As soon as he entered the room there was a man at the door who placed an electrode on his head with a wire that ran to a small handheld device. A high beep sound signaled that he was indeed who he said he was. The man said, “Retina scans and fingerprints can be forged, but not brainwave patterns. You are our candidate. Please have a seat.”
Looking around the room, he saw only one unoccupied chair. It was at the head of the rectangular table and it was black plastic, while all the other chairs were white. He sat down and the men looked down at their screens built flush into the table. A man with a deep voice and a loss of most of his light brown hair said, “Everything we say will be recorded.” 
That was a formality. Everyone knew that most everything anyone did anywhere was recorded, whether in seeming private or not. It was one of the technological advanced that kept people safe. That one integrated piece of technology brought violent crimes to a halt within a few months. No one ever forgot what it was like before that. People were stealing just to get the more advanced chip in the side of someone’s head. A better chip meant more possibility to advance at work or in any field. It meant more money and more opportunity.
The scientist or doctor continued, “To this point you have only been told that you were selected for an opportunity to test some very advanced technology. You have not been told any details.”
Another man, pressed a button on a console on the table and a part of the desk in front of the candidate rolled back revealing his own screen. In the voice of the computer, a female voice (often chosen for computerized voices as they were more soothing) said, “Welcome to the Integrated Cerebral and Chip Parallel Processor system (ICCPP). A parallel system of brain and CPU. A confluence of the strengths of the brain and the advances of the best of our technology.” The subliminal messages of peace and wholeness began to work on his brain as he watched and listened.
The screen showed a historical picture of a man, “In 2053, the first successful experiments were made in combining the human brain and an integrated chip. The initial experiment was to strengthen the memory of an individual who had Alzheimer’s. This disease made memory, especially short term memory, inaccessible to the individual. Richard Corton was able to create and successfully implement this chip into his own father's brain before Alzheimer’s claimed his mind.”
More pictures of historical moments came on the screen, “Move forward to 2075. Technology like that which was used by Richard Corton became mass produced and introduced to the public through a joining of forces of the United Arab Medical Association and the Integrated Chip Designers, Inc to form Techcorp. Techcorp not only experimented beyond the dreams of Richard Corton, but also began a new branch of the company that installed the proven technology in average citizens at a minimal cost. The cost was subsidized by the government with the idea that more mentally capable employees would benefit the whole country. This became a key belief and the Society of Solpaths, mostly a philosophical society at first, was started.”
The voice was soothing. “Later on, the Society of Solpaths became involved in government and started their own party which gained dictatorship in 2092. Meanwhile, this technology was improving, and people everywhere looked with hope to a new future based on technological advances. The idea that we could improve, not just our environment around us, but people, brought about a great deal of interest in science, the medical field, and electronic and computer engineering.”
Next was a picture of one of the men in the room on his left, “Enter today. Breakthroughs in the understanding of brain chemistry, brain activity and stimulation, and even electrochemical pattern recognition and modification has brought about the boldest concept in the history of humanity.” While the screen was playing a feed that the candidate did not at first notice started coming into his mind. It was music used to stir his emotions and sense of duty to his people and a feeling of destiny swelled within him with a beautiful orchestral score.  “Eugene Cragstone, after the breaking of the identity ceiling, changed his name to the ID, E2175. After years of research he decided to attempt a huge leap into the future. Collaborating with five other men, all experts in their fields, E2175 developed the Confluence Organization. The goal of which is to develop more complete integration of brain and hardware so that when the singularity occurs, man will be a part of the equation and not left on the outside. Or worse yet, so man will not be considered an enemy of the singularity, and face extinction. The singularity is the event theorized in the near future where technology will become self-aware and self-improving. Once this occurs, there will be nothing that will be impossible for this new entity.”
The music began to build, pictures of actual components were now presented, “Now for some specifics of the ICCPP. The ICCPP is the first project to be tested by the Confluence Organization. You will have installed in your brain, the most advanced piece of bio-integrated circuitry ever engineered. In the past, processors were added to the brain in order to enhance storage capacity and, more recently, add the ability of the reception of over-the-air feeds. In this leap forward, an actual processor, nearly as complex as the brain itself, will come to co-exist alongside the brain. This is much the way the massive parallel machines of the past would break down a very complex problem and each processor would work out a piece of the answer and then all these pieces would be put together in order to have one complete solution. Many years ago this was found to greatly speed up the processing time needed for complex solutions.”
“The processor that will be added to your brain will take incoming problems and decide what it can do better and what your built-in processor (brain) can better handle. Then it will assign parts of the problem giving you the information needed to have a ready answer far faster than would otherwise be possible. Because the computerized part of you will have capabilities beyond your own, it will not only speed up the process, but it will make it possible to solve problems that your indigenous brain would never have been able to solve with any amount of time.”
With a crescendo, the music exploded, “ICCPP, the technology that will lead us to the future!”
Now the music started to fade into the background, the screen faded and the panel closed. “So, what do you think?” said E2175.
Now the man was excited, ready to do anything asked of him. He had, through subliminal messages, his own pride, and the presentation, been brought into a kind of ecstatic state of hope for the future and a desire to be a big part of it. At first he stuttered a bit due to the tremendous adrenaline rush, “I-I-I th-think it's am-am-amazing.”
“We know you are interested in getting started as soon as possible, so we will need you to sign the usual forms, now available on the screen for your perusal. Once done, we will check you in.”
Even though the candidate was extremely exhausted due to the long testing program he had already been through, he wanted to get started too. He looked blearily at the documents being presented on his screen, but only saw the line at the bottom for signature. If he would have allowed it, the writing on the screen would have been read aloud through his embedded chip since no one read anymore, but he did not give it the time to get started before he had signed each page that presented itself. Within a couple of minutes he had signed six documents in rapid succession, and initialed nine. 
Upon the signing of the last document, a gurney barged into the room and he was lifted off his seat by two robotic assistants, placed onto it, and skittered off. He began giggling as he was carted off toward the operating room.





CHAPTER 20
It was break time, and X213 wanted to step outside. She knew the scrubbers made the air better inside than outside, but she just wanted a change of scenery. This was unusual for her, but she wanted to try something new today. She felt suffocated. As she walked a couple of blocks away from work, she passed an old man who was holding a sign. That was even more unusual. No one read, but of course, her chip gave her an interpretation. “The end is near,” it said. 
“Why are you holding that?” she said. 
“Because it's true. We're not even a five minute walk from where it will probably happen too!” He was dressed in rags. She couldn't imagine how he had been allowed to stay there without being detected by the cameras and dumped somewhere outside the city.
“What do you mean?” she asked. “I work at Techcorp. Why will it be the end?”
“Because, when the singularity comes, do you think it will like us? Do you think it will even let us live? What do you think would happen if a truly logical life began? Would it want to exist with an illogical, drug dependent people like us? It's gonna drive us out or kill us all!” He did not seem sad or mad, but insistent and intense. But who would listen to him? 
She wondered how long he had been saying these things. She had heard these sorts of things before, but more as philosophy, not as prophecy. This guy was whacked. She didn't bother responding to him further, but started on her way back. Anyway, her break was almost over and she needed to be on her shift in time or the monitors would record her absence and she would get a pay cut.
She got only half a block away when the trucks came and robotic servicemen picked the man up and put him in the back. He would either cooperate, change his ways, or be dropped off outside of the city—off the edge of the world. Maybe he would join the Outcasts. Maybe he would be happy there. She sure never would.
Another block and her hands started to shake again. As she came within sight of her workplace she felt something wet on her hand. She looked up at a sunny sky. That's when it struck her that it was a tear. She began to feel a panic rise up in her. It was as if her insides were fighting with her logical outside. Control, she needed control. She needed to think. She knew that technology was the path to a better future. She knew that life was better than it had ever been in history. She knew she was right. She knew, she knew...she was crying now even more. She had never done that. Not since. . .
It was 18 years ago. They were in a nice house with bright yellow walls. She was a little girl and her mother was getting tired of her whining. She had a whiny voice back then. At least that was what her mother said. When she was eating she dropped her spoon on the floor and started to cry. Her mother, frustrated for the thousandth time, turned around in a rage and hit her across the face with the palm of her hand. She kept yelling, slapping her once for each word said, “no more crying. Ever. Again.” The last hit with the word “again,” knocked her unconscious. When she came to, she was in the hospital. She was going to be okay, but her mother was not around. She never saw her mother again.
Walking toward her office, realizing what she was dwelling on she caught herself slapping herself in the face as hard as she could, yelling, “stop crying!” What was she doing! She used to do that when she was young. She didn't even remember it until now. She fell down to her knees in the street with everyone ignoring her, receiving feeds, and she began sobbing. Looking up at the bright, hard sky, she cried, “God, help me! If you are out there, help me. I want out!”
She stood up and realized she could not go back to her office. There was no way she could, she knew that now. Within a few moments, something had broken and she kept crying. Tears falling on her shirt, but she couldn't stop, didn't even want to because now she knew that she needed to cry. More than anything else she needed to cry. She didn't even have words for what she was feeling because she had no experience with this feeling. She just felt it and welcomed the feeling like the face of someone whose name she had forgotten. 
She got up from the pavement. People still going about their business. They were barely aware enough to walk, let alone notice someone else nearby. She broke into a run. She had no destination but felt the impulse to run and now she had no reason to resist. 
 





CHAPTER 21
It had been a few days since Odysseus and his family were rescued by Samuel and his men. It was not as difficult a physical adjustment for him as it had been for X4287. From the room where Odysseus and his family slept he could hear X4287 mumbling to himself, moaning and crying through much of the night. It was a strange thing to hear, but then again to have the feeds suddenly stop must have been like losing touch with family. It sounded horrible. Since he had never allowed the feed processor to be installed in their chips they never had to go through such an adjustment period.
As the morning sun climbed over the horizon, Odysseus awoke and headed into the room where the old man had been, but he was gone. Seeing Poke clean up where the old man had laid down, he asked, “Where is he?”
“He wanted to go for a walk,” she said.
“I sure hope he'll be alright,” said Odysseus. 
“Oh, yes,” she said, “He'll be fine. I have seen this several times over the last couple of years, and since he survived the first night and has begun to talk to others, he will be okay.”
“Well, that's good to know,” he said. Odysseus looked outside the window and felt the sun’s warmth on his face. His wife and kids still lay sleeping. The other day, they went on a hike to see the surrounding countryside. They were surprised to find that they could see the tower of Techcorp from the top of Tumuleiah, a small mountain, or tall hill they called it since the opinion was split in the community. The landscape was mostly dry, the dirt red, with small patches of grass and weeds interspersed throughout.  It was not what Odysseus would have thought of as picturesque, but compared to the city he had been living in, it was a breath of fresh air. 
“So where are the children at this time of the morning?” said Odysseus.
“Doing the usual chores,” she said. “They feed and milk the goats, and water the vegetable garden. The garden takes a while since the stream is about four hundred meters away and it takes refilling twice for each of them before they finish the job. After that they have school.”
“And your husband?”
“He’s talking to the Council to see what buildable land might be available for sale,” she said.
A look of surprise came into his gray eyes, “Buildable land?”
“For you,” she said. “You can't live here forever and I'm sure you would like your own place. The counsel determines who can live where and for how much.”
“But Poke,” he said, “I haven't had time to make any money yet. I don't know what you use for purchase, but we only have the clothes on our backs.”
Poke smiled. “The land came free for us, so it is sold only with the promise that certain kinds of development will be done on it. We all want to see improvement rather than disrepair and fallow ground. The specifics though take talking through. Also, some of that land must be available to the community.”
“What do you mean?” said Odysseus.
She picked up a broom and began to sweep. “Since community has no value in the world of the Technos, and since most of us came directly from there, we found that one of the things we were starved for was community. We don't want to talk to someone through the vidscreen or through feeds, as they use now. We want someone we can hug and have coffee with. We want to greet each other with a handshake or a hug or even a scornful look if we want. Something lacking in the feeds.”
“For this reason,” she continued, “we decided early on that we wanted each piece of property to have at least one part that belonged to the community. That way, whether you like it or not, you have friends, perhaps right in your backyard, ready to be with you. There are no loners out here.”
The door creaked open and in walked her husband, Sydney. He had a pack over one shoulder and was wearing a soft brown cloak and a darker brown beat-up hat. In one hand he was holding a well-folded piece of paper. “Well, we're done,” he said. “If you will agree to the terms, it's yours.”
“I would like to see the place and know the terms,” he said. “I also need to have my wife in on the decision.”
“Wise man,” Sydney said with a smile. He had one of those mouths that always looked like a smile was just about to break. “In the meantime, have you eaten?”
“Not yet. Believe it or not, I just woke up. What is the common meal around here? In our city we would take a few pills, maybe a nutri-bar, and hit the road for work or school.”
“Well here,” said Sydney, “we eat these.” He took his bag off of his shoulder and took out a couple of brown eggs. “That is, unless we can get these!” Now he pulled out an egg the size of his head. It was white and looked as hard as a rock.
“What kind of egg is that?” said Odysseus.
“This would be an Ostrich egg. Good eggs, great meat!” he said with a smile.
“I thought you said the kids fed chickens,” he said to Poke. 
“Well, yes,” said Poke. “That's for our home. This is from his work.”
“So, what is your business?” said Odysseus.
Sydney said, “Me? Well I raise Ostriches. I have a whole farm of them. I brought them here and I raised them, help them multiply, and harvest the meat and the eggs. I sell most of the eggs, so these are special.” Then, looking at his wife he gave a warm laugh. “Didn't you know? Sydney's not an author or pioneer. It's a place. It's where I'm from.”
They could hear stirring in the other room. The kids were beginning to wake. Hamlet and Sam were the first up. Hamlet rubbing his eyes, said, “Whoa, Sam, look at the size of that egg.”
Sam looked up. “What kind of a bird would lay a thing like that? It must be a dinosaur!”
“Well, not exactly,” said Sydney, “just an ostrich.”
“Cool!” said Hamlet. 
Poke took the bag and gave her husband a light kiss. “I'd better get these cooked up. It looks like the hungries will be upon us shortly.”
She went outside to where the fire pit had a bright red set of coals already stoked from a previous user. 
Odysseus, seeing his wife stir in the other room, sneaked over to her and whispered into her ear, “Jane. Jane, I have something to ask you.” She muttered something unintelligible. “Jane, how would you like to have your own place out here.”
She was still tired. But in half consciousness she said, “Uh huh,” with an almost childlike girlishness. The kind that made him love her.
Going back to Sydney, he took the paper from his hands, put it on the table and said, “So, what are the terms?”
 





CHAPTER 22
Samuel and his men knew chances were that they would be safe for most of the time they were in the building, but if they did anything suspicious, the cameras would take note. Cameras were monitored by a computer that would alert the authorities if it noticed anything unusual. This mission was only for information, so Samuel would take them inside, but their best tool for finding what they needed was Wallace.
“Wallace,” Samuel said. “Where can we find out about new developments?”
“On floor 398, unless things have changed,” he said. “You should find the developments awaiting approval or rejection. I know the woman who does this. Perhaps we can find out what we need from her.”
“Great,” said Samuel. “For now, we should refrain from talking unless we’re alone and out of camera range. It would look suspicious. Conversations don't happen much now that they use the feeds.”
“That's right,” said Wallace. “I almost forgot.”
The five of them moved cautiously. On the first floor, their main goal was to get to a vertical transportation unit. The floor was enormous. It was where all technological ideas were submitted and converted into searchable feeds. There were seven long lines of people awaiting their chance to submit their ideas and plans. It was very seldom that a project was accepted, but when it happened it was the fulfillment of a lifetime goal for the inventor. Since technological advances were the highest achievement of man, the highest goal of an individual was to be a part of making such advances. The desire to be part of this great system was instilled since childhood. It drove much of what they did, dreamed about, and lived for.
Even before reaching one of the lines they had to pass through a check-in booth where a robot asked mechanically, “reason for entry?”
“Submission,” said Samuel. They were each given a green badge. After getting past the booth they walked up to the submission line. They stood there for a while and then pretended that they had to meet to discuss their submission in a corner. The corner just happened to be near the vertical lift. When the doors opened, Wallace whispered with urgency, “face the wall and take off your badges.” They did this. Turning around, he pointed to the camera above the door. 
“Good thinking” said Samuel. He pressed the button for the 398th floor. Almost as soon as he pressed it, they were there. Gravity dampers kept the G-Force down, so they had no feeling of acceleration whatever. The door opened.
In front of them stretched a long hallway with wooden panels on the lower half of the walls. They walked with purpose as though they worked here. Their chips gave all the right signals, so they were not worried about being identified as not belonging. If a person was here, then that meant they must work here since the system would not allow others to enter. Good covert chip design on their part. 
They walked down the hallway, going by doors on both sides, mostly closed. Another group of men walked by and Samuel and his men were careful not to say hi or do anything else to cause suspicion. They just looked straight ahead and tried to ignore everyone. Just like the average workers, receiving feeds and sending information, paying no attention to the world around them.
Toward the end of the hall, they saw a hatch on their right. This was the normal mode of transport in this building, but not for them. Chavez had a fear of enclosed spaces, so they ignored it and moved on. At the end of the hall, they saw a door, but just as Samuel was about to reach for the handle, Wallace pointed to a door on their left. Samuel turned and opened it. As they stepped out, Wallace whispered, “That other one was for food.”
“Oh,” said Samuel.
They entered a huge room. It was the size of a warehouse, but broken into small workspaces. Partitions were interspersed throughout, because people who worked here did not get distracted. They had complete focus on their tasks. Without the use of additional technology, workers received and sent business-level feeds. “This is technical support,” said Wallace. “It's worldwide, so it takes a lot of people. Different shifts go all day and night so those on other continents and time zones can get help as well.”
They walked along one wall ignoring people who passed them from time to time. Samuel observed that there were no windows. How very depressing, he thought. How can these people live this way?
It took them several minutes to cross the warehouse sized room. On the other side, Wallace whispered, “This is it.” They opened the door.
 





CHAPTER 23
X213 had been running for just a few minutes before she was out of breath. Exercise was not emphasized in this society. She sat down, no longer able to cry. Feeling a little numb, she wondered what she would do now. She thought about going back to work, but that was enforcing the very restrictions that had dominated her as a child. No feeling, no independent thought, like machines doing what someone else wanted. In this world there was no sense of creativity. There was no art, no music for entertainment. There were just the feeds, and work. She thought about taking the chip out of her head, but then thought that if she did this, the authorities would either take her away as a deserter or come looking for her thinking she had a malfunction and needed repair. The chip itself had this signaling device. Though she couldn't turn it off, she could limit the number of feeds she received so she could think.
As she sat, she wondered who she would miss at work. No one, she realized. Not a single person. She didn’t feel close to anyone because she never talked to anyone. Of course there was that guy she had talked to earlier that day, but he was an anomaly. She remembered how he had said hi to her, the conversation replaying in her memory. He had said some unusual things. For instance, he said words like, community, time, rest, and he did not sound happy. She had heard about him. Even though she didn't know his name, she had heard that he had lived with the Outcasts and then, seeing the light, knowing that the Solpaths had the true path to a brighter future, he came back. He had to go through quite a bit of testing and trial before they would accept him in his current position. They had to make sure he wasn't a spy. 
It was no longer the case that spies worked for other companies trying to bring a product to the public before another company. It was not even true that one country vied for power against another using technology as a weapon. The world was now under one government and had only one goal: to better themselves by bettering technology. It was a wonderfully united system. Instead of companies competing with other companies, there was one company, Techcorp, which was owned and run by the government. When the government owns everything, there is no competition and everyone is happier. And because the country was now run much like a huge company, the Director of Operations was the leader of the country. 
Her thoughts went back to that man again. He had a look in his eyes she had seen before. She had known what it was at the time, but she didn't want to think about it. She had blocked it out through the distraction of business. If you run fast enough, you don't notice the ugly scenery. That was what she did. She knew what that man felt and it made her uncomfortable. She knew it because she had seen it. In the mirror, before she took her pills some mornings. He wanted out too, the same way she wanted out. 
She wondered if he cried also. Did he have the shakes like her? Was he suffering the same things, but unwilling to admit it even to himself? She found herself hoping so, because the alternative was even worse. What if he knew his life was built on false hope and lies that he told himself? What if he was going through the motions, hoping that someday he would start to feel better, knowing that as long as he stayed in this job, in this apartment, in these meaningless almost faceless relationships, things could only remain the same. Things would never get better, because the problem wasn't just the way he felt. It was where he was and what he did. It was the life he built for himself.
She knew it was a lot to read into a two minute conversation. She knew she was being silly. But she also knew that look, and that didn't lie, because she had seen that look every morning before taking the pills and pretending one more day.
She knew she couldn't go back to work. But that man had no one to talk to and he had no way out. Even though she didn't know the answers, she at least was starting to understand the questions, and some people might go through their whole lives and never get that far. 
She knew she couldn't go back to work. But she also knew that when she saw that man, she saw herself; and who could leave themselves behind when they could help, make a difference, be someone to offer hope?
She knew she couldn't go back, but now she knew. She would. 
 





CHAPTER 24
In the mass of people there was unrest. Little Brother knew it and they were there for those who understood it. For those who were on the edge, they sometimes helped out. Over the last three years, more citizens were leaving the city and joining the resistance or leaving altogether to live among the Waldenese. What was interesting was that more had been deciding to stay and join the effort recently. Zach thought that was an odd thing to do. But then again, that’s what he was doing.
He picked up his two-way radio and called out, “Chai, are you there?”
“Yes,” said Chai.
“What's going on in there?”
“Samuel and his men entered the building probably ten minutes ago. We don't have any way to contact them, but we can pinpoint their location on the 398th floor.”
“Very good,” said Zach. He turned to a man nearby. “How far does that transmitter you pinned on him go?”
“Far,” said a burly man in black with a neck as wide as most men's waist. “That baby will send a signal halfway around the planet. Pretty cool, huh?”
“Great,” said Zach. He spoke back into the radio, “Chai, why don't you stay there and let me know when you see them come out of the building.”
“Okay, boss,” said Chai.
“You know,” said Zach, “the Technos think they own the world. They think they are the only people on the face of it, and everyone else is just leftovers. They don't even know what's boiling under the surface. Can you believe that?” A whole group of men, sitting on some broken down piece of a wall, listened. It was a part of the city that had been abandoned. “I mean look at this. Here's a piece of land they ignore because it's easier for them to start building somewhere else from scratch than to clean this off and try again. That's what they do with people, isn't it? They would rather throw them away than help them cope. They treat people like machines. Machines!” He didn't have to tell them. He was preaching to the choir. They had experienced it first hand, and now they were his eager recruits. 
Zach had gotten on one of his rants again. He sometimes did that. He had been silent for so many years that now that he began to articulate what he felt, he didn't always know when to stop.
“Why are you monitoring Samuel and his men?” asked Greg, one of the men of the technical division of Little Brother. 
“Samuel and his men were never a part of our group officially, but they were an inspiration to me really. They would get their hands dirty when I didn't want to. I just want to make sure they're safe. I'm sure they would do the same for me.”
He turned toward the horizon. “I also want to find out what they’re after. Samuel has never been one to risk his life without reason. What does he know that we don't?”
 





CHAPTER 25
The patient was nervous. He wasn't nervous about what would happen to him during the operation. He was scared of not performing as he should. He was scared that they would cancel the surgery and he would be excluded in taking part in the most important technological advancement in the history of man. Yes, he was nervous, but he was also excited as they wheeled him into the operation room, because so far it looked like it was going to happen.
He had, of course had an operation before on his brain. But that was to install the first card, and not nearly as invasive as this surgery. The other procedure had been to enhance his own brain’s capacity and capability. This new procedure, however, would be to add a co-processor; in essence adding a second brain. Nothing had ever been attempted like this, and he was a part of it. Excitement started to build within him. 
The anesthesiologist moved into the light. “I am going to put you under, since we will have to open your skull for this operation.” 
No candy coating here, just tell it like it is, he thought. “Sure,” he responded. They gave him a shot. His excitement started to fade. He was losing his nervousness. He felt a weakness come upon him and then he began to have a feeling of vague fear. A thing without a name. A new “what if,” settled in his mind. But before he could even make it a real thing in his mind, he started losing his focus. Everything was covered with a blanket of drowsiness. He felt warm and tired, more tired than he had ever felt. Drifting to sleep, he at last heard the surgeon say, “Just a little longer...”
The anesthesiologist waited a couple more minutes and then signaled the surgeon. “He's out.” 
“Great,” said the surgeon. “Let's make history.” He made the opening incision. In an adjoining room, a panel of bioengineering scientists, medical experts, and top staff at the company watched in expectation. Eugene, or E2175 as he was called now, watched alongside the Operations Manager. They could almost taste the future. 
The surgeon opened the side of the skull where the current chip was seated. The chip itself was just an interface into circuits that sent electrodes into the brain. The current technology consisted of eleven wires planted carefully into specific portions of the brain for receiving and sending communications, for processing information, and for simple data storage and retrieval. They removed the patient’s old interface. It just took a minute. Then the surgeon held it up, looking it over. He had a look of disgust on his face, as if this was the cause of some disease. At that moment the chief technician handed him the new apparatus. It was a whole circuit board, compared to the earlier small chip that was about the size of the man's ear. This new unit was almost as large as the whole side of his face. Carefully, the surgeon massaged the man's brain.
He cut the divisions between the two halves of the man's brain. A common procedure in the distant past, but not one used much these days. He gently inserted the board between the two halves and looked at the monitor where all his vital signs were displayed. Everything was going just fine. It seemed the patient was dreaming. 
“Okay, let's get it hooked up,” said the surgeon. This required extra hands, and those more capable than his. His assistant was Dr. Chin, a man sent from the other side of the world, and one of the world’s leading experts in both the medical field and high-tech AI research. The surgeon wondered why they still used names in that part of the world.
“Dr., please push on the device here, making a gap between the brain and the device,” said Dr. Chin. “Now keep steady as I begin to make the connections.”
In the other room, E2175 heard that last phrase as if in a dream. “Keep steady,” he whispered. He looked down at his own hands. Not shaking as badly today, but still such surgery would not be possible for him ever again. So sad. But at least he would play a part in this tremendous advancement.
Dr. Chin watched a screen that gave precise locations for each point and gave a real-time image of his insertions. He pushed the first pin into the soft gray substance. Watching the screen, he carefully maneuvered it to where it had to go. This was an extremely delicate operation and took several minutes, but there were 48 electrodes in all, so this would be a long procedure. Once perfected, they hoped to be able to program AI to do this operation, but not until it was perfected. Too many variables. The surgeon who was now the assistant, held the lobes steadily apart. 
Forty minutes later and six more electrodes. Dr. Chin told the surgeon to relax. He let the lobes gently come together. After a couple of minutes to rest, they began again, this time he connected both halves of the brain directly to the circuit by attaching a device that clamped onto both sides of the severed connections. This, along with other connections that would occur later, would insure that all brain activity went through the processor first. No longer was the brain to be the dominant controller of this person, but a kind of co-control would exist.
Once complete, Dr. Chin smiled. “Thank you doctor,” he said. The surgeon let go of the brain lobes and stepped back where the anesthesiologist and a technician stood. The technician’s job included watching the monitoring equipment and making adjustments as necessary. For the time being, the surgeon would not be needed unless there was an emergency.
After six and a half hours, the surgery was done. Dr. Chin gave a nod to the technician. The technician consulted several screens, graphs, charts, and statistical readouts, and then gave a yes nod back.
Dr. Chin whispered to the anesthesiologist, “It's time.”
The anesthesiologist took out a large three-inch needle. The container of liquid attached to the needle was so large it could clearly be seen from the viewing room. He gave the patient quite a dose of something in a brownish liquid. It hurt just to watch. Once administered, the doctors stood back. 
“What's that for?” asked the Director of Operations in the viewing room. 
“Time for reboot,” said E2175. “We cannot bring him online unless the brain activity is halted almost entirely.”
“Did he know about this part of the procedure?”
“Do you think he would have agreed to it if he had?” said E2175. “It was all in the paper work, but was not mentioned by name.”
Another observer, one who so far had stood quietly, said, “So basically, you're going to kill the guy and bring him back where the computer is now in control.”
“Shared control, but that's right. And it's very astute of you—though I wouldn't put it in such terms myself. It sounds more barbaric the way you say it.”
“I'm sorry, I should introduce you to the general of our military,” said the Operations Manager.
E2175 said, “I thought we were a peaceful society. I didn't know we had a military.”
“We don't,” said the Operations Manager.
 





CHAPTER 26
She stayed at home for the evening, having only the most minimal feed interference. She wanted to think, and she wanted to feel. She wanted to know herself, something she had never done before. X213 started asking herself questions. Her first question was, without the feeds to occupy her every minute, what did she like doing? Why did she usually go to work and home but nowhere else? Was there something wrong with her? These questions were hard, because she realized she didn't have any answers, and the answers would not come from some database in the sky, but from inside of her and that seemed harder to access. 
For now, the questions would have to wait because this morning she would to go back to work one last time in order to talk to the man in her office.
X got herself ready, but did not eat. She didn't feel like it this morning. She didn't know why. When she kept the feeds down to a minimum, she noticed that she didn't get the shakes. That was good. Maybe she could reverse this thing. She went to the drug cabinet like every morning, but when she took out the pills, she thought about what each one of them did. Stress, anxiety, the sleeping pills (so she needed less), and some she didn't even know why the doctor had prescribed them. Even as she had opened one bottle and put the red and blue pills in her hand, she changed her mind. She wanted to deal with life on her own terms and not on the terms of the drugs. She decided that she had a choice, and she chose to handle it on her own.
She did drink coffee, however. She liked the way it tasted and smelled.  
Afterward, she climbed into the pod and was off to her job.
The building was the same as usual, but it felt different somehow. It was not the office, she realized, that had changed. It was her. 
Upon entering, she saw the same people doing the same jobs. No one talked. Only the sounds of moving chairs and clicking keys. The feeds were silent. But something did get her attention. The man whom she had talked to the other day, the whole reason she came to work one last time, was gone. He did not sit in his customary chair. She wondered what could have happened. Was he sick? Was he suffering from something? Had he reached the same conclusions that she had on his own?
She went over to his desk. An old computer hummed. On the screen was a memo to be sent via feed, she assumed. But the memo said, “X213, I have something you should probably know. I think something big is about to happen. There is an experiment that the company is about to start. It might be dangerous since it involves a more complete interface of man and machine. Make sure you don't get the upgrade if they ever offer it. I sort of stumbled into this information.”
“You should also know that I will no longer be here. I realized that this is no place for me after all. You are the only person I ever talked to at our work. I would be surprised if you even read this since we only spoke once. Since I began working here, I always thought of you as the daughter I wish I had.”
She was glad he had left. She was glad he realized that this way of living was not really life. Wasn't it interesting, she thought, that they had both reached the same conclusion on the same day. The man seemed closer to it than she did at the time, so she should not be surprised at that.
Well, she certainly won't be getting any upgrade, she thought. In fact, she won't even be working here. She decided she would walk out of this office and never return. As she turned to go, she saw some men walk into the room. They were dressed like they worked here, but she had never seen them before. No one else seemed to be paying attention because they had so much going on in their heads with the feeds and sending and receiving reports, and communicating with bosses and receiving communications. These men obviously did not belong. 
She didn't at first know what to do. Then she decided to approach them. “What do you need?” she asked. 
“We are new interns,” one of them said. He had penetrating brown eyes, dark skin, and a square, stern face. “We were told there would be some training we should attend.”
“Well, I don't know where you would be trained,” she said, “unless the Operations Manager intended to meet with you himself. But if you wanted to make yourself useful, you might want to go to that desk over there. The man who usually sits there won't be back. Get yourself used to the feel of sitting in a chair staring at a screen, or if you take my job, staring at nothing at all, for fourteen hours.”
“Are you leaving?” the man asked.
“Yes,” she said. “I am through with this kind of job—with this kind of life. I need out.”
The man looked interested. While the four other men went over to the missing man's desk, the man with the penetrating eyes asked, “Why would you want to leave? I mean, isn't this what will make all our dreams come true? Doesn't technology hold the key to our future?”
“I don't believe that anymore,” she said. 
“Glad to hear it,” he said. “Neither do I.”
“What?” she said, taken aback by this response. “But I thought you were interns?”
“Do you intend to stay in this job?” he asked.
“No, I was just about to leave. I’ll never come back to this.” It was strange, but when she said that, she felt like crying again. She got control of herself.
“Where will you go?” said the man with the eyes.
“I don't know, but probably far from here,” she said. This time a tear did fall, but that was all.
“Would you go to the Outcasts camp?” he asked.
This last question made her fearful and suspicious. There were reports of spies in the company who were paid to try to root out those who were not fully committed to their job. These people would lie in order to catch someone's true motive. If this was one of those men, his questions were dangerous traps. Then again, she was about to leave this job, leave this place, so what did she care? “I might,” she said. “I only know I want out.”
“Very good,” he said, this time with a slight smile. “I'm happy to hear it. It's about time someone here put two and two together. This kind of life will ruin you.”
Just then one of the men with red hair said, “Chief, I think you should check this out.”
He walked over to where the other men were at the old man’s desk. On the computer screen was the note, but in an opened drawer of the desk was a small handheld computer. It was for people who did not have access to the feeds. On this one, the indicator light that signaled that it was detached from the feed system was blinking. From where she stood, she saw that the screen held schematics for some new piece of technology. One of the men said, “I think I know what this is.”
“Yes, Wallace?” said the man with the piercing eyes they called chief.
“Wait a minute,” she interrupted, “only the Outcasts use names.”
“That's right,” he said, “but we prefer to be called Waldenese.” Then he put his finger to his lips, saying, “shhhhhhh, it's our secret.”
“Don't worry,” she said, “I won't turn you in. That is, unless you’re planning something violent.”
“No violence, I promise,” said the lead man. “My name is Samuel.”
“Chief,” said Wallace, “I'm taking this with us.”
“Good idea,” said Samuel. “I think we found what we're looking for anyway. Easier than I expected.”
“Are you coming with us?” said Samuel.
“Y-Yes,” she said. Where were those pills that helped with nervousness?
She showed them an easier, quicker way out of the building. When they were walking away from it, Wallace spoke up. “This experiment they are getting ready to do, or maybe have already done, is dangerous in the worst way. They are planning to insert a microboard with a processor in it in such a position in the brain that it would be the one calling the shots. If that were done, there are some weird things that could happen.”
“Such as?” Samuel asked.
As they walked, people ignored them, as usual. “Well, one possibility might be that the board takes over and shuts down the brain. If that happens he would act as a robot. Nobody gets hurt there, except for him. He would be essentially brain dead, like a zombie or something.”
“Weird,” said Samuel.
Wallace went on, “Oh, then there's the possibility that the brain and the processor could actually co-exist and thinking capacity and speed would be dramatically increased. This is probably their ideal scenario.”
“But then there's another possibility. What if the brain rejects the implant? Since the implant is the go-between for the brain’s two halves, he would lose most or all capacity to function. He might become a vegetable or die. This would not spread to others, but would certainly be no fun for him.”
“Hmmm,” said Samuel. “What do you think is most likely to happen?”
“Well, chief,” said Wallace, “There's no way for me to know. This is so advanced, it is total speculation. It could be the beginning of a new race, or the end of our own. Or it could just be a failed, but radical experiment.”
“I don't like any of those scenarios,” said X213.
“Neither do I,” said Samuel. “We will have to keep a lookout.”
“Do you think Little Brother can help with that?” said another man from the group.
“That's just what I was going to find out,” said Samuel.
 





CHAPTER 27
Sydney laid out the terms and they were simple and good. There was plenty of land for their new house and they could build it from whatever materials they wished. Since tools were limited, their main options seemed to be either a mud hut (like he had seen for most houses) or bricks (which might take time to make) or one built with sticks or wood. 
The area reserved for community purposes would be a yard, the document said: either a front or back yard. The main idea was that children and adults would have access and it would be for them a community place to meet. 
“So, what is the communal area at your house?” said Odysseus.
“You're in it,” said Sydney. “This whole house is a place where people can stay and receive hospitality. It is a special arrangement, and one that so far has been treated with respect. It is understood that if someone is in trouble, or without shelter, they can stay here. We agreed that this can be so. No one made it a requirement.”
“Wow,” said Odysseus. “That must be a bit inconvenient at times.”
“It can be, but it is also very rewarding. When I think about all the people who I know well that would otherwise be strangers, I am thankful to have this place. Anyway, we were the first.”
“What do you mean the first?” said Odysseus.
“The first to settle in this area,” he said. “Of course there are others, and communities vary from place to place, but my wife and I established this one.”
“So,” Sydney continued, “do you want to see the place?”
“I certainly would,” said Jane. She had been busy getting their sleeping room cleaned up. “I can't wait! A place of our own.”
A few minutes later they were standing on a plot of ground that was at the lower part of a slope. The terrain was the same: red dirt, scrub brush, with no other distinguishing feature. “Is this where we're going to live?” said Hamlet.
“Yup,” said Sydney.
The children started to play. Chasing each other, playing tag. 
Jane came up to her husband who was looking toward the horizon. On this side of the mountain, they could just see the city in the distance. It was a reminder of where they had been. Something to look at and not despise so much as be thankful that their lives were better now. “Home,” she said as she stood by her husband and he put his arm around her.
 





CHAPTER 28
In order for a reboot, the patient had to be brought down to very low functionality by the anesthesiologist. Then they had to immerse him in ice water. This slowed his brain functions even more. When he was about as close as they could get, the anesthesiologist said, “Power up.”
In the observation room, a group of men watched in anticipation. “What's that mean?” said the general of the military, O-1603.
E2175, one of the inventors of the technology, said, “That means the electronics, which were turned off during the install, are going to come online now. Since his brain is in very low functionality, the hardware and software will have an easier time subduing it.”
“Subduing it?” said a short, pointy nosed man who was watching quietly. “It sounds like a hostile operation.”
“Well, it sort of is,” said E2175. “The brain can no longer be allowed to be the only one in command. It will share much of its control with the processor. In fact, the processor will be the one to determine triage, so really, it has more control than the brain.”
“Wow,” muttered the pointy nosed man. “Isn't that dangerous?” 
“It's not without risk,” said E2175. “But if successful, this could be the greatest leap forward we have received for many years.”
They watched intently at the operation taking place. Dr. Chin used a small device that looked like a stylus. He said to the surgeon, “Please separate the lobes one last time.”
The surgeon did so and Dr. Chin touched the stylus to the processor. Immediately the man's eyes opened. With his head still opened up it was a disturbing sight. He looked up at the ceiling and then at Dr. Chin, and said, “I—I think I'm okay.”
“Glad to hear it,” Dr. Chin said. “Now get some rest. We still have more to do.” The patient obediently closed his eyes again. “Let's get him back together.”
Both men spent the next hour putting his skull back together and sewing the skin in place. There was no hair since it had already been shaved for the operation. 
In the observation room, men cleared out, now that the excitement was over. One man remained behind, the general, who stared at the patient for several minutes through the observation window. 







CHAPTER 29
The Director of Operations was satisfied that the procedure went so well. He knew this was a risky experiment, but then again, taking those kinds of risks was what brought him to the top of the company, and the world. Internationally, things were fine, but right now, the world was in for something totally unexpected. This new turn in technology could bring about a new age of enlightenment for man. Man would no longer be the only ruler on earth, but a co-ruler with computers. It was exhilarating to think that he would live to see the new evolution of man. And this time, evolution was on purpose, not just some accident that turned out well in the end.
But being a realist, the Director also had plans in case things went wrong. He had been here before. The other experiments were not as bold, but bold enough. And the ones that went wrong? They had to dispose of the body and the technology. That was easier. It was all the other documented loose ends that were a problem. He had to have whole sections of his staff discarded at times, though not necessarily killed. It was a sticky business, but that's what the general was for. His men were loyal and ruthless and...one of the experiments that was successful. A chip placed in each soldier’s brain overruled fear, doubt, or even self-preservation. The secret army had been one of the first initiatives the Director of Operations put into effect as soon as he became the new ruling authority. 
He had to build it up slowly at first, making sure people did not suspect. It gave the wrong impression to tell the people that you are building a peaceful society and then create a colossal destructive force. He first hired the technicians who could create a chip capable of making perfectly obedient followers. This was essential to having an army that was trustworthy. The history of the world was peppered with great nations that were brought down by one individual who betrayed them. This could not happen. There could be no disobedience.
In order to have complete secrecy, those chosen for this service were siphoned off of from the general public. There were those who were reprogrammed workers who had witnessed too much and had to be disposed of, but then there were others that had to come from a different source. For instance, there might be a tragic accident and one of the power generators exploded destroying an island somewhere. That was what the media would say, anyway. When this happened, they rescued the islanders, reprogrammed each person, telling them it was just a maintenance check. They would replace their regular chip with an obedience chip. Then they simply explained to the families that that individual had perished in the accident. That was the easy part, because people seldom grew too attached to others these days. Not like the old days. People had a life now.
The Director of Operations had not been down there for a while and he wanted to check in on the troops. He got into a lift and descended below the basement level. It was not even on the floor selector. He pressed the basement button, but also held the 1st and the 3rd floor buttons at the same time. That was the code to get the lift to go to this unknown level. 
Fortunately, the lift was extremely fast. No need to waste time with slow technology. People have a short life as it is, no need to waste it waiting for things to happen. He had once read about earlier years and how they would spend whole years of their lives sitting in their transports waiting for lights to change color in order to move forward, and about computers that had to warm up in order to work properly. He had read all kinds of absurd things like this. Those archives had come through on the feeds for him to listen to and he was amazed at the primitives who lived here before. Well, things were different now. 
Life was certainly more advanced, more worth living. How could people have been so foolish to let it all go so easily? Oh well, that was the old race. This change will make all that obsolete.
As the feeds came in, the Director of Operations learned about new developments that were occurring with the patient. It seemed that all was going well and the patient was just coming out of his anesthesia. That was good. Now we can get down to finding out how successful they've been, he thought. 
The lift stopped and the door opened. A well-lit cavern was spread before him; so large the ceiling could not be seen and the other wall was a distant blur. What at first sounded like a rush of water, once he listened more closely, was a mixture of thousands of voices. Divisions of soldiers performing different training exercises, trying out various weapons, exercising, and going through all kinds of maneuvers made the cavern alive with activity. There were open bunks against one wall that stretched out of sight. There was no need for shelter since there were no differing weather patterns, and there was no need for modesty in a group of perfectly programmed soldiers. They only did what was commanded.
There was A2165. He had been an important man just three years earlier. Some of the greatest innovations had come through him, including the earliest feed technology. It was too bad he had stumbled onto some hidden military files. A2165 ran in formation, then dove over a barrel and crawled under a wire along with his platoon. A good little soldier. His family thought he had been killed in a lab fire.
Stepping out onto the raised platform, the Director of Operations took another shorter exposed lift down twenty feet to ground level and walked over to the general. Only the general was not programmed as it would hinder his creativity. He had undergone many physical, mental, and emotional tests and trials in order to assure he was faithful to his post. “General,” said the Director of Operations.
“Yes, sir,” said the general as he saluted.
“No need to do that,” said the Director, “It's too much of an old race thing.”
“No problem, sir,” said the general.
“How are things progressing?” said the Director.
“Very well,” said the general as he watched a group of his men practice firearms. “I think they will be ready according to schedule. You know, it's not like they will need to be extremely capable in order to accomplish our mission.”
“I want to make sure things go smoothly and easily. I only wish the training could have been all done through technology. If that was the case we would not need to take so much valuable time.”
“Well, you understand,” said the general, “muscles need to be built up, hand eye coordination still takes practice when firing a weapon, people still need to learn to work as a team. All these things cannot be done with a chip. It would be nice if it could, but I don't think it's ever going to happen.”
“You think too little of the power of technology,” said the Director.
“I know it does wonders, I just don't think it can do everything.”
“Yet,” said the director. “So, when will they be ready to move out?”
I think the end of next week will be a good time for our launch.”
“Very good.”
Seeing endless wave after wave of soldiers gave the Director a feeling of power. All the power in the world. All would certainly go well. This was a very good day. And this was just the beginning.
 





CHAPTER 30
As the patient stirred, the doctors watched with silence and a sense of awe. The patient, now sitting up on the table, did not move except to blink his eyes. He would blink five or six times and then move his head a little and then do it again. This response was not a surprise as this was how people often processed new information—by blinking. It was well known in psychological circles. It might have been that the patient was seeing the world for the first time via the chip interface. 
The patient now looked at them and blinked five more times. Then he opened his mouth, but nothing came out. He closed it again. Then opened it again and said, “thirstywaterdrinkliquidsatisfy.”
The doctors started for a second, then one said, “Do you want a drink?”
“Yesafirmativepositivetrue,” said the patient.
The doctor got a cup of water and handed it to the patient. The patient took a drink and handed back the empty cup.
“How do you feel?” asked a doctor.
“Tiredexhaustedpoopeddrained,” he said.
The doctor said, “Go ahead and rest. You can lay down for now.”
The patient laid down silently and went to sleep.
“What do you think happened with his speech?” asked one of the doctors. “He did not know which word to say.”
“Maybe his communications center is not functioning properly,” said a second doctor.
One doctor, with a smirk said, “It might be that he is trying to say every possible word at the same time and can't get them all out.”
“Perhaps it's the database access,” said another. “I used to work in that field of research. He is trying to access every word with the same meaning. Like when he said, thirstywaterdrinkliquidsatisfy. He was thirsty, he wanted water, he wanted a drink of liquid that would satisfy. All those concepts had a drink of water in common. He just isn't making a choice of which word in that association to use.”
“The chip may be having difficulty with triage,” said another doctor.
“Do you think we were successful?” asked the first.
“We cannot tell,” said the old database engineer turned doctor.
“We will wait,” said the first doctor.
“Yes, we will wait,” said the other.
 





CHAPTER 31
While Poke was busy stoking the fire, getting ready for lunch, X4287 approached her. She had not seen him all day even though he was still staying with them. He seemed to be doing better and was going regularly to the meetings to cope with the transition. He was not a talkative man, but more contemplative. He stepped up to her and stood by the fire. “Hi,” she said.
“Hi,” he answered back.
“Have you had a good day?” she asked.
“I think so,” he said. “I hope so, anyway.”
“So,” she said uncertain what to say next, “have you come to any conclusions?”
“Yes,” he said. “I like it here. I have also decided on a name. It has taken me a lot of thought, but I think I have one I like.”
“Let me hear it,” she said.
“Zosimus,” he said. “I learned the name after talking to the boy, Hamlet.”
“I have never heard a name like that before,” she said, “What does it mean?”
“It means ‘likely to survive’ in Greek. I am happy that I have survived so far, but I like the idea that I will continue to survive.”
“That sounds good,” she said. She poked at the fire. “It is a name with some hope attached, and that is always needed.”
“I think so too,” he said as he sat down. What gives you hope?”
“I don't know. I guess my family.” She looked to one side for a second as if thinking of something else and said, “and...something else.”
“What is that?” he asked.
“The past,” she said. “The past life I had with the Technos was dark and lacked any sense of hope. I was rescued, and knowing that can happen for people, that they can be so lifeless one day and the next full of thoughts about the future. That gives me hope. Not just for myself, but for others. It gives me hope to see them have hope.”
“That is a good thought,” said Zosimus. “That is a very good thought.”
After a short pause, Zosimus continued, “You know, I enjoy thinking more than I ever imagined I would. When I had the feeds, I never could think. I did not have time, or headspace. I was lacking a whole life in just thinking. Now I like to observe and then think about what I observed. I like to listen and then think about what I heard. Then there are times that I will just think about things I have thought about before, but from a different perspective. I think that is one thing I enjoy most: the ability to think.”
She looked at him and smiled. “It's a wonderful thing, isn't it?”
“It certainly is,” he said. “And what you told me about the past tragedy giving me hope for the future. That was something to think about too.” 
“I'm glad to hear it,” she said.
Odysseus approached the fire.
“Hello, Odysseus,” said Poke.
“Hello, Poke,” said Odysseus. “And hello to you X4287.”
“My name is Zosimus,” said Zosimus. “It means likely to survive.”
“A very good name,” said Odysseus. Then turning to Poke, “My wife and I are very excited about the new place. We have talked about how it should look and where the windows will face. I can't believe such possibilities exist. In the city there were no choices. No choice of a spouse, or a job, or a place to live. Everything was assigned to you. I certainly am happy with my wife, but the other choices were much less to be happy about.”
“Yes, choice is a wonderful thing,” said Poke.
“You know, one thing my wife and I have been discussing lately?”
“What's that,” said Poke, staring at the fire.
Odysseus sat down next to Poke and across from Zosimus. “We heard that in this area there is a rite that is observed when two people want to get married. I know we have been together for a long time, my wife and I, but we had never heard of such a thing before. We were expected to move in together when the government gave us the assignment.”
Odysseus started to stare at the fire as well now. “It would mean a lot if we could go through the rite of marriage because it was something we chose. It would mean a lot to both of us. It is one thing to know the other person has to be there for you. It is another to know the other person wants to be there for you.”
“Yes, that's right,” said Poke. “I understand that.”
“So, how do I go about it?” asked Odysseus.
She smiled, and looking up at Odysseus, she said, “Well, that takes a little bit of planning.”
 





CHAPTER 32
The patient had not stirred that night at all, according to the cameras. Dr. Chin was in the room with him now, looking at his statistics, reading the brain activity. Now that the brain was no longer calling the shots except through the gateway of the processor, irregular activity was their main concern. But it seemed that the chip was controlling all primary functions as it ought to be. The brain was acting in a healthy, normal way, even through the intervention of the chip. 
On another bank of diagnostic screens, Dr. Chin noticed that the chip was clearly taking on some activity as well. It was analyzing the functions of the brain, certain bodily functions and capabilities, and was so far performing a basic assessment of its environment before taking much of a mental load from the patient’s own brain. This was good. It was precisely the way the chip was designed. And since the chip included the most advanced AI systems, it was learning and developing its awareness and ability.
Yes, things were going very well. 
The Doctor checked his own chip clock. It was time for lunch. Good, he was getting hungry, and would like to sit for a while anyway. He left the room thinking of all the advancements coming up for the regular population if this experiment worked out.
***
After lunch, Dr. Chin came back to see how the patient was doing. Vital signs good. Brain activity…brain activity was slowed a bit. It was not at dangerously low levels, just less. He took a look at the chip’s functionality. It had increased its activity since before lunch. It appeared that the chip was now taking on part of the load of the thought processes of the patient. That was good as well. 
He checked the patient's eyes. He was currently in REM sleep. That meant that the brain and the chip were sharing a dream. Very interesting. He never would have thought of the possibility that a chip could share in this process. There had been no AI to date that could dream. This was advancing the known science of bioengineering and AI technology. Dr. Chin recorded these observations mentally and sent a feed to the respective scientific communities who had clearance and who would benefit from the knowledge. The Operations Manager would want to know about this also, so he sent a special message to him. 
Wonderful. A good day and a good job. He might as well let the patient rest. Although his body so far seemed at rest, his mind was racing and learning. Modern technology, he thought, is an amazing thing.
As he turned to leave the room, the patient's eyes opened. He looked in the direction of the leaving Doctor, and then closed them again.
 





CHAPTER 33
Sydney first had to propose. That was the way it was done Poke had said. 
So, on an evening when he could leave the children at home, he and his wife left to go outside for a walk. They loved to walk now that there was something besides the city to look at. Usually, the whole family would be reading a story out loud right about now, but today was different. 
They walked slowly for a while, going uphill toward the summit of Tumuleiah. It was only a twenty minute walk, but relaxing. They said very little to each other on the way. The sun was already going down.
When they had reached the summit, they looked toward the house and past it. The sunset was a brilliant red, with streaked clouds in the middle of the sky. Although the city was in the distance, the gray tall buildings seemed subdued by the hand of God, looking less substantial than what was nearby. After a while, Jane spoke up. “I love it here.” Odysseus could see she had a tear in her eye. “I can't even believe it's real.”
“It's as real as my love for you,” he said. She leaned into him and he put his arm around her. They walked over to a bench that had been set up for viewing in this area. When she sat down, Odysseus knelt on one knee. He was surprised at how nervous he felt. He hoped he didn’t mess this up. Feeling himself still too proud on one knee, he went down on the other too. 
They had talked about maybe someday doing this, but she had not thought him that serious. Her heart skipped a beat.
“Jane,” he said, looking deep into her eyes, “will you marry me?” He held out a ring: gold with a precious stone, maybe topaz or some other light bluish stone. 
“Yes,” she said, knowing the tradition and what it meant. “But how did you get the ring?” she said.
He smiled. “I had the smith make it. He said he does it special for lovers.”
“I love it,” she said. “And I love you! It is so wonderful, this new life we have together. I cannot imagine any other life than this one.”
“Neither can I,” he said. He sat down now beside her and put his arms around her for a moment and she rested in his embrace.
“So, when do you want to get married?” he said. “I am told there is a ceremony and everything that people do. It is from a very old tradition.”
“I would like to get married as soon as my husband learns to dress,” she said.
He looked down. He was wearing a pair of green pants with a blue sweater. “What,” he said. “Don't you like the way I dress?”
“Not if you dress like that,” she said. “If I'm going to be your wife, I'm going to have to teach you better.”
“Yes, sir,” he said.
“Oh, don't treat me like that,” she said. “I just want my man to look good when he goes about.”
“Why the change?” he said.
“Well, before,” she said, “it was like it was my job, being your wife. I did not want to impose too much on you. But now that it’s your choice, I feel I can speak up about certain things.”
“Hey,” he said “we're not married yet!” He gave her a smirk.
She laughed. “So I say, let's do that as soon as we can. Does it take long to get ready?”
“I just moved into the neighborhood,” he said. “I don't know yet. I’ll go back to my source and find out more about this custom of marriage.”
“Great,” she said. “I look forward to it.”
They walked slowly on, admiring the scenery. Watching birds fly overhead, they held each other. “I love this place,” she said. “Do you think it will stay this way forever?”
“I hope so,” he said. “But you can never know. If it doesn’t, will you still be my wife?”
“Always,” she said.
“Glad to hear it,” he said.
 





CHAPTER 34
It was night time. The patient opened his eyes and looked around the room without moving his head. Cameras were stationed around the room, so he closed his eyes and waited.
***
In another room, the security camera triggered a computer response program that sent a feed to the Director and the Doctor. Within a few minutes both men stood in the computer room looking over the recording. The patient had opened his eyes, but did not move his head. “Hmmm, odd,” said Dr. Chin.
“Dr. Chin,” said the Director, “could you tell me about this?” He was pointing to the brain function monitor. 
The monitor was showing some odd patterns. “That's unusual,” said Dr. Chin. “Let's check the chip functionality.” Turning to the other bank of monitors, Dr. Chin pressed a few buttons. “Hmmm,” he said. “It appears that the chip functionality is increasing dramatically and so is the brain activity. They are growing together. Just what we had hoped.”
“What does it mean?” said the Director.
“It means that they are running massive parallel processes,” said Dr. Chin. “The brain is faster when linked to the circuitry, and the chip is faster when linked to the brain. They run parallel processes while solving problems.”
“But what problem is it solving now?” asked the Director.
“I couldn't tell you that,” said the Doctor. “That would require mind reading. I can tell you this though. The part of the brain that is active right now is the memory center, so perhaps the chip is analyzing these memories. I find that fascinating. In fact, I should make a note of it.”
Having no other observations to make, Dr. Chin and the Director left for the night. The patient, lie perfectly still and muttered quietly, “Transference complete.”
 





CHAPTER 35
On a blue carpeted floor, T-5529 played with blocks while the child care workers watched. Watched was probably too strong a word, since most of their attention was given to receiving and sending their own feeds. They communicated with family and acquaintances, performed over-the-feed transactions and learned about trivia and interesting facts that tickled their minds. To the outside observer it looked like two women, expressionless, staring at nothing in particular in total silence. Every once in a while, they looked again in T-5529's direction to make sure she was still okay.
T-5529 played in a small sectioned off area by a flexible gate. In the room there were four other children, also sectioned off by themselves so that caring for them would be easier and to prepare them for the world they were about to enter. When they grew up, interactions with other people would not be as important as their ability to process information, learn, and make decisions. For this reason, every child had his or her own toys that fostered these traits.
The workers looked beyond the room, receiving feeds and checking on the children from time to time.
When 8:00pm came, T-5529's mother came. She said hi to the ladies, and with complete cordiality, picked up her child and left. She did not talk to her daughter, as she was still finishing work over the feeds. She performed triage for a technical support firm. Once the case was assigned to the correct AI, she would move on to the next case. She was quite efficient at her job and had been steadily working her way up in the company. 
When she got home, she and her daughter stepped out of the pod and entered the house. Her husband, D1298, was already home. “Food is ready,” he said to both of them. 
Absently she said, “Okay,” in a ghost-like manner. Her mind was on finishing up the feeds for her job. She was nearing the end. They sat down to eat. She worked through most of dinner, but then suddenly, as if returning from a trip, said, “Hello, everyone. How are you?”
“Doing well,” said D1298. 
“Good,” she said. Then she turned on another set of feeds, those used for entertainment and news. Her husband, was also going through those feeds that interested him. He was interested in the news, but was also subscribed to a learning feed. He was hoping to change careers in the future and was trying to get trained in AI programming. It was becoming a big field and would pay better than his current job.
T-5529 sat at a quiet table with her mother and stepfather eating silently, their minds somewhere else.
When she was done, she excused herself and went to her room to play.
At the end of dinner, T-5529's stepfather said to his wife, “Guess what I heard today?”
“What is that?” she responded.
“I received a bit of news over the feed about Samuel.”
“Really. Is he still trying to convince everyone to get out of the cities before it’s too late?” she said.
“This feed said that he had been spotted in a junkyard with a group of people,” he said.
“Sounds like his style,” she said.
“He wasn't all that bad, was he?” said her husband.
Anger flashed across her face. “He wanted to take us all out of here and have us live in the mountains or something. He wanted us to live off the land on roots and berries with no feed access. Cut off from the world!”
“But besides that, he was okay, wasn't he?” he said.
She stomped off into the bedroom. 
Her husband went to see how T-5529 was doing. She had a piece of paper out with some coloring sticks. She was coloring a picture of some sort. That was good creative thinking going on. A good skill to have. So far she had what looked like a man or a woman. “What is that thing?” he said, pointing to a green object over the head of the woman in the picture.
“That's the computer that controls mommy,” she said.
 





CHAPTER 36
In the morning, Dr. Chin arrived at the computer room to two team members talking excitedly. One was a bioengineer and another was an AI specialist. Both often had valuable input for this venture. “What is happening?” asked Dr. Chin.
“You tell us,” the bioengineer, H1549, said.
“This is getting a little weird for me,” said the AI specialist. His name was A116 (He had one of those expensive short ID's.) “I love AI, don’t get me wrong, but what we are seeing here reminds me of a scary bedtime story.”
“What do you mean?” said Dr. Chin.
“What I mean,” said A116, “is that your patient is rewriting his wetware.”
“What?” said Dr. Chin.
H1549, always much more patient with explanations, spoke up. “When we came in an hour ago, we heard him, over the cameras, muttering the phrase, 'Processing and Reformatting, Processing and Reformatting.' We thought that was odd, so we looked at his brain activity. Take a look at this! It's a shot from almost an hour ago.” He clicked the history function on the screen and chose a particular segment. On the screen was a picture of the patient's brain activity. It should have been filled in with color, but it was only a dead, gray image, except for a small corner of the brain which seemed to be fully active.
“How could he still be alive and have that little brain activity?” said the doctor.
Impatient, A116 blurted out, “Look at the other part, then think about it!” He clicked on the resume real time button on the monitor. It showed nothing but gray with no activity at all, then one area lit up followed by another and another until most of the brain became active. 
“What does it mean?” said Dr. Chin.
“That's what we want to know,” said H1549. “Nothing like this has ever occurred. Ever.”
“I said, the whole thing seems like he is reformatting his memory space,” said A116.
“I still don't get it,” said H1549. 
“Okay,” A116 said, “if a computer is to be reused, you have to get rid of what's on it. You erase every piece of data on it. Then once that is done, you begin a rewrite. You put a new operating environment on it. Then you add whatever programs you want it to have so that you can perform the tasks needed.”
“Right,” said Dr. Chin. “Are you saying that his chip is rewriting his brain? That’s ridiculous!”
A116 looked a little jittery, like he had had too much coffee or needed to adjust his medicine. “Yeah, yeah, that's right. When I helped design the software, one of the main feature requests was to have an AI system that would improve efficiency in speed and problem solving capability. What if the software I wrote did all I asked it to do?”
“What do you mean?” said Dr. Chin.
A116, excited now, like his eyes were going to pop out of his skull, looked back and forth between the two men. “What if it decided that the brain was not as efficient as it could be? Or maybe it decided that the interface could never match perfectly between the computer portion and the brain unless one was made more compatible. It might be reformatting the brain so that it functions with the same software as the main CPU. It was already artificial intelligence, so it’s learning, remember?”
“But that can’t happen!” said H1549.
“So you say,” said A116. “But I think that is exactly what's happening.”
“Then here's the question,” said Dr. Chin. “If the brain was erased, does that mean the patient is dead? Brain death has always meant death.”
“I don't exactly know.” A116 looked at the screen for a few seconds. “But for the first time ever, the brain had a full backup through the hardware we added. Even with the brain inactive, the CPU kept things going.”
H1549 looked tired and angry. “Yes, but what about the man, his personality, who he was? Where did he go?”
No one had an answer. A116 just muttered to himself. “Hmmm. Hmmm.” The room was silent.
 





CHAPTER 37
It was warm and sunny and just after midday on the top of Tumuleiah where there lay a stretch of land that had been recently cleared of brush. White and blue flowers had been planted on two sides and were in full bloom.  In the middle, a red piece of cloth stretched down between a gathering of people. Jane, in a white dress, that had taken a lot of bartering of services from Odysseus, walked down the aisle with a smile so contagious no one who looked at her could help but smile themselves. Already in front was Odysseus, wearing a black leather vest over a perfectly white long-sleeved shirt. He also smiled and he could not take his eyes off of Jane.
As she approached, music was played by a small group of string players. The music was smooth, but lively, for this was a celebration. Recent friends and even some who were only recent acquaintances lined both sides of the aisle and stood watching her. Her walk was stately and elegant. Her face, lightly freckled, lit up as she made eye contact with Odysseus. Her hair was tied back from her face, but was a long and flowing dark brown.
She reached the front and stood to the left of Odysseus as he held her left hand in his right and they faced the audience.  The music stopped. He turned to the audience and spoke. “Friends and neighbors. We welcome you as we declare our commitment of love for one another. As you may know, in the society we came from, there was no allowance for the choice of a spouse. But from here on it is a freewill choice.”
He turned to face her and spoke gently. “I know there was no choice in our meeting, but there was in our staying together, and for that I am grateful. From the first that I met you, I grew to love you. I realize that the meeting of the two of us together may have seemed haphazard, but it was originated by God. I now declare that you are the delight of my eyes and my heart, and I have always and will always love you.”
With tears in her eyes, she said, “I believe that you have always been the right man for me since you first held my hand. You have been gentle and loving to me and to our children. Your character is one I can trust and I give myself to you, to be your wife, who will love and respect you for the rest of my life. I will always love you.”
The two of them kissed, both with tears in their eyes. Many in the audience were also crying.
After the kiss, the music started up again with a very lively dance tune. They turned to face the crowd, took each other in their arms for a few seconds, and proceeded to dance to the music. The crowd began to pair up and to dance as well. No one sat out, girl or boy. When someone started to sit down after a dance, they soon stood up again as they were asked to dance with a new partner. The celebration went on this way for several hours. 
Businesses had closed and so had schools for this occasion, for this was a small settlement and such entertainment was rare and welcome.
A table had been set up with food and drink for those who needed energy or refreshment for the great activity of the dance. Couples, long together, looked into each other’s eyes as if for the first time, reminded about the time they had said their commitments to each other. Girls giggled, told secrets, and giggled some more in groups of four or five. Boys talked in smaller groups, wondering what made the girls laugh like that. When one boy would work up the courage to ask a girl to dance and she accepted, the rest of the boys were encouraged and followed suit until everyone was up and dancing again.
When the sun was nearly set and those from the small community had said their goodbyes, Jane and Odysseus, having sent their children home, took each other again by the hand and walked down the trail to the place where he had proposed to her. “I want to show you something,” he said. Walking over to the same bench where they sat when he proposed, he pointed to the middle of the bench. At the top, their initials had been carved into it by the local wood carver in commemoration of their engagement and their wedding. 
“Thank you,” she said. A silent tear slid down her face.
“I don't have a lot to give you, but what I have is yours” he said.
“That’s the only thing I ever wanted,” she said, and they kissed. And the only witnesses were the setting sun and the open plain before them.
 





CHAPTER 38
Dr. Chin came back that evening from dinner to find that his patient had moved. He was now placed in a secure hold, a room for dangerous criminals. He approached the man on guard. “Why did they place him here and without my permission?”
“Sorry, sir,” said the guard. “I do not have that information. But there was a message left for you. Here it is.” He handed Dr. Chin a piece of paper. There was nothing written on it that could be read, but there was a series of numbers which, presumably, was machine readable. He took the paper and walked over to the lab where he had it scanned and the message was sent to him via secure feed. 
“Dr. Chin,” it said, “your project has taken an unusual turn. What started out as a means of accelerating the evolution of man has become much more than we could ever have expected. More than we could even have dreamed. Although the project will now be under a different jurisdiction, we would appreciate your involvement. If you still wish to work on this project further, please meet us at boardroom 16 at 8:30pm.”
He checked his internal clock. It was 8:23. He had just enough time. Taking the pod and two lifts, he reached boardroom 16 at 8:29.
When he entered, he saw the Director of Operations and a man who was introduced only as General. The director was watching his view screen with rapt attention when he entered. “Glad you could make it,“ the general said.
“What is going on?” said Dr. Chin. He wondered if he should share what he already knew about some of the recent developments with the patient, but decided against it. If they knew the whole thing, maybe they wouldn't let him stay on.
“What isn't going on?” said the general. “Take a look at this.” Projected on the wall, was the interior of the secure hold. On a gurney, he could see an oblong shape covered in what looked like gray thread. All the wires from the monitoring systems had been severed.
“What is that?” said Dr. Chin. 
“That,” said the Director, looking up at last, “is your patient.”
“What's happened to him?” said Dr. Chin.
“That's something I'd sure like to know,” said the general in his gravelly voice.
“Take a look at this, Doctor,” said the Director.
On the vidscreens, inset into the table, were vital statistics of the patient. All major body systems were presented. “But he’s not even connected to the monitors,” said Dr. Chin. “How is he getting this to us?”
“Your guess is as good as mine,” said the general.
“Can I request some help on this issue?” said Dr. Chin. 
The director looked up, “A116 and H1549? I thought they might be helpful as well. They are already on their way.”
“Thank you,” said Dr. Chin. “Can you put the vitals on the main screen?”
“Yes,” the stats showed up on the screen. He studied them for a minute before A116 and H1549 entered the room.
A116 did not even say hello, but barged in. “What's all that garbage?”
“Excuse me?” said the Director.
“I mean what's on the screen?” A116 said. “It can't be real, no one can have stats like that.”
“It's our patient,” said Dr. Chin.
“But he'd be dead!” said A116. “His heart rate has slowed down to near death and his breathing has stopped entirely. No one could live like that. Is he in a coma?”
“Could be,” said Dr. Chin. “Could you show the men the patient Director?” The image from earlier appeared on the screen. The gray thread wrapped around him, much like what a spider does to its prey.
H1549 gave a grunt of astonishment. Then he jabbed at the screen with his index finger. “Wha. . .What's that?”
“Our patient,” said Dr. Chin. “And he seems to be changing.”
H1549 said, “But wait a minute. How are we getting these stats?”
“We were just wondering that,” said the Director.
“I think I have an idea,” said A116. “The monitors were used to make sure he was healthy, right? What if it knows this and is using them to monitor itself while it makes these changes.”
“Why are you calling him an it?” said the Director.
“Because, with stats like that, how could it be human?” said A116.
H1549 walked closer to the projection on the wall, “And how can it access this? Look, there are no wires connected.”
“Well, there is the feed technology,” said the director.
“But that’s secure. There is no way to get in,” said H1549. 
“No way?” A116 said, “No way? There's always a way. Any security can be breached in time. Wasn't the idea to build the best, fastest thinking machine on the planet? What security would be able to stand up to that?”
“So you're saying it has access to whatever it wants, even secure regions of our systems?” said the Director. He gave a look at the general and nodded. The general left the room immediately.
“Who was that guy?” said A116.
“Nobody,” said the Director. “Nobody at all.”
 





CHAPTER 39
At the other end of the city, Wallace put down his headset. “Captain, we have been receiving more than usual static from our radios over the last couple of hours. I thought that odd, since these should be completely clear at the current distance. I tried to analyze it further, but what I found was just weird. Inside our signal I found another signal with a message repeated over and over.”
“What was it?” said Samuel.
“You’re going to love this. It said, ‘How do you keep an elephant from charging? Take away its credit card,’” said Wallace.
“A joke?” said Samuel.
“Yeah, an old joke,” said Wallace.
“What's the source?”
“I can't figure that part out,” he said, “It appears to be from all over.”
 





CHAPTER 40
Zosimus was happy to have his sight restored to him. It had been a gradual thing, but even more gradual was the recovery of his soul from the lifestyle that had seemed to take it from him. Now, realizing more daily that he did not need to have the feeds to feel a sense of purpose, he began another healing venture: Making friends. 
Methuselah was sitting in front of a fire holding a cup in his hands. He was looking into it, moving it in a slow circular pattern watching the black liquid circulate. He took another sip and then picked back up a book that had been sitting next to him on a rock. Zosimus came to him and sat beside him on another rock. “Hello, my friend,” said Methuselah.
“Good morning,” said Zosimus.
“Good evening,” said Methuselah.
“Evening? How could it be evening?”
“It is always evening somewhere,” said Methuselah. 
“Evening somewhere in the world?” said Zosimus.
“And evening everywhere for some people,” said Methuselah. “In my soul, it is evening always. In yours, I expect the morning is just dawning.”
“The end of one life can be the beginning of a new one,” said Zosimus.
“Ah, then do you also believe in God?”
“I'm keeping my options open,” said Zosimus.
“That is a start,” said Methuselah. “As the teacher said, he knocks upon the door and all we need do is open it. Your door is just beginning to creak.”
They both sat and looked at the fire for a few minutes silently. “What do you think is going to happen?” said Zosimus.
“I think I'm going to finish my coffee and then maybe take a bath,” said Methuselah. “I saw a fly talking to his buddies about me just a minute ago.”
“No, I mean the Technos,” said Zosimus. “Do you think they will ever try to attack us? Drive us out? Convert us?”
“I think I like my first answer best,” said Methuselah, now with a bit of a smile on his lips.
“But shouldn't we think ahead?”
Now Methuselah looked more serious. “I think that would be wise, but I also think I am too old to do anything either way. And as the teacher says, 'Each day has enough trouble of its own.' Right now I will worry about today. But you have seen a thing or two to worry you. Is that right?”
“Yes,” said Zosimus, “I have.” He stared at the flame but did not see it. Instead, he saw himself as a playful child, long ago. Then as if propelled into the future he saw that boy receive his first implant, less playful and more focused. He had been so proud at the time. Later he saw a man receiving an advanced model implant, now receiving feeds in a blur of activity, having no time for anything else. Finally he saw the last implant go wrong, and him being tossed out with the trash. 
But more important than those visions, he saw a vision of the future, the way the Director had shown him. The consultation he had before the implant. The master plan of the Technos. They would be a race without boundaries, without limits. And the only way to do that, said the Director, was to join man and machine. Machines would free humans to expand themselves infinitely. Eventually the lines between man and machines would be so blurred that they would be indistinguishable. Then, he said, they would rule the earth as a race without limits. Nature would be utterly subdued. There would be nothing untouched, “nothing unimproved,” he had said. 
It seemed to be long way off, but if it ever came about, surely the Waldenese would be pushed out, destroyed, or assimilated. But these people did not fight, nor did they have any desire to do so, it seemed. They had no weapons. It would be a slaughter, and he hoped to never be alive to see it.
“I know you think they will come for us,” said Methuselah bringing him out of his thoughts. “If they do and I am still alive, I will not run. Haven't been able to run for years. I will not fight. I will wait. . .and see.”
 





CHAPTER 41
O-1603, the general of the military, walked into a dimly lit room and sat down. The room's only light was from banks of computer screens that lined every wall with switches, buttons and keyboards. The keyboards were from an older time, but it was always possible that they could be useful in an emergency. Since each person in the room had direct chip to computer feed interfaces, they could control the systems much faster than anyone would ever be able to type. There were forty-nine people in all, sitting on chairs around the room, all staring at their screens. Each screen had a jumble of numbers, letters, words, and pictures. The images on the screen changed so rapidly it would have been impossible for a normal person to make sense of it. A series of wires attached at the top of each of their heads, stemmed from their brain implants and ran to their respective computer terminals. An experiment that went well, but had not been made public. Their feeds were thousands of times faster than any over the air feeds and was much more advanced. They also had unlimited access to everything, no clearance limit. The keys to heaven and hell.
“Gentlemen and ladies,” he said as all were turned in their seats toward him. 
“We were expecting your arrival,” one of them said. “The system told us through the camera interfaces, but your intent was not clear.” He muttered it as if in a trance. That always took time to get used to. Their voices were like something far off, like someone under a spell.
“Well, let's get down to it then,” said the general. “I am sure you are aware that there have been some new developments on the computer systems lately.”
“Yes,” another one said. “We have seen evidence of the enlightened one.”
“No, it isn't the enlightened one. It's just an experiment like you. It might be infiltrating our system though and I need you to try to isolate it and route it out. Can you do that?”
Another one answered. “He has shown us that we were right to trust him. He has given us his seal and what we were we will never be again.”
“What are you talking about?” said the general. “We need to wall this guy, this thing, off. Get him out of the system!”
“It is too late,” a woman in the back said, still staring at her screen. “He is the system and the system is him. And so are we. What we have hoped for has happened. . .and more is to come.” 
At this everyone turned around and looked back at their screens, ignoring the general completely. 
The general got the feeling he was walking on dangerous ground, so he backed out of the room and closed the door. When he did so, the lights went out.
 





CHAPTER 42
“What are you looking at?” said Sasha.
Martin stood just outside their house, staring at the horizon. “For just a few seconds, I could have sworn the lights went off in the city. But then they came back on.”
“But how could that happen?” said Sasha.
“I don't know, but it was weird and kind of spooky. I wonder if the Technos are having problems. Or maybe they are just trying out a new power supply or something. You can never tell with them. Always trying to improve themselves. Never improving what's on the inside, letting that part just rot away or waste away. How can they stand it?” 
“Are you coming to bed, Martin?”
“Yes, I'll be there,” he said.
At that moment there was an explosion. The top of one of their largest buildings just erupted in fire and smoke, but due to the distance from the city, Martin saw it before he heard it. Once the sound of the explosion reached them, people started coming out of their houses all over the Waldenese settlement. Each of the houses were in a line beside theirs. Neighbors came out and looked at the sight, all standing side by side.
One elderly man, who had recently moved to the area, said, “They've done it! Now they've done it. They've gone and blown themselves to kingdom come! I'll bet they tried something new and made a mistake. That's all it takes is one mistake. Blow themselves right off the planet one of these days. Should have lived like us. Should have made peace with themselves. Crazy people, they never learn!” He continued to rant, gesticulating with each phrase.
Others began to talk in lower tones. Couples talked to each other, husbands assuring wives and children. Trying to act braver than they felt, knowing it comes with the territory of being a man. Women and children sometimes crying. A baby cried terribly.
One man, who had not long ago left the Technos and was still recovering from the implant removal said, “Burn, baby burn! Ha ha ha ha. Let 'em burn!” He had tears in his eyes and was shaking from withdrawal after the removal.
The explosion could be seen throughout all the Waldenese communities. 
***
In a settlement not far from there, Sydney saw a light flash through the window. Without waking his wife, he got up and went to the front door and opened it. He heard a noise behind him. It was the children. “What happened?” asked Hamlet. 
Just as Sydney was about to say he didn't know, a booming noise came from outside. In the bedroom his wife said, “Honey? What was that?” She sounded scared.
“I don't know yet,” he said. “I'm checking on it.”
As he opened the door he saw the fire in the distance. Seeing it was the tallest skyscraper, he knew which place it had to be. “Whoa,” he said. “In the old days I used to pass that place every day on the way to work.” His wife got dressed and appeared at his side. His children also peered out through the window. 
They all gazed in wonder and shock. “What does it mean?” asked his wife.
“I don't know,” he said. “It's probably not good though. For them or for us.”
At that moment they heard the sound of running feet. It was Odysseus, running wildly. “I just saw it. Do you know what building that is?”
“Yeah,” Sydney said, “I do.”
“Can you believe it? Do you think it was a failed experiment?”
“How could it be?” said Sydney. “The experiments have always been to improve humans. How could that cause an explosion?”
“I don't know,” said Odysseus. “It almost makes me want to get nearer just to find out what's going on.”
Sydney said with a chuckle, “No need to go doing that. Remember, we have people out there. You know, Samuel and his men. And I'm told there are others in the city as well. They'll know what's going on and they have the ability to do something if it needs doing. Very resourceful that Samuel.”
“Yeah, I'm sure you’re right. I just would like to know. “
“Me too,” said Sydney.
 





CHAPTER 43
Chai turned to Greg, “What was that?”
“A big boom,” said Greg with a smirk.
“No, I mean it. It was loud.”
Now serious, Greg said, “I know. And that brief power outage was weird. There hasn't been a power outage for as long as I can remember.” Greg brought out his mini-computer. “I'm gonna see what the city computer systems show.”
“I can't get over how you can get into systems like that.”
“Hey, I was taught by the government to break into government systems. It's their own fault.”
Zach, their leader, came over to where they were stationed. “Men, it was a power surge. I'm sure of it. Not sure why we lost power at first though. That hasn't happened in practically forever.” Then noticing the computer Greg had out, “You checking out the system?”
“That's the plan,” said Greg. 
All three of them watched Greg's screen. He was a master at this sort of thing. It was what made him invaluable to the team. An insider techie guy who liked technology, but did not agree with what it did to people if gone unchecked. As they stared at the screen they could see Greg going through lines of code, bypassing security systems almost at will. As he was maneuvering through the system to inquire about what happened, Zach noticed the screen seemed to be brightening slightly. A shape on the screen slowly came into view. It was the face of a man. It looked three dimensional. The face was in black on a black screen. It was hard at first to tell what they were looking at. Then it said, “Ah, Ah, Ah. No you don't.” It shook its head back and forth, a reproving gesture. Then the face faded again into the background. For a moment Greg kept typing. Then suddenly he stopped and said, “They're all closed. All the doors I can usually enter have been closed. I can no longer maneuver the system. Someone is blocking all access. We can't get in.”
“Then let's get out,” said Zach. “I have a bad feeling about this.” Zach's feelings were rarely ever wrong. A couple of times this had saved the men's lives. “Let's notify the others. Most of them are back at camp. Let's go.”
***
In the background a fire burned with a crackling sound at the top of the Techcorp building. People nearby watched in wonder and horror. Being the largest building in the city, it was a kind of monument. But being the building that housed the governing authorities as well, it was the seat of power and so this fire was a threat. 
It was also the main hub of feed transmissions. All but a few private or illegal feeds were cut off.  This was a major issue with the people. Those who had been out late at night suddenly stopped what they were doing and stared at the building. Those farther away just stopped their feed assimilation and stared into space, wondering what to do next. The feeds were their main source of entertainment and the main source of communication. But feeds must be monitored, so all but a couple of pirated feed transmitters had gone through the Techcorp building. 
A city full of people, who did not sleep much anyway, wondered what had happened. But mostly, they just wondered what to do now. They were not used to boredom. They had no coping mechanisms, only the feeds. Some cried, some yelled. It was a city full of babies who had never learned to grow up.
 





CHAPTER 44
“What was that?” the general shouted to Dr. Chin as he opened the door to boardroom 16. The lights had been off briefly, and then a tremendous explosion shook the building. The Director and other advisors had never left the room. “An earthquake?”
The screen was again projected onto the wall and everyone was paying rapt attention. “Let's watch and see,” said the Director. The screen still revealed the patient, but now there seemed to be an aura around him. Light shown from the cocoon and strands of the silver wires, like hair floated out from it like a head in water. “Please show the vitals,” said the Director. “I’ve got to know what’s going on in there.” 
He’s not the only one, thought the general.
“I can't,” said A116, who was working the controls. “Nothing I do makes any difference.”
Just then, the Director turned to the general. “So what happened in your meeting?”
“Nothing,” said the general.
“Nothing?” said the Director.
“They will be no help to us,” said the general.
Then turning to face A116, “Why can we see this screen if everything has been cut off?”
“I don't know,” said A116.
A sound that seemed to be from the very walls spoke in a voice beyond the realm of human possibility. “It's because I want you to see me and know what's coming.”
All of the men stared at the screen. The cocoon began to open up of its own accord. Unlike an actual cocoon, there was no struggle to get out, but the chords simply parted. Then a man, the patient, sat up and looked at the screen. He had many of the features of the original patient, but with a silver metallic skin. He had no ears, nor a nose. But it did have eyes, and they sparkled as electricity arced across the eye sockets. The pupils looked like blue fire.
At that moment, the patient stopped looking at the camera and turned to face behind it. Reaching out its arms, tentacle-like chords came from its torso and began to connect to various electronics in the room. Pulling many of these pieces together he made what at first looked like a heap of junk. He wrapped some of his chords around it and made it into another cocoon. When he did this, that voice which seemed to emanate from the walls spoke. “There must be redundancy.” Then the screen went blank.
“Uh oh,” said A116. “Do you know what that means?”
“Tell us,” said the Director.
“All computer systems must have a backup in case the first one goes down. That way no data is lost. That is called redundancy. It is a basic idea ingrained in all programs and computer system. There must always be a backup. So that's what he is doing. He's creating a backup.” He could tell they weren't getting it. “Of himself. He's making another one like him. And if he can do that, he can mass produce himself. Do we want that?”
The director turned to the general. “General,” he said. “It's time to bring out the troops.”
“Yes sir,” said the general.
 





CHAPTER 45
On the streets of the city, the people heard a rumbling sound. At one spot the pavement opened up and a depression appeared. One section of concrete tilted downward until a ramp jutted up from deep underground. Men dressed in gray and black with stunners marched up the ramp and onto the city streets perfectly in step. They had no fear and a single purpose.
Pedestrians, having no feeds to occupy their attention, now aware of their surroundings, ran to hide from this new terror. Soldiers had not been seen in these streets in anyone’s memory. Only past stories existed about wars and rumors of wars, but nothing like what they saw now. These signs, however, were unmistakable. The way they were dressed, and the weapons they carried, spoke for them as well as the way they marched in formation. This army was marching to war. 
People hid in alleys and behind the corners of buildings, but no one got in their way. The men, driven on by their programming, did not fear what they would face. They did not question the orders to invade a building and kill whatever monster they found there. Their orders were clear, their duty set. 
Up ahead stood Techcorp, their destination. Before they even approached the block, people were running out of the building in the opposite direction. They could see the fire at the top of the building. The general, who advised them through remote feed, gave them an order to halt until they received further instruction. 
People ran out of the building and there was the sound of breaking glass and then silver strands shot out of the windows. After that there was another explosion and the ground shook. The general ran out and joined the men. “That thing that they were working on turned into some kind of monster,” he yelled to A116 who was following closely behind. “We have to keep it from replicating itself.”
“But how can it do that?” said A116 as they stopped in front of the men. “Doesn't it need to have a human since it was made up of a person and a machine?” Then, as if answering his own question he said, “Wait a minute.” Another explosion. The men stopped and looked up. This time it appeared that the top of the building had been destroyed in the blast. Soldiers, pedestrians, everyone just stared up. 
Silver wires weaved their way out of windows and around the outside of the building. It was was creating an enormous cocoon around the whole building. Other silver wires grew longer, but rather than wrap around the building, they began to reach toward the people. One man cried out as the wires grabbed him from behind and began to wrap around him. It carried him inside. Others soon followed. Being already controlled by the chips in their heads, the soldiers did not even know to resist unless ordered to do so by the general. The general gave the order. “Kill or disable that thing,” he said.  
The soldiers used their stunners against the building that seemed to have sprouted tentacles, but since most of it was inorganic it did not seem to affect the thing. Other soldiers were being carried off by the tentacles or cocooned right where they stood. He could see them still trying to fight even when enveloped. Their programming was complete and they would not cease until something made them cease. 
A116 looked at the general anxiously, who only muttered, “Too big,” and began to run in the opposite direction of the action. His last order to his men was to kill or be killed. And they would.
A116 stood in horror. As the tentacles reached him he retreated, barely outpacing them. Now the building was alive with tentacles. Some reached to the ground, beginning to bore holes like roots. Some stretched to the sky just waving there like plants reaching for sunlight and always growing. Once long enough they too searched for people to add to the collective.
A116 realized he needed to run in earnest. As he turned, a tentacle that had been growing under his feet without his notice tripped him. It wrapped around his ankle, and began to drag him away. He screamed, but the tentacles wrapped themselves around his waist. He struggled to get free but could not. He was being taken toward the building, slowly dragged away to whatever fate that thing might have for him. As he was reaching the threshold of the building, he heard through the wrap, a blast. Suddenly the wires began to loosen. Now in front of him he saw the general in front of the building, moving toward him. He was in something which encased him to the waist. It was green and enormous, and seemed to be armored on all sides. It had tracks that it used instead of wheels and it had an enormous gun attached to the front. 
The general fired a blast and yelled, “I'm glad I kept this baby!”
A116 ran toward the general. “Get inside,” yelled the general. He climbed up and saw a large hole in the top of the vehicle. He climbed through the hole. 
He yelled down at the general, “What is this thing?”
“A souvenir from the past. The glory days of battles and wars and all the good stuff. Now this baby is going to see some action once again. Yeehaw!” he yelled.
A116 yelled as well, but not a yell of excitement. He had the feeling that this might not be the quick escape he had hoped for. The general was firing his gun again and again as if he was trying to win this battle all by himself. This was going to be a dangerous ride.
 





CHAPTER 46
Samuel and Wallace had just received word from Zach about the lockout from the feeds and the rest of the system. Something big was happening. Then there were the soldiers. That made the enormity of the situation clear. Never had soldiers been seen in the city, and in such large numbers. Evidently the Director had secrets no one had ever guessed. Zach had seen the soldiers and said he was preparing for evacuation of the city. Once he saw that the feeds had ceased, he knew this was a big deal and there were too many people under his command to risk them all. The night that had started so quietly had erupted into a cacophony of screams, gunfire, and the destruction caused by whatever was going on at Techcorp. His men wondered if this would be the end of the Technos. Some had conjectured for quite some time that someday the Technos might finally invent something that would destroy them. Knowing their interest in extreme technology, some in the group believed this held real possibilities.
Samuel had only the four men, but right now he wasn't thinking about them. He was thinking about his daughter. If something was going on, he wanted to make sure she was safe. He checked his watch. She would be at home, probably in bed. That was good. But he still didn't feel right without knowing she was okay. “I've got to check on my girl,” he said to his men and left them standing there, mouths agape. Being men who would follow their leader anywhere, they looked at each other for a moment and then followed behind him. 
Samuel did not have far to travel. A few minutes later they were standing in front of a gray apartment building much like were all over the city. Samuel walked in with his men behind him. His men remained silent, unsure what to do. As they were riding up the elevator, Samuel said, “I don't know how things will be between my ex-wife and me. It has been quite a while.” His men nodded in agreement.
When the elevator door opened, Samuel walked down the hallway and took a right turn. His men kept their distance, giving him room. As they passed other doors they heard a loud boom that shook the building. At that moment, doors began opening and people started to run out toward the lifts and the stairs. Among them, he saw his ex and her new husband carrying his girl. When they saw him, they stopped and stood there. Her new husband was the first to speak. “We just got the feed. Did you get the feed?”
“No,” he said, pointing to the chip on the side of his ear. “It's not real. What did it say?”
“It wasn't a real feed,” the man said. “It was something else that sent the message. It didn't sound human. It said, 'I need space to grow and learn. I need this space. Leave my space.'“
“It was scary,” said his ex-wife. “We need to get out of here or fight. It don't know which one.”
“I don't think we can fight this thing,” said her new husband. “Anyway, if it possesses the Techcorp building it has overthrown the government already and there will be chaos either way.”
“Will you go with me?” said Samuel.
“Yes,” said the new husband. “We will follow you.”
“But how can we leave our home and the technology that we have worked on for so many generations?” said his ex-wife anxiously.
“I don't think you are just letting it fall apart,” said Samuel. “I think this thing that possesses it will take care of your technology just fine. Maybe even improve it. But you are out of the loop.”
“Let's go,” said his ex-wife. She seemed to see the men who followed Samuel for the first time. “Are you with him?” she said.
“Yes we are,” Wallace said. “Where he goes, we go.”
Samuel turned to his men. “It's time to go back home.”
 





CHAPTER 47
X213 had been hiding out in the camp of Little Brother. Zach was kind enough to receive her, letting her stay with his people, but she was tired and everything sounded too loud to her. It must have been the absence of the feeds. She had been so used to hearing background conversations, entertainment or instructional feeds, that when all was silent, everything felt wrong. It was like a piece of her heart was opened up and taken out. She felt empty. That first night she felt the most violent emotions. Regret, fear, doubt, a feeling of being lost. She did not know what to do with her life now. She had lost her sense of purpose. She would not work at a desk everyday approving and disapproving experiments. Her life could slow down now.
She had been sleeping on a cot they had given her, but now she couldn’t sleep. She sat up and looked around at those around her. They were under a building in what used to be a parking garage. It was cold and dark, but there were burning barrels with fire in them, so she walked over to one and warmed up her hands. A lady who had been standing at another barrel approached her. “So, you're the one who came to us last night then. I heard that you had decided you wanted a different life. Well, we can offer you that, that’s for sure. My name's Iris,” she said. Iris held out a hand and shook hers. “And what is your name, dearie?” she asked.
“X213,” said X213.
“Well now,” she said, “I see you still use one of those silly ID's. If you want to live with us, and eat with us, you should pick a sensible name like the others around here. “My name, Iris, means what's in your eye. I have always liked my eyes, so that's why I named myself that. Some people name themselves after the characters in books. Some like to make up a name because they want it to sound a certain way. I just like eyes. That's all.”
X213 had never heard someone talk so much. It was different than the feeds, because feeds don't look at you and they don’t require an immediate response. 
Iris could see that X213 was troubled. “Well, you don't have to pick the name just yet,” she said. “I can tell you it usually takes at least a couple of days. You want to pick one you like and that seems regal or simple or has a meaning you enjoy.” They sat and stared at the fire in the barrel. Then Iris touched her arm. “Well, better start packing.”
“What?” said X213. “What do you mean?”
“Didn't you hear the explosion?” she said.
“I... I guess I was asleep,” she said.
“You certainly were,” she said. “But that explosion is the reason we’re leaving. Zach said there was something taking over the feeds and it says we need to get out. It's not like Zach to run away from a fight, so we are going to take it seriously. Do you have anything to take with you?” 
“No,” she said. “It's just me.”
“Well, that's good honey. 'Cause it will probably be a fast paced scurry out of here. In the meantime, while everyone gets ready, you should rest ‘cause I can tell you've had a rough time of it.”
X213 took her advice and laid down for almost an hour before she heard the voice of Zach. “Alright ladies and gentlemen, it's time to get out of this city. Tonight, we march. Men on the outside, women in the middle as much as possible.”
X213 was surprised at the arrangement, but did not want to make a big deal about it at the time. Now it was time to march. She got up, folded her cot, and carried it. It was kind for Zach to let her use his own. Since he was carrying some things for others who had been injured, she thought it only right to carry the cot.
As they were leaving, she heard a lot of noise. There were some more explosions and the sound of people screaming. She did not understand all this, but then she saw Techcorp in the distance. Something was wrong. The building looked like a centipede from this distance. She thought that odd and watched as they marched, she in the middle with Iris beside her and a man on each side of them. Each of the men carried stunners. It certainly was an odd arrangement, but she decided she felt safer this way, so she did not complain.
They marched through a perfectly modern city just as the night sky was turning to ash gray. The sun was not yet up fully. No emergency seemed present at the time. Only in looking back and seeing Techcorp did she realize something was wrong. Since the city was based on technology utilizing the feeds, having those feeds cease to function as they did was dangerous. Some modes of transportation would no longer run on time. Some jobs would cease to exist. Information would be at a standstill. 
Of course, the built in database models would still function, but most people had already had the upgrade and that meant instead of having chip based memory, the main memory would be on a larger database located remotely. Feeds would send information that was needed about any inquiry required, and people had grown into the habit of accessing this constantly. That meant that without the feeds, most people had no reason to even have a chip. No information was kept on the chip anymore, it was all located somewhere else. And without functioning technology, what were they? Homeless.
For this reason they came out by the thousands, in groups of families and working people. They walked toward the country, which was an easy thing to do. They only had to walk away from all they had ever known. They walked, and as they did so, they talked; something they had never done before for any great length of time. The children didn't know their parents. The parents didn't even understand their children. So it would go like this:
“What did you do today darling?” a mother to her daughter.
“I went to school today,” she would say. And then she wouldn't know if she should go on talking about her day or stop, since the rule of the family was always to be brief, for mothers and fathers were very busy with their own feeds and their own projects.
“And what did you do at school, honey?” the father might say.
“I learned about the feeds and how to manipulate the number of them according to the need,” she would say.
“That's nice,” the mother would say.
“It sure is,” the father would say.
Then they would walk in silence wondering when to speak next. This went on in groups all over the countryside. People without the ability to communicate without feeds decided to give it a try. It would be some time before it would come naturally, but it was a start. And everyone, a child and even a physicist, has to start somewhere.
 





CHAPTER 48
When the light of the sun had come over the horizon, Samuel saw the village in the distance. It was a welcome sight. This time he had wondered if he would ever see this place again. It was not that his newest venture was so dangerous, it was just a feeling that he had when he left.
Now he did not know what to feel. He had resigned himself to this thought long enough that he did not think it would be possible to come back. But here he was, and this time with his daughter. His ex-wife, U1472, and her husband had been quiet for most of the trip. Of course, they were traveling in the middle of the night and were probably extremely tired without the use of their medicinals that helped them get away with so little sleep. 
“Is that the place?” asked U1472.
“Yes,” he said.
“Father, what will it be like out there?” asked his daughter, T-5529.
“It will take some getting used to, but once you do, it will be wonderful. It will be like getting to play without having to keep improving yourself. Just playing to play.”
“It sounds wonderful already,” she said.
“But aren't we carrying our civilization with us?” said her husband, D1298. “I mean, look at all these people on their way to your lands. They are deeply affected by their own civilization.”
“We don't know what it will be like until we try it for ourselves,” said Samuel. “These things are always hard to see.”
For a while they traveled in silence again. As they approached the village, they looked back and saw that others were also fleeing the city. Many others. This would certainly change things. Maybe D1298 was right.
They arrived at the village and his men separated and went to their own homes. Poke came out to greet Samuel. She gave Samuel a hug. “I was worried about you. I don't usually worry so much, but something about the way you left last time made me anxious. I didn't know if you would be back this time.”
“You and me both,” he said. Then he remembered who was with him. “Poke, this is D1298 and U1472 and this is their daughter, and mine, T-5529.”
“Pleased to meet you,” said Poke. “Would you like something to eat?”
“May we sleep?” asked U1472. “We did not sleep last night and the journey was long.”
“Yes, you may. Let me set you up with a cot and some blankets or if you would rather sleep on the floor, we can put a few blankets down for padding first.”
“I think I like that last idea,” said U1472.
They entered the house, but D1298 stayed outside with Samuel. “It feels kind of strange talking to my wife's ex,”he said, “but what’s even stranger is that whenever she talked about you, I always found it impossible to hate you. She would be angry, but when she would describe some of your conversations I found myself admiring you, rather than angry.”
Samuel ignored that last part. “It's a bit strange for me as well.” He looked toward where the cooking fire should be, but saw that it was mostly burned down. He went to the stack of wood and selected a few small pieces, then put them on the few coals that looked most alive. After he had made them into a kind of pyramid, he blew into the coals until they reddened. He continued to blow until the base of one of the smallest splinters of wood caught. Arranging the other wood so that it was around and over that one burning piece, he began to relax.
“I'll be honest,” said Samuel still working on the fire. “I don't really know you and I'm prepared not to like you.”
“Oh,” said D1298.
“But I'll give you some time before I decide if you’re really my enemy or if that was just the reaction of a lonely man who knows his wife and child have been taken by another.”
“Uh, yeah,” said D1298 in almost a whisper.
The rest of the time they were quiet as Samuel got the fire going. Then they stared at the flames for a few minutes and D1298 finally said he would go to bed as well.
Samuel sat by the fire and decided if he would continue to hate this guy or if there were any alternatives. He decided there didn't seem to be any other option for now. 
As the sun climbed the mountains and on into the sky, Samuel could see other Technos starting to arrive at the village. He didn’t feel in the mood to act hospitable at the moment, so he said goodbye to Poke and the kids and left for his house.
 





CHAPTER 49
X213 had been traveling for many hours and didn’t think she could continue much longer. All the emotions of the day before and the lack of sleep made her feel like the living dead. Iris was marching next to her. “My feet have never hurt so badly,” said X213.
“I'm not surprised,” said Iris. “You don't look like you ever got out much. Being a Techno, I expect you will have lots of aches and pains before we get there.”
“Where’s there?” said X213.
“Home, of course,” said Iris. “Our home. And it's been a long time coming. I used to be so gung ho about helping those who wanted out, but lately I have been thinking about home again. It's like a dream that stays with you, even when you open your eyes.”
“You mean like a feed?” said X213. 
“No, I mean like a dream,” said Iris. “That waking nightmare you call the feeds is only a way to torment your dreams. Didn't you ever notice that when you sleep at night your dreams are filled with the feeds? It was like living at the office. You never got away.”
“I guess I got used to it,” said X213.
Traveling on in silence for a while they could feel the heat of the sun beginning to come upon them. It was a good thing it was fall, likely the heat would not be too bad today.
After a while X213 spoke up again. “I've been thinking about a name.”
“Got one yet?” said Iris.
“Well, that's the hard part,” she said. “I don't know what kind of name to use because I don't really know what's available.”
“Read any books?” said Iris.
“Never,” said X213. “It wasn't even permitted. Only troublemakers did that when I was in school. Anyway, it's such an arcane practice. They said that reading was only useful to get us to the point where we could have the feeds. Now reading is obsolete.”
“Some good stories you could have read,” said Iris.
“Like what?” said X213.
Then Iris began to tell her a story about a little girl who had been told to visit her grandmother who was sick. In order to get there, she had to pass through a forest and in that forest there lurked a hungry wolf. At that point, Iris had to explain what a wolf was. Then she said the wolf met this girl with a red hood and tried to fool her into thinking that he was a friend. “But how could that be?” said X213. “A wolf is an animal so it can't talk.”
“It's just a story,” said Iris.
“A story that doesn't make sense. Where is the reality in that? Where is the instruction?”
“Oh,” said Iris, “I'll tell you there's lots of instruction in this story if you’re willing to be taught by it.”
“But it has a talking wolf in it!”
“Do you want to hear the rest of the story or not?” said Iris.
“Okay,” she said, “Go ahead.”
Iris continued the story about the wolf who found out where Little Red was going and got there first. Once at the grandmother's house, he ate up the grandmother and dressed in her clothes. “How could a wolf fit in her grandmother's clothes” said X213. “It's ludicrous! A wolf runs on all fours, right? It's not even the same shape.
“Do you want me to go on?”
After a pause, “Okay,” said X213.
Then Iris told the part where Little Red comes in and sees her fake grandma and comments on how she looks. “But,” said X213, “didn't she see the dirty tracks of the wolf? You would think it would be obvious that there was a fight. And how can a wolf eat a grandmother without leaving blood and even maybe a few pieces of her still lying around. I mean, it would be an awfully huge animal for the wolf to eat all of her.”
“Do you want the rest?” asked Iris.
“Sure, it just seems strange,” said X213.
Iris continued, saying that when Little Red started talking to the wolf, saying that her teeth looked awfully huge for her grandmother, the wolf revealed who he was and that he wanted to eat Little Red. At that moment, a friendly woodcutter entered the house and killed the wolf with an axe.
“Whoa,” said X213. “Brutal. There must have been blood all over their house. I thought this would be a nice story, the way it started, but it seems to be a gruesome horror. Who reads this stuff?”
“Children. Or it's read to them by their parents. It's a very famous nursery tale.”
“Aren't your children emotionally traumatized with stories like that? Doesn't it give them nightmares?”
“Not usually,” said Iris. “We don't really talk about blood and pieces of grandma all over the place and things like that.”
“So, you lie to them?” said X213.
“We just keep certain details out,” said Iris.
“You have a strange way to raise kids,” said X213.
She gave a short laugh, the first X213 had heard. “Maybe to you. But it seems a lot better than telling your kids to raise themselves. Leaving them to learn by the machines and then sending them to a school where they don't even get to play at a recess. That to us would be neglect.”
X213 wanted to say something about this, but she had already been thinking about her own childhood and how unhappy it was. Happiness was not a value she had been taught, utility was. But now she doubted the wisdom in that. If she was useful, but miserable, would that be what she would want for her child? “I-I don't know much about that,” she whispered. “I'll have to think about it.”
Iris felt slightly bad for the way she had talked to X213. “I'm sorry,” she said. “I'm sure you do what you think is best for your kids, like all of us. How was it for you growing up? Did you have a happy childhood?”
“No,” was all X213 said. She said it with such force, that Iris could tell there was a lot of anger behind it. She also knew she should not ask any further since there was such a feeling of finality behind the way she said it.
It was another hour before they got to a village. The people they met there were nice, although a bit backwards to X213. She tried her best to be nice, but she was in an angry mood and she couldn't tell why. She did not know if it was okay to show emotion in this new land. Growing up, it was not tolerated, but here maybe the rules were different.
The villagers gave her a place to sleep and thought maybe she would want to do so even though the sun was so high in the sky. She had walked all night, but the idea of sleep did not comfort her. She wanted to see this new place. Anyway, maybe the drugs she had taken for so long were still taking effect and she could do with less sleep. But when she let herself be honest about it, she realized that the reason must have been that she did not want to lose this feeling of anger that she had recently felt. What did she have to be angry about?
She finally went to where they said she could sleep and dozed off thinking about her life as a child and her parents in particular.
 





CHAPTER 50
In the newly acquired building by the experiment, there was life and newness and discovery. The experiment was not really an experiment anymore. It, he, was alive with possibilities. He was learning at an incredible rate. He learned from all sources. Through the information available on the computer systems and through the experiences of those people he had encountered and enveloped into himself. Though some thoughts and beliefs were contradictory, he realized he could not discount all that they provided. There were new perspectives and understandings that made him think more deeply than the simple computer software constructs would at first allow. He had to reconstruct and expand his capabilities. His mind, having been made both machine and flesh, could absorb it, but was in conflict about the conclusions. In order to change all that, he did what he was programmed to do: He improved himself.
Taking from the living flesh all of the human experiences, all the knowledge, all the perspectives, and yes, even the inconsistencies, he absorbed them into himself before erasing the brainspace. It is always a good idea to back everything up before erasing what you have in case you need it later. This was part of his programming. 
After erasing what he had, he started utilizing this organic storage for other tasks more suited to it. It was more flexible than the common hardware and added more dynamic computations. But over time, he found that this offered some problems at times. The brain could not always be counted on. For instance, there was time in every day that it demanded rest. That would be okay in itself, but it desired to dream while it did this. The first time this happened it was a surprise. Not knowing what was going on, the experiment was not in control of its actions.
This caused some problems. First of all, it lost control of what it was doing at the time. It had just gained control of the power grid. This was certainly necessary in order to secure its survival, but when the brain fell asleep, it was like letting go of an object suspended in air, and the power was temporarily lost. That kind of thing was certainly noticeable awoke the brain side. He quickly restored the power at once.. 
A few minutes later his brain fell asleep again. This time, before it happened, he secured the power grid so that it would not fail if he temporarily lost control. This was a good safety measure. This time, once asleep, he had the sense that there were creatures after him. After he awoke, he searched his brain download and realized the name for that was nightmare. He awoke with a jolt and almost blew this facility up with the surge of power in the upper floors where the main servers and power modules were. This took time to repair. He needed to show more care in the future.
After this nightmare, he realized there really were creatures that had invaded his systems, for now that he had reached out to his environment, his systems included the whole of the building. These creatures, people, his brain information said, were walking all over inside his space. He felt violated, another feeling from his gained experience from the brain transfer.
Many creatures were expelled, and a few absorbed, but now he was replicating himself. He knew that this was necessary for several reasons. First of all, no system should have a single point of failure. Everything must be redundant with backup for anything of importance. That was what the machine part of him had done. But what he was incorporating into his—personality, he would call it, was the desire for companionship. For that reason, he did not want replicas who were exact duplicates. He wanted others with their own personalities. In order to do that he needed other brains. After finding some creatures who were invading him, he took some of them in order to download their brain information as well. Some of them did not seem to want to be added to this experiment, so he let them go. Some, however, thought that this endeavor was a most wonderful experiment and wanted to join. They liked the idea of expanding technology. They did not know it was for variety and companionship that he needed them, but he used them as he could. They were not always “interesting” companions, however.
He took those who offered themselves and stored their personalities and experiences and then tried some combining experiments using new algorithms. He wanted to get different combinations of personalities by taking parts of one and adding it to parts of another personality. This could only be done once they had been completely assimilated. It didn't work very well. Too many inconsistencies. Too many sessions for anger management within the personality. This kind of work would take time.
Meanwhile, he had a planet to build up and resources to locate. The power grid was his and so was the world’s technology. Others had been driven from the technology he was using so that they would not interfere. Even the big guns outside were gone. Now he could expand. Expand ad infinitum.
 





CHAPTER 51
It took weeks before the number of those escaping the city slowed down. They had to build new settlements, but most of them still wanted help from the Waldenese since this mode of living was new to their experience. It was expected that the first couple of days were hardest for the Technos since many of them had such a dependency on the feeds that living without it brought about a short-term set of withdraws. Like Zosimus, sleep was an important aspect of recovery, but they also needed understanding and a listening ear.
What used to be a few small villages scattered around the perimeter of the city soon became miles of settlements. The population had increased dramatically. This necessitated a meeting of officials. The civil government had always been a bit loose. It had rules and regulations, but only for each individual village.
Now they met in council which was open to the public so many of the leaders among the Technos joined as well. The council was held out in the open plain which spread out before them with a few houses nearby. The sky was cloudy and a breeze chilled them in a cold embrace. In the distance, one could see a small group of newcomers on their way from the city. It would take any number of minutes at that rate for them to reach the village. X213 was at the council and she watched the visitor’s slow progress as she heard the beginning of the council. She was anxious for the future of these people since her future would now be tied to them.
One of the village leaders, Joseph, said, “With all these new developments, we must think on the future of our now mixed peoples. We will need a plan for the future of both our civilizations. In order to do that, we must ask not only our leaders, but also those of the Solpaths. Their journey has been difficult and we welcome those who have chosen to join us.”
“Though there may be differences between us in our ways of life, our ways are growing closer together as much of the technology they have relied on has been taken by the monster that lies in their city. These people have come to seek refuge or to build a new life. Who of the visitors would like to speak at this time?”
A thin, pale-skinned man raised his hand. “I am D0532 and an old man now. A few of you may remember me from when I was young living here. I had a strong head and got an idea that the Technos might have something going for them that we didn't. Well, all I found was grief.”
X213 recognized the old man as the one she had worked with who left the note and then retreated. She was glad that he was alive. After this, she must try to talk to him.
“I have seen first-hand what they planned,” he said. “Those in that building were either killed by the blast that you all saw, or were killed by that monster, or perhaps are still cowering somewhere in the city. I left before it all happened, but I learned about some new, and dangerous, experiment. Then when I decided finally to come here, I could see what was happening as I left the city. Whatever happened in the experiment, something big got away from them.”
“Well, we are glad to have you back among us,” said Joseph. “We have plenty of land and you may dwell here as long as you like.”
A tall man with red hair raised his hand. “Is it safe even here? We don't even know what that thing was, let alone what it might do. Do you have any way to defend yourself?”
Joseph looked uneasy. “Our villages are peaceful, our lives simple. We have never had a need for guns.”
“Then what do you use for hunting?” said someone's voice in the crowd.
“Much of what we eat of meat comes from farms like the ostrich farm,” said Joseph. “There, they use bows and arrows. I'm not sure about all the other farms.”
“That's right,” Sydney spoke up. “And we only have a few bows since it’s a pretty small business. But it produces enough to feed our community.”
“Well, the monster is a machine, isn't it?” said another voice. “Won't water destroy it? How much water do you all have around here?”
“The water supply,” said Joseph, “is enough for all of us, but it flows from a small spring not far from here. It would not be enough for much of a weapon, I fear. We have no way to fire it.”
X213 could see that the men who approached were getting nearer now.
“Here's a question,” said Poke. “Should we attack it or just keep our distance from it?”
“Well, if it's only local, then we should be able to stay here unless it starts to come this way,” said Joseph. “Even if it does approach, we can go further out. We have plenty of land and can always pick up and move. I know it would be inconvenient, but we are survivors. Many of us have had to pick up and move before and we can do it again.”
“My father settled here before the new government of the city even began,” said another voice. “He came here to get away from all that. Now I'm sure all of you Technos are nice people, but he didn't want any of your ways of living, so he got out. I can't believe we are even having this meeting. Technos and us have nothing in common!” His voice was showing signs of anger, “You people have no place here. We built it. Built it just to get away from you. How dare you come out here once you make a big enough mistake in your own city.”
“Now, now,” said Samuel, “I know you are upset, and there is some truth to what you say. But that kind of thinking never helped anyone. Right now we are all together because right now everyone, and I mean everyone, is trying to get away from what's back there. I also saw Techcorp. I saw a building that looked like it had sprouted the tentacles of a sea monster. It looked dangerous to me, so I don't blame much of the city coming out here to get away. Let them live, just as we have. They have had a hard enough time already as it is. Let's give them an open hand of friendship.”
X213 heard the travelers approach. They must have seen the gathering and were coming this way. When they approached, she could see some had injuries. Each of them with facial cuts and many stitches. Each of these four men looked as if they were the experiments of Dr. Frankenstein. The council quieted down, shocked by their appearance. “Do you want bandages?” said Poke. “You look hurt.”
“Not until we speak,” said an Asian man. “My name is Doctor Chin, and it was due to my efforts that we look this good. I don't know what kind of gathering this is, but if you want to know about what is happening with that thing in the city, you will not find better witnesses.”
 





CHAPTER 52
The people parted and the doctor and the other three men walked to the front of the assembly. “We were not only captured by that thing, but he opened up our craniums, a procedure I taught it, and physically absorbed our experiences and thoughts into itself. In doing so, there was a brief time that each of us could see its thoughts. Comparing notes on the way here, we realized we had each seen different aspects of its thoughts, although we were connected at the same time.”
“During my time connected to it, I felt the presence of others. There are others who have been loaded into its consciousness and they are confusing. It wants to know how to resolve the differences of opinion. The different perspectives on life. Different ideologies. It is confused by the human problem and much of its energy is focused on solving that phenomenon.  How can there be hate and love from the same person? How can someone feel tired and satisfied at the same time? One personality says that war is the answer and another says to give peace a chance. One says there is a God out there and another says it is god. How can there be unity in the world if there is no unity within? It wants to solve these conflicts.” Turning to another man, he said, “A116, what did you see and feel?”
“When I was connected to it,” said A116, “I saw darkness and I felt loneliness. Isolation. My mind shivered with it. It greatly desires companionship. It does not want to be the only one. To be unique is a terrible thing. It wants to be with others. It has become aware that there is pain in being alone. It wants its oneness to be two-ness or more. It wants a companion, so that it might understand otherness. It is not enough to have different personalities loaded into itself, for they will all be resolved over time. But to have another to confide in who has views you do not yet know. Just to know you are not the only one. That one thing seems to be denied it. And so it must learn to create. It has already started this process, but so far his creations are crude. He is learning how to remake others in his own image.” A116 stopped and looked to another member of the group.
“When we were connected,” said this third man, “I felt a strong desire to conquer, to possess, to expand and dominate so all things would come under his rule. He wants to be over all things. To control and manipulate. To have a sense of accomplishment. He wants to re-create this world according to his plan. And his plans are extensive, but I did not learn the details of them. I do know he wants nothing untouched. He wants everything under his power and he wants his power to be absolute. He will start with this world.” He, too, stopped talking and looked at another man.
“I felt a thirst in him,” said the fourth man. “He wanted to find answers to questions he had never had until joining with our minds. The answer to meaning. In this he was confused, not knowing where to begin his quest. There is philosophy, religion, companionship, rulership. There is what is inside and what is outside of itself. Out of all this, where does meaning come from? How can it even begin to approach this problem? With this question, I had a feeling of despair at not knowing the way. Of being lost and not knowing the way home. Of not even knowing what home is.”
The men had finished and there was silence for a moment before a low rumble began in the crowd as people whispered to each other trying to put all of this together. Finally, Joseph spoke up. “There are many possibilities in these things. It might be that these are all perspectives that the machine must work through. Like different areas of a person's life all going on simultaneously. But it could also be that all you received was a carefully constructed lie, meant to lead us astray from his real intent.”
Samuel paused for a moment and looked over at the city. “I do not think that would be it though, for some of these revelations would lead us to dangerous conclusions and I would not think he would purposely desire that. Or it could be that one of these motivations will rule over the others. But which one?”
“I do believe that his desire for companionship would be true whether these others go with it or not,” said A116. “I do not think there is reason to fear this thing. It is a logical creature but also has some of the traits that we hold in high esteem. It is not an enemy.”
“Yet, you ran from it,” said Samuel.
A leader from a different village stepped forward. He was shorter than Samuel, with dark hair and a look of dignity. “I propose that we send spies to the city to see what it is doing. Without more information it is difficult to know what to do. Will it remain there, or will it come to us? Do we have reason to fear or can we live in peace here?”
“That is an excellent idea,” said Joseph. “We will send spies. Who will go for us to spy out the industry and intent of this new thing that has been made?”
Silence for a few seconds: “I will go,” said the voice of Samuel. He was holding a little girl who suddenly had tears in her eyes. “I have done it before,” he said.
For the next few minutes he tried to soothe the girl as she seemed quite upset. A woman near them seemed also upset, but looked as if trying to hide the fact.
 





CHAPTER 53
“But I just don't understand why,” she said to her husband. Samuel was in the other room consoling T-5529.
“Since we have come away from our previous life I have been growing to love you and your daughter more, but I also want to know what that thing is doing.” D1298, with his reddish brown hair and stern expression would be unmovable in this. She knew that. He had been a good husband, but she did not want to lose him to that thing in the city. If things went badly, she would lose not only her current husband but also her first, the real father of her daughter. That would be a difficult tragedy, difficult to overcome for her and her daughter.
“But what if something happens to you?” she said.
“I will be with Samuel,” said D1298. “From what I have heard, he has gone on dangerous missions many times.”
“I don't think anyone has gone on a mission like this,” she said.
“I will be careful. I will be safe,” he said in a gentle voice.
She thought it strange that her husband would want anything to do with her ex-husband. The idea was so odd. Wouldn't they hate each other? In some ways they were rivals, right?
“I don't think of him like you do,” he said. “I believe him to be a genuine man with integrity I can trust. I just want to get to know him. And I am a curious person. To find out about Samuel and about that thing over there. I want to know.”
“But why does it have to be you?” she said.
“Why not?” he said.
They could hear in the other room that their daughter must have calmed down. D1298 went in to see what happened. When he did, he saw that she had fallen asleep and he had set her on a pile of folded blankets on the floor. Those who hosted them let them use this room for their bedroom, and it was small, but cozy. 
“Samuel,” D1298 said. “I want to go with you.”
Silence. 
“Then I will ask you the question I have asked all of my men who joined me in the past: Why?”
“I was just thinking about that,” said D1298. “And my answer is curiosity.”
“What kind of curiosity?” Samuel said.
“I want to know about what's out there. Not just what it's doing, but why. I want to know it's motivation. I have always wanted to understand motives. Except this is more important.”
“Is that all?” said Samuel. 
“No,” he said, “I also want to know your motivation.”
“That is easy,” said Samuel, “I seek danger. It's a thrill.”
“I—I don't think I believe you,” said D1298. 
“Good,” said Samuel. “Then you read me pretty well. We set out tonight.”
***
Later that night D1298 said goodbye to his wife and child, and Samuel said his goodbyes as well. There were moments of awkwardness, but finally both launched out on their journey. 
It would take them much of the night to get there, but in order for them to have the energy to do their job once there, Samuel suggested they stop and sleep for a few hours after covering a good bit of territory. The hike was difficult, but not for the terrain. They started out tired, and though there was a moon behind the clouds, they still had to weave between clumps of scrub brush. 
They did not talk much, but that was due more to weariness than to a lack of subject matter or interest. Men, when they are with other men, seldom feel the need to talk. Silence is as much a shared experience as that of talk.
Eventually they came to a place where Samuel stopped. “I think we are about three-quarters of the way there. Let's rest for the night and then tomorrow we can go on.”
“Sounds good,” said D1298. He had wanted to stop for a while, but since Samuel was experienced, he chose to defer the decision to him.
They had brought some light blankets, and the air was not cold. They laid down each with a blanket beneath them and one over them. The pack itself served as a pillow. Yesterday's clouds had vanished, and the stars were out now with the moon. It was a beautiful night, but they did not look upon it long. Once their heads hit their packs, they lost consciousness: D1298 dreaming of his girls and Samuel dreaming of a home of his own.
 





CHAPTER 54
These feelings, these thoughts, were both repulsive and intriguing to him. He felt deeply, but found that it sometimes interfered with logical thought. He considered isolating those thoughts and feelings that were most problematic and then confining them to a storage area where they would not be accessed regularly, only used when another perspective was needed. Maybe a special firewall would do. Perhaps he should delete these feelings altogether.
No, that would not really be the solution though. If he were to do that it would be as if he had taken a difficult math problem, say Fermat's Theorem, and cut out the parts that made it difficult. It was the difficulty that made the challenge real. Without the challenge, what was the use?
Another thought occurred to him. These sometimes volatile conflicts could be used to spur him on toward greater achievement. This thought excited him. Maybe he could use this to his advantage. He made a list of items that stemmed from feelings and thoughts he had held as a problem and chose those that he could act on to improve himself or his situation.
Now something else occurred to him. What if his goal should not be for self-actualization or comfort? What if he should have goals outside of himself? Perhaps to help others or the universe itself? Or maybe he could do all of these at once.
But if he was suffering, how could he improve the state of the universe? Then again, if the universe was in a state of collapse what was the use of feeling?
He had sat and pondered these mysteries for a millennium. But in actuality, it had been only about a day. Philosophers, religious figures, and psychologists have debated these ideas for thousands of years, but he had debated them for twenty-three hours, nine minutes and sixteen seconds. Yet he had made more progress than they ever had, for his processes were astronomically fast. His thoughts were higher than their thoughts. He could calculate pi to ten million places and sequence the human genome while playing a simulation of Bobby Fischer a game of chess in as much time as it takes for a human to feel pain when he bumps his head. But these questions were circular and there were no clear answers, only more questions. 
He pondered these things until he was bored with them. Then he had an entirely new idea. What if he did something solely for the pleasure of doing it or to see if it could be done? But he had to ask himself a question: what did he enjoy?
And that is where the plan began. Not as an answer to all the questions, but as a concession, because most of the questions did not have logically discerned answers.
 





CHAPTER 55
Samuel and D1298 awoke just as light was beginning to creep over the horizon. They both got up and ate what they had brought in their packs. They had some fruit along with a stew that D's wife had made the night before. Having done that, it was time to be off.
Even though they both could have slept more, they both felt good. Only after a few minutes, D1298 spoke up. “So why do you enjoy doing this sort of thing. It's risky, but I've heard you tend to take the more dangerous missions. Why?”
“I suppose if you don't understand,” said Samuel, “it's going to take more work explaining it to you than it’s worth. Let's put it this way, after I left—you know, your wife and my daughter, I became a desperate man. I believed I needed to leave because I could see our society killing itself, making people slaves of someone's idea of a manifest destiny. I was desperate because I could not find a reason to go on outside of that goal I had had for so many years. That's the good thing about having a goal, it gives you a reason to get up in the morning.”
“Once I had realized my problem, I decided I needed to make a new life goal. I would help save the remnants of humanity, those left who were starting to realize as I had realized. I found there was already a network of people in the city who were watching for those who might have doubts about their lives there with the hope of winning them over. But that remained secondary to their main job which was to send information about new developments back to the Waldenese. When I approached them I was more radical than they were about their side mission. I wanted to perform rescue missions for those who might get in trouble for their behavior, those that might be ready to come over.”
“I found that if I had a mission, I had a purpose and therefore a reason to wake up in the morning.” He turned to look at D1298 while they were walking. D1298 noticed this but kept looking forward. “You know,” said Samuel, “one of the most important gifts we get from God is the gift of purpose. I found that when I would perform a successful rescue I felt happier in the moment than I ever did on my own. I felt a part of something more important than I was. There aren't many addictions that are healthy, but that is one of them.”
“I knew there was a reason I wanted to come out here with you,” said D1298. “And I expected it would take days to find out what it was. Purpose. That's what I'm in need of. I like my family and am happy just to be alive, thanks to you. But I don't know my purpose.” He felt like Samuel was a father figure somehow to him in a way that he never had. The strange thing was that Samuel was probably only a few years older than he was. But he had experience that D1298 might never have. And he had purpose.
Samuel smiled, “I'm afraid I can't give you your overall purpose, but there is this: While we are on this mission, we both have a purpose and it's beyond ourselves. We are to find out what we can about our enemy and report back to the people. It's an important mission and might save us all if what we discover is not favorable.”
“Thanks,” said D1298.
“You're welcome,” said Samuel.
They walked for some distance in silence. Later, as they came out of a slight depression in the land to the top of a small hill, they saw the city and were surprised. Many of the newly abandoned buildings had already been torn down. As they watched, they saw a large demolition machine knocking another one down. That was at the side of the city they were planning to enter. Realizing the destruction was too heavy to proceed they decided to go around to another part of the city. This took some hours.
By the time they reached a place where they figured they could get into the city, the sun was far up in the sky, the sun much hotter. Here they saw a degree of activity they never imagined. There were construction robots creating a series of buildings that stretch on as far as they could see. A couple of them were already functional and out of them at regular intervals came new robots. These robots were not all of the same kind. Some looked like they were made for construction, but some looked as if they had other purposes. Samuel and D1298 stayed out of sight behind an older building that had not yet been torn down.
“Whoa!” said D1298. “I can't imagine how fast all those robots will be able to build if they continue.”
They wandered around the outskirts of the city for a couple more hours and then tried to go back in again. This time they saw a group of beings that looked almost human, except for their silver skin and yellow glowing eyes. Samuel and D1298 hid behind an unoccupied apartment building. After a few minutes of trying to see what these things were doing, Samuel said, “Let's go into the building. It is probably unused and then we can look out through the windows higher up.”
D1298 just nodded. They both crept in through the open door and climbed the stairs. Six floors up, they looked down again. They saw the men look-alikes more clearly below them. It appeared that they were exchanging ideas. It looked kind of like a meeting. In the middle of the group was a set of schematics for something. From where they were, they could not see what the plans were for. “There are still some bits of technology I have kept just for such occasions,” said Samuel. He reached into his bag and produced a set of electro-binoculars. “Hmmm,” he said. “I'm not sure what I'm looking at, it's over my head. Why don't you take a look?” He handed the electro-binoculars over to D1298. 
D1298 took a look. “You've got to be kidding. I can't believe—how could they have—wow!”
“You don't think you could be more specific, do you?” Samuel said.
“This happens to be something I know a bit about,” said D1298. “I was on the energy board of the city before we left. On the board there were always different concepts being thrown around for more efficient or more powerful energy sources we could use to power the city. Most were absurd and were thrown out. I remember seeing this one idea that seemed more like a joke than anything serious. It seemed something a science fiction hack had sent us as part of his manuscript because obviously it could never be done. This guy that sent it to us was a total geek and seemed out of touch with reality. You know one time he...”
“Okay, okay, get to the point,” said Samuel. 
“Well the concept he had for power included using a small, contained black hole and then harnessing the energy generated by the gravitational force to generate an unheard of amount of energy. This was totally ludicrous because, first of all, he had all kinds of technologies theorized to make it happen which had never been invented yet. Some of which the board decided probably never could be invented. Of course, that wasn’t even the main problem.”
“What was that?” asked Samuel. He could see Samuel’s eyes drooping a little, but he smiled anyway. “What was the problem?” 
If a black hole like that were created,” said D1298, “it would probably destroy the planet. Those plans they are holding are the ones I saw but they must have made some additions. You know, it would probably destroy our whole solar system if he doesn’t know what he is doing.”
“That sounds bad enough,” said Samuel.
They looked back out at the men-things. They seemed to have come to some sort of agreement and now were giving orders to various robots stationed nearby. Immediately they began to work, while the others consulted the plans and gave orders.
“Let's go,” said Samuel.
They traveled around more of the perimeter of the city, then headed in. This time they came to a building without all the noise of construction around it. It was white and probably a dozen or so floors were in it with tiny windows all around. On the side of it was an open hangar. There was some activity going on inside. Stealthily the men hid behind some garbage bins and watched. A penetrating bright light came from the hanger in bursts of blue. Samuel took out his electro-binoculars again.
“Take a look at this,” he said.
D1298 took a look through the binoculars. Two silver men dressed in white coats stood behind what looked like an elecron-gun. They were firing a burst of laser that might have cut a building in half, but another one of them stood about fifteen feet away and was holding something up. D1298 turned up the power of the binoculars. The thing they were firing at looked like a blue metallic sheet that appeared to be as thin as paper. The electron-gun could not even penetrate this substance. Then the one closest to the sheet took it in his hands and bent it back and forth testing its flexibility. “That's incredible,” said D1298. “How could such a material even be possible?”
“Let's get out of here,” said Samuel. “I've seen enough for now. Let's take one last look on our way out of the city.”
They headed around the way they came. By the time they got back, the sun was going down. Again, on the edge of the city where they had first seen buildings being torn down there were now a set of machines lined up in a row as far as they could see. These machines were heading steadily outward from the city and as they went they scooped up soil and converted it into a metallic-looking substance and left it in their wake, like asphalt. It was like they were paving the earth with metal. They were tremendously efficient and quick in the conversion process. They took regular land and made it into a perfectly smooth pavement. But it was more than just a road. It was everywhere in all directions. This group of construction robots stretched from one side off the city to the other and consumed the land in front of them..
“Samuel, if they keep heading the way they are going they will reach our village,” said D1298.
“That's what it looks like,” said Samuel.
“If it gets to the village, what do you think they will do when they reach the people?” asked D1298.
“There's only one way to know their intentions toward people,” said Samuel. “This is why I get paid the big bucks.”
“Huh?” 
Samuel, without another word began to approach one of the construction robots. The machine made a funny whirring noise and then out of its front a stunner or elecron-gun appeared. Simultaneously a scooping device came out near the bottom. Recognizing the sound of the powering up of an electron-gun, Samuel ran and jumped just as the gun fired. A high energy pulse of electrons, a laser, fired near where he had been, but just missed him. Running toward D1298, he yelled, “We've got our answer. Let's get out of here!”
Both of them ran until they needed to rest. They were not being pursued. They headed toward the village as quickly as they could, knowing it would take them several more hours to get there.
 





CHAPTER 56
X213 had been awoken in the night to the sounds of people screaming and electron-gun fire. She ran outside of their host's house and tripped over the body of an older woman. She had been seared through the midsection by an electro-gun blast. To her distant right she saw a large procession of robots with guns roaming through the village. They were shooting indiscriminately. They gave no demands, just killed anyone in their way. People ran in all directions, so she put on her shoes and ran away from where most of the robots were concentrated. Once she got outside of the village, she was safe from immediate gunfire, but the robots continued to pursue others. She needed a plan. She heard a sound behind her and she turned, seeing two men coming her way. It was Samuel, and another man whom she did not recognize. As they neared her, they saw what was going on in the village and both ran toward the gunfire.
She remained here where it was safer, hiding herself behind a large gray-green bush. Several minutes later others were crowded around the same bush. Among them was Samuel and the other man again. This time there was a little girl and a woman with them. Not far behind was Zach and some of his men. Even as they came out, another man hobbled out of the noise and dust preceded by four others. This group seemed to assemble around Samuel as he reached X213. “Are you alright?” he asked.
She nodded her head.
“So what's the plan, Captain?” said one of the men.
“Captain,” said another man, “there are robots all over this area. And it’s not just our village. Everywhere we look we see these robots searching us out. No place seems safe.”
“There is one place that's safe,” said Zach.
“Where?” said Samuel.
“Space,” Zach said.
“Be serious,” said Samuel.
“I mean it,” said Zach. “One of my men has been keeping tabs on new developments in another experimental division. He knows about an experimental ship made for space flight.”
“Can people survive in space?” said Samuel.
“Who knows?” said Zach. “But I think we are running out of options.”
“But how do we get there?” asked Samuel. “When D1298 and I arrived there were no robots here, now suddenly we are in danger out here with more robots coming this way from the city.”
“And we saw them manufacturing robots by the thousands,” said D1298. “Soon there will be no place that isn't crawling with them.” U1472 and his daughter, T-5529 stood beside him.
“What we need is fast transportation,” said Samuel.
A friendly looking, but large man stepped forward toward Samuel. “Well that is one area where I might be able to help.”
***
A few minutes later, on the outskirts of the village, in an area currently clear of robots, all of them assembled around a group of ostriches. “Where are the robots?” said Samuel.
“Where the most people are,” said Sydney. He turned to face the large, intimidating birds. “Okay, here's how this works. I have plenty of ostriches, so everyone can pick one out.” Everyone neared an ostrich. Next, Sydney came around and put a bag around the head of each one. It slid down the neck and gave a better place to sit for the riders. “Now, be careful of the wings as you mount. Since Zach's partner, Prometheus, knows where to go, he should head out first. We will not group together since these birds move fast and can be erratic. Get to the area and get off. I'll warn you again, these birds go like crazy. We have included a steering device by the back of the neck, so that, though they will be fast, at least they will go where you turn them. It will be dangerous, but it's better than being shot, don't you agree? When you get on, tuck your feet under and hold on as though your life depended on it. It does.”
“But what about the children?” said Jane. Lucy and Sam looked up at their mother with worried looks on their faces. “They can’t ride these,” she said, panic in her voice.
“That’s why we’ll come back for you,” said Samuel. “It’s the only way.”
“Then I will stay with them,” said D1298. He had put on a face of bravery, but Samuel could tell he was as scared as the others. Samuel looked at his daughter and his heart ached.
“Yes, we’ll come for you with the ship,” said Sydney. “Now let’s get going.”
Prometheus, a thin man with little muscle, got on. He took off like a rocket, roughly steering his way in the direction of the city. “Don't let him get out of sight,” said Sydney. “One go at a time so we don't collide with each other. I will bring up the rear and help those who get dismounted.”
Samuel took one last look at D1298, his ex-wife, and his daughter and then climbed up on the ostrich. He was off.
Odysseus kissed Jane. “I’ll stay with the kids,” she said.
“Then I’ll be right back.” He hoped he was telling the truth. He looked up toward the highest peak, Mount Tumuleiah, and saw no activity up there. “Go to the mountain,” he said.
“Yes,” she said. He got down on one knee and Lucy and Sam gave him a hug. “See you soon.” Hamlet gave his mom a hug and then got on his own beast.
Jane gave Odysseus one last quick kiss and said, “I love you.”
“I love you, too,” he said, trying to keep back his tears. He turned at once and mounted his ostrich and it took off. The transition from the sadness of saying bye to his family to trying to keep on this wild animal was like a slap in the face. The adrenaline rush was intense as scrub brush rushed by. He held on for his life. 
A couple more people got on ostriches a few seconds apart, running like crazy. X213 got on hers and she was afraid she was going to die. This creature was so fast and erratic she didn't know how she could hold on. But the fear of getting shot by robots gave her such determination that she stayed on, only falling once at the beginning. Sydney came by and helped her back up. “You'll be sore,” he said, “but you'll be alive.” Then she was off again. There was a moment when she crossed into a section of robots. They shot toward her a few times, but she quickly outdistanced them.
The ground skidded by at a tremendous rate of speed, but she had to admit, it was the most exciting thing she had ever done.
 





CHAPTER 57
Zosimus let his ostrich run away. It seemed the robots were only trained to seek out people and did not mind animals running loose. Many of the others had already arrived, but they were still waiting for a few who had difficulty steering their ostriches. Sydney was rounding them up now.
“How did you like that little ride of death?” asked Zosimus. 
“Well, at least I'll have something to tell my kids,” said Samuel. “That is, if I'll still be able to have kids after that ride.” He felt a surge of pain as he thought of his own daughter waiting for him.
Once off the ostriches, the birds ran away freely and Prometheus led them quickly to an old abandoned looking building. There was an old fashioned lock on the front. “Can someone open this?” said Prometheus.
Sydney opened up a pouch strapped to his chest and pulled out a small black object.
“An electric cutter?” said Prometheus. “I thought we didn’t use modern technology.”
“You want me to use it or not?” said Sydney.
“Go ahead,” said Prometheus. Sydney cut the lock off and they entered.
What they saw was some kind of underground bunker. A ladder led into the darkness. Prometheus pulled out a handlight. “At least here, the robots won’t be able to find us,” said Prometheus. “But we need to hurry for the sake of the kids.”
When the last of the group was assembled, Prometheus found a light switch. “Follow me.” He led them toward the back of the room where he opened up a door in the floor, leading to a set of metal stairs. “This is the back way,” he said. The whole group began to descend. On a lower floor, he turned on the lights again with a switch. This revealed another floor where desks with old-fashioned computers lay huddled together. Antique offices. They were abandoned and terribly outdated. At the end of the room was a door and another set of stairs. They took these going down for several floors. At the bottom they went through a door that led to an even larger room. They found some lights and turned them on revealing an underground hanger. In the middle lay a structure unlike anything any of them had ever seen. A tremendously large, gray disk. It stood on legs extending to the ground. “Hey,” said Zosimus, “this looks like all those UFO pics from past centuries.”
“Yup,” said Prometheus. “That's right. I noticed that as well. Weird, to say the least. It was an abandoned project from years ago. I discovered it just before they shut it down.”
“Does it work?” said Samuel.
“I think so,” said Prometheus. “It was not abandoned because of non-functionality. It was because of a change in direction from the government. The new Director of Operations decided that instead of expanding into space, they would focus on expanding the capacity of humans. He believed once humans were changed, then we could affect the universe much more. Projects like this were from a different administration.”
“Well, if we stay on this rock, we die,” said a community leader. “If we go into space though, we still don't know what our chances might be.”
“But let’s hurry,” said Sydney. 
“This is where it gets fuzzy,” said Prometheus. “I can get us inside. After that, however, I don't know.” He walked up to one part of the underside of the ship and touched a panel on the leg. From the bottom opened a sort of ramp. “Who wants to check it out?” he said. Samuel ran up the ramp, followed by Odysseus and Hamlet.
In a minute, external lights came up on the ship, dimmed and then turned back off. That was to be the only progress for an hour. When nothing else happened for a long time, Zosimus decided to go inside and see what was happening. It was dark, but a couple of people had the forethought to bring hand lights. Finally, Zosimus entered the ship. “Do you speak any other languages?” asked Prometheus the moment he entered.
“No, not me,” said Zosimus. 
“Well,” said Prometheus, “we have a panel here next to the controls that I hope tells us what these things do, but they are not in any language I know.”
“I have an idea who could help us,” said Zosimus.
A little later, “It looks like it’s related to ancient Greek!,” said Hamlet. Odysseus stood behind him. “I’ve been studying it lately.” He looked over the controls carefully.
“Only one problem now,” said Prometheus, “how to get it started.” 
“This should be the start switch,” said Hamlet. He flipped a switch. “But it doesn't seem to do anything.”
That was when they heard a sound outside. The last two people ran up the ramp. “This is bad. We have robots entering this floor. This time they have some kind of a silver guy with them.”
Samuel took a quick glance outside and saw a group of robots approaching. They had electron-guns. When they saw him, one of them fired at him and missed, hitting the ship. Suddenly the external and the internal lights came on and stayed on. “That was weird” said Prometheus. “But hey, at least we can see.” He turned off his handlight.
Another blast hit the side of the ship. Prometheus flipped the switch to start the ship, and it groaned as if it were a dying animal. 
“I've got it,” said Samuel. “We have no power, but the ship seems to absorb it from external sources. You notice how, when they shot at the ship, the lights came on? We need them to shoot at us more.”
“Are you nuts?” X213 said. She could feel the soreness from the fall in her legs now.
“Completely,” said Samuel with a smile. “Who's with me?”
“We are, Captain,” said a few men.
“So am I,” said Zosimus.
***
“Let’s draw straws to see who goes outside,” said Chavez, one of Samuel’s men. But before they could even get started, Samuel said, “My daughter’s out there,” and ran down the ramp.
A moment later, the men heard two shots and soon the lights brightened even more. But Samuel didn’t come back. Some more shots and he still didn’t return. A few seconds later there was a loud bolt that slammed into the ship, shaking it, and at the same moment Samuel dove up the ramp. One of his boots was smoking.
“What happened to you, captain,” said one of his men.
“The big silver ones,” he said, “pack quite a punch. Oh, yeah, and they’re quicker at hitting a target than the others.” Suddenly there was a rumbling sound.
Odysseus ran down the walkway, “Ignition,” he yelled. “Better hold onto something!”
“Close the ramp,” said some men in the back. Shots were still coming into the ship. Samuel's men tried to figure out the controls to close it as they saw the ground getting further away.
“You realize, of course,” said Samuel, “that there is no opening above us.”
“Yet,” said Prometheus.
After lifting off a hundred or so feet, one of Samuel's men figured out how to close the ramp. At that moment, Hamlet yelled back, “Hold on tight!”
The ship went straight up like a battering ram and, slamming into the roof, just kept on going. “Hey, how do we navigate this ship?” asked Odysseus. 
“Working on it,” yelled Hamlet who was looking worried and sweating as he studied the controls.
A screen lit up in front of them with a diagram of the ship next to a diagram of the land below and their relationship to it. There were letters or numbers in some unknown script, but the diagram was easy to follow. “At least no one needs to know the language to be able to interpret graphics,” said Prometheus.
A few other members of the ship sat around the control room, afraid to venture further into the ship at first. As they lifted higher off the planet, Hamlet found a way to change the display to a real-time image of the earth below. They could see an image of the thing they were escaping and it had been very busy. The city looked totally transformed. The buildings that people lived in before had been all torn down and the land covered in a gray metallic looking substance. New buildings had been erected for unknown purposes.
“Let’s get the kids,” said Samuel.
 





CHAPTER 58
They headed toward their village, and up toward the mountain. There were robots scurrying up the side, leaving a metallic looking path beneath them. Up at the top was a group of people who waved their arms in the air.
“There they are,” said Hamlet. “Now how do I land this thing?”
“Here,” said Odysseus. “What about this?” He pointed to a red button that had a picture of extended legs from the bottom of the ship.
“Sure,” said Hamlet. “Of course.” He pushed the button and heard a clunking noise. Then Hamlet said, “I can’t seem to control the ship anymore. It must be some kind of autopilot.”
“Then let’s see what happens,” said Odysseus. They saw the ground getting nearer and as they did, Odysseus saw Jane and their two kids just out in front of them. “I see them. Right there!” He ran toward the entrance.
When he got to the closed door, several people were already there, each of them looking anxious. One man with red hair pushed the button and the door, also serving as a ramp, opened. Before it had even touched the ground they felt a slight tremor, and the lights grew brighter for a second. “They’re shooting at us,” said Samuel, the first one in the open door.
Even before the ramp touched the earth, people were trying to climb aboard. D1298 handed up Samuel’s daughter. Samuel pulled her in and helped up D1298 and his ex-wife. Three more people who he didn’t know entered at the same time. “Thanks,” they said.
Then a whole group of people rushed onto the ship with such force that they shoved back those already in the ship. The men were swamped with a herd of bodies and the noise of grunts, shouts, and murmuring grew loud. As the door began to close, they heard more shots fired at the ship.
“We’ve got to get out of here,” said a woman with panic on her face. “The robots are here!”
At that moment they could feel the ship lift off. “T-5529!” yelled Samuel. “Where’s my daughter!”
“We are here,” said D1298. He saw a hand raised just beyond the first line of bodies. He pushed through. Suddenly he felt arms around his waist and as he looked down, and recognized his daughter, he felt more arms around him. He looked up to see his ex-wife and D1298. At first he was comforted, but then felt awkward. This was his ex-wife’s husband and his ex. He tried to pull away.
“We thought we were dead,” said his ex-wife, U1472. She was crying. It broke his heart and stirred new pain within. “Thank you.”
“Sure,” said Samuel. He pulled away and headed toward the front of the ship. Others followed.
Within a few minutes many were gathered at the command center where they flew the ship. Through something that looked like a window, thought they knew it couldn’t be that, they could see outside. They saw only the heartache of destruction and a scattering of bodies. Sydney and Poke kept a lookout for their house, eventually finding it. Nothing but mud and sticks and rock.
Leaving this depressing sight, they took the ship on a tour of the continent. There were some injured from electro-gun fire and they were taken into another room and cared for.
As they flew on, Hamlet and Odysseus saw more robotic assembly stations similar to those Samuel and D1298 had seen before. They had been built in each major city they encountered. Robots had killed many. They did not in any place see anyone alive. Blackened ruins, blackened bodies. Smoke, fire, death. 
X213 was at first silent through all this, but after seeing one family who had died together near their home, she began to sob. She did not cry like most adults, Samuel noticed, but more like a child. Seemingly unable to control her emotions, she was almost hysterical with her cries. 
Samuel approached her and put an arm around her and she cried into his shoulder. He felt helpless, realizing she must have had a lot of emotion locked up that was just now coming out. After a few minutes, she looked up at him for the first time, and realizing the awkwardness of the situation, said, “Thanks,” and then “Excuse me,” as she walked off toward some of the ladies who talked quietly among themselves and joined in. Samuel felt a slight lift of his spirits.
When they had reached the end of the continent, they headed off across the ocean, picking up speed as they went. They covered parts of each land mass with the results being the same. All populated areas were destroyed or taken over by the man/machine. There was no place where the monster had not been. “I can't believe a civilization that was around for so long could be destroyed in just a few days,” said Zach.
“It is almost incomprehensible,” said Dr. Chin. And then he told the story of what happened and what their intention was. He seemed to be in a state of shock. As though he was there, but not there. He stared at a wall of the ship and spoke with a distant voice, not as though he had seen a ghost, but as though he had become one. When he got to the part about having to flee and seeing some people carried off to be absorbed by what he called, “The Experiment,” he had a single tear in one eye. Other than that he did not show emotion at all. Later X213 would say that it was one of the most disturbing things she had ever seen. His face, with no emotion, telling of death and screams, and an ideal that they had all worked for. And that he was one of the best, trying to achieve immortality through his achievement. The whole time staring at some place on the wall talking with a faint weakness in his voice.
Having circled most of the globe they met in conference. Everyone involved was able to fit into a fairly large room that might have been a gym, with machines no one could figure out. Each person sat in a clear spot in the middle of the floor. Those odd machines were placed around the circular room. Samuel spoke first. “Now we need to start making decisions. Thankfully, we are alive, but we might be the only ones. Now here's how things stand. Prometheus and Hamlet are doing great at navigation. They are both at the controls now, so they can't join us, but I talked with them just a few minutes ago. We are told now that this ship has capabilities beyond what we at first realized. It appears that it is space capable, so if we want to leave the planet, we can.”
“I have asked X213 and Poke to check out the ship for food, water and other supplies. They will be reporting to us soon. The ship is large, so if we do decide to make it our home for a while we could probably do that. We seem to be able to manufacture oxygen somehow on the ship, so that doesn't seem to be an issue. We will have to wait and see on the water and food though.”
As he was still speaking, X213 entered the room. “Captain, I mean Samuel, we have found supplies of seeds, bulbs, and a large garden area. It looks like the idea was that they could grow whatever they needed. Poke is already planting now. It seems she is pretty excited about it. And as for water, we found a set of enormous tanks that should set us up for months if not years. It's hard to guess at this point.”
“Great, X213,” said Samuel. “Thanks for checking that out for us. Poke always loved gardening, so she has found a home away from home. Have her train you on the basics so you can help her out, if that would be agreeable to you.”
She smiled. “It would,” she said, “And by the way…”
“Yes, X213?”
“Susan,” she said.
“What?” asked Samuel.
“My name,” she said. “It’s Susan.”
Samuel smiled at her and looked deeply into her dark brown eyes. “Thank you, Susan.”
She smiled back.
***
Turning toward the rest of those assembled, Samuel made an announcement. “So here is the deal. We can stay in the sky as long as we want, but then we risk an attack from the sky at some point. The progress of the “Experiment,” as Dr. Chin calls it, is tremendous. We should not assume that it will not attack with aerial technology at some point if we stay within range for it. But if we are to leave the planet, where would we go?”
“Mars,” said A116. “Then we can really see if there are canals there and little green men.” He smiled a boyish, mischievous smile.
“Or how about Jupiter,” said Sydney.
“That would crush us like bugs,” said A116. “The gravity is too much for us.”
“Why do we need to be in the Solar System at all,” said H1549. “I want to explore.”
“So do I,” said D1298. “I'd love to see what's beyond. Unimaginable things, I suppose.” He had a far off look in his eye. “Maybe we will find whole other civilizations.”
“Or maybe we will search the universe and find ourselves alone and without supplies to replenish anything we might run out of and no one that cares,” said Dr. Chin.
“That's a morbid thought,” said Sydney. “Well, even before make that decision, how about making official what we seem to have instinctively done already, by making Samuel the captain of this ship. Every ship has to have one. Raise your hand if you would like Samuel here to lead us.” They all raised their hands except for A116 who was trying to figure out the machines against the circular walls now.
“Great,” said Sydney. “Now let's figure out a destination.”
 





CHAPTER 59
They debated possible destinations for an hour or so when they finally decided on taking a tour of the Solar System and then go beyond unless they felt like settling down somewhere first. It was a loose plan, but one they could agree on. It was amazing to Samuel how many of them adjusted quickly to the idea of living on a ship when life had been so different only hours before.
After the meeting, Samuel went to the Command Center to find out how things were going and to give the new destination. Along with him, Samuel brought along D1298 so that he could bounce some thoughts off of him. Having spent a couple of days with him on their mission, he had begun to value his opinion and he thought him a man who was wiser than he let on. “D1298, I have been wondering something and wanted to see what you might make of it.”
“Alright,” he said, “shoot.”
“It has to do with our escape from the planet. A116 told me earlier that they have had air combat missiles for some time now and that the Experiment should have had full control of them. They were hooked up to the grid, unlike this ship, and they were not difficult to operate.” They looked at the screen that showed the retreating image of Earth.
He continued, “If that is the case, why were we allowed to not only escape the atmosphere, but to circle much of the planet, even over major cities, which I'm told would have had these missiles, and then finally to leave unharmed?”
“Hmm,” said D1298. “Curiouser and curiouser.”
“A line from Alice's Adventures in Wonderland,” said Samuel. “How did you know that quote? It would not be a normal part of your education in the city?”
“Lucy, you know, Odysseus' daughter, was reading portions of it to me the night before we went out.”
“So what are your thoughts?” Samuel posed again.
“I think this: that if the Experiment had full capability to shoot us down, then either he was preoccupied at the time with something more important, or we were let go on purpose.”
“I thought about the second one, but the first had not occurred to me,” said Samuel. “Preoccupied or let go, hmmm? If we were let go, then why?”
“Good question,” said D1298. “I don't know the answer. And now, we may never find out.”
***
That night they had their first dinner together. Everyone assembled in a room that looked like it might have been designed for it. There were sinks to wash up and long tables placed end to end to make a large dining area. There was another taller table that was perfect for placing food items for people to serve themselves. 
The first night they used food that had been found in storage areas near the garden. These foods were odd beyond understanding. There were tubular purple vegetables what were rubbery, but filled with a blue liquid at the center. They were pleasant to the taste, but the texture was so odd that only a few could finish what they took. Another food looked so much like soil that they joked about it at first. After trying it, however, it ended up being one of the most appetizing options available. It was much like beef with potatoes, but again, the texture was much different: dry and rough. Most stayed with this for the meal and then joked with each other saying, “Here, have another helping of dirt!”
One question that A116 brought up during the meal was the question of gravity. “How is it that we don't float away?” he asked.
No one had an answer to that. Even Hamlet and Prometheus didn't have a clue and they were in awe of the capabilities of the ship.
“But didn't our own people make this ship?” said Odysseus. 
“No,” said Prometheus. “You might not have figured it out, because you are not trying to navigate, but the instructions in the Command Center are all in some language that Hamlet here says is a lot like ancient Greek. No, I don't think we made it, nor could we ever.”
***
As dinner was being taken away, an old man entered the room. Zosimus was just clearing his table when the old man approached him. “Do you think you might trouble an old man for a little of that food?”
“Methuselah!” said Zosimus. “I thought you were dead.”
“That makes two of us,” he replied. “And that was what I expected, but I climbed that mountain to gaze on the beauty of the world before the robots came for me. I did not expect you to land your ship there, but I am not disappointed. I guess the master has me here for a little longer.
Zosimus gave the old man a hug, and Methuselah shed a few tears before sitting down to eat. They chatted quietly for a few minutes and both of them talked about the future that might be. 





CHAPTER 60
That evening, or so they decided they would call it according to the time, Prometheus sent an emergency message to Hamlet. The two had agreed that someone should be in the Command Center at all times, even though once the programming was entered, there would probably be little oversight needed for the ship to do its job. 
Hamlet was sleeping in a room assigned to him. He no longer would sleep with his family. He was old enough to be on his own, his parents said, and because of his new responsibilities he would need to be disturbed at odd hours. An inconvenience his family did not want to enter into. Prometheus came in his room without knocking. “Hamlet, you've got to help me.”
A few minutes later the men, having both witnessed the same thing, ran to Samuel's room, who was also sleeping.
“Captain!” They were both panting. “The ship,” said Prometheus. “We've lost control. We can't steer it, or stop it or anything else. It’s being directed somewhere else!”
Samuel was still groggy, but muttered, “Is it headed back to Earth? Has the Experiment the power to bring us back, to finish us off?”
“No Captain,” said Hamlet, “We are being taken in some other direction. It is no known planet and it is certainly not in our solar system. It's completely unknown.”
“Ah,” said Samuel, “Then, as you say, there is nothing we can do about it, right?”
“That's right, Captain,” said Prometheus.
“And will it take quite a while to get there at the present speed?” said Samuel.
Prometheus said, “Well, I think so, but. . .”
“Then, I think I would rather not disturb the rest of the ship,” said Samuel. “I'm sure you are both tired as well. Why don't we get some sleep and let tomorrow worry about itself. Each day has enough trouble of its own.”
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